# SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION Bureau of American Ethnology Bulletin 191

Anthropological Papers, No. 69
THE LANGUAGE OF SANTA ANA PUEBLO
By IRVINE DAVIS



# CONTENTS

	PAGE
Preface	57
Phonology	59
Syllable structure	59
Word structure	64
Rhythm groups	65
Morphophonemics	66
Vowel reduction	66
Voicing	70
Miscellaneous processes	72
Morphology	73
Units of analysis	73
Word classes	74
Verbs	75
Verb inflection	75
Grammatical categories	75
Inflectional affixes	78
Distribution of affixes	87
Verb stems	94
	94
Stem formation	
Stem variants	99
Verb core derivation	103
Verb classes	105
Transitive verbs	105
Intransitive verbs	110
Verbal auxiliaries	114
Uninflected words	118
Clitics	123
	124
Syntax	
Definition of syntactic units	124
Major function slots and their fillers	125
Predicate slot	126
Auxiliary slot	128
Subject slot	128
Object slot	130
Directional-locational slot	132
Time slot	133
	134
Modifier slot	
Interrogative-modal slot	134
Connective slot	134
Sequential ordering of function slots	135
Predicate clauses	135
Non-predicate clauses	138
Independent versus dependent clauses	139
Supraclause structure	139
Fromment uttereness	139
Fragment utterances	
Complex sentences	140
Quotations	141

	PAGE
Appendix 1. Verb paradigms	143
Transitive verb primary paradigms	143
Transitive verb secondary paradigms	145
Intransitive verb paradigms	146
Appendix 2. Text	155
Explanation of numbers in text	163
Appendix 3. Vocabulary	165
Uninflected words	165
Verbs	169
Affixes and clitics	176
Loanwords	180
Index to vocabulary	182
Literature cited	190

#### PREFACE

Data for this monograph were collected at intervals from 1954 through 1961 under the auspices of the Summer Institute of Linguistics. Much of the phonological material first appeared in my master's thesis and the grammatical material in my doctor's dissertation, both prepared at the University of New Mexico (1958 and 1960) under the supervision of Stanley S. Newman. Sincere thanks are due the latter for his understanding guidance and for the many hours of consultation spared from his busy schedule.

Many features of the language as recorded in this paper are shared with the other Keresan dialects, among which Santa Ana is rather centrally located both geographically and linguistically. While much remains to be done in adequately describing Keresan linguistic structure, it is hoped that this analysis will be found worthy of a place among the contributions to our knowledge of a heretofore little-known language. The analysis almost can be said to be that of an idiolect rather than a dialect. It is based largely on data obtained from one informant, a middle-aged man whose mother tongue is that of the Santa Ana Pueblo. I am deeply indebted to him for the endless hours which he spent in patiently supplying the material without which this work would have been impossible.



# THE LANGUAGE OF SANTA ANA PUEBLO

## By IRVINE DAVIS

#### PHONOLOGY

#### SYLLABLE STRUCTURE

Santa Ana Keresan utterances normally may be segmented exhaustively into recurrent structural units, or syllables, of the shape CV. The syllable margin, C, is composed of a simple consonant or a phonetically complex consonantal segment. The nucleus, V, consists of a vowel or vocalic sequence, with or without terminal glottal closure. A few loanwords and a word of possible onomatopoetic origin contain syllables which are closed by a nasal:

nárán orange (Spanish naranja) <sup>9</sup>úyáumbúmci drum

Syllables closed by consonants other than a glottal stop, however, are considered as an aberrant pattern.

Excluding sounds introduced by loanwords, there are 48 contrastive syllable margins: <sup>1</sup>

b	d		d <b>y</b> č <b>č</b> sd <b>y</b>	g
p	t		č	k
$\overset{ ext{p}}{\dot{ ext{p}}}$	t <b>ť</b>		č	g k <b>k</b>
sb	$\operatorname{sd}$		$\mathrm{sd}^{\mathbf{y}}$	sg
$_{\mathrm{sp}}$	st		sč	sk
$s\dot{p}$	$_{\mathbf{st}}^{\mathbf{t}}$		sč sč	sk sk
	z	Ż		
	е	ċ		
	ċ	Ġ		
	S	ន្	<b>š</b> š	
	<b>s</b> \$	<b>ន្</b>	š	
m	n			
ı'n	'n			
	r			
	r ř			
w			у	h ?
ŵ			y ÿ	

 $<sup>^{1}\,\</sup>mathrm{The}\,\mathrm{symbols}$  herein used conform to the orthography developed by Wick R. Miller (1959 a, 1959 b, and 1960).

The stops include a voiceless unaspirated series, b, d, and g; a voiceless aspirated series, p, t, and k; and a glottalized series, p, t, and k, at bilabial, alveolar, and velar points of articulation:

bî∙şυ	bee
pî·ta	step on it
p̂î∙t≀A	let him step on it
dí kupawa	maybe he chopped
ti kupawane	maybe we chopped
tí kupawa	maybe I chopped
gâ∙ṁA	his house
kâ∙ni	let me walk
kâ∙ni	he walked

The alveopalatals, d<sup>y</sup>, č, and č, require special comment. These are grouped with the stops for the sake of symmetry and because there is evidence for their historic development from a set of stops parallel to the bilabial, alveolar, and velar sets. The voiceless alveopalatal stop, d<sup>y</sup>, is unaspirated preceding a voiced vowel and aspirated preceding a voiceless vowel:

```
číd<sup>y</sup>a I caught him sí·d<sup>y</sup>a squirrel
```

The voiceless alveopalatal affricates, č and č, are aspirated and glottalized respectively:

```
čúgúya maybe he sat čúgúya sit
```

The Keresan dialects at the present are in various stages of transition to a structure which includes both a set of alveopalatal stops and a set of affricates at the same point of articulation. Acoma, for instance, has a few occurrences of glottalized alveopalatal stops which contrast with the unglottalized phoneme. It also has unaspirated alveopalatal affricates occurring in loanwords. The Santa Ana dialect has unaspirated affricates in loanwords but has not developed aspirated or glottalized alveopalatal stops as distinct phonemes.

Each of the above stops and affricates may occur in a sibilant cluster:

sbíga	woodpecker	sčâu?u	$a\ crowd$
sdú∙cı	bowl-shaped	skú∙ná	blackbird
sdyìudi?	I (didn't) give it to him	ŵìsṗı	cigarette
sgâ·wašī	rat	sté∙cı	straight
spérá·ná	plate	sčísa	six
stú∙ná	autumn	skàšı	fish

There are voiceless unaspirated affricates, z and z; voiceless aspirated affricates, c and c; and voiceless glottalized affricates, c and c, at alveolar and retroflexed points of articulation:

zàdya	desert	zàku	let him bite you
càcı	breath	çàku	maybe you bit him
ċàku	it bit him	ċàku	maybe I bit you

There is a series of voiceless sibilants, s, s and š, and of glottalized sibilants, s, s and s at alveolar, retroflexed and alveopalatal points of articulation respectively:

sa back śa mine şa scattered śa you are mine šaska roadrunner há-šuwimi shoe

The plain sonorants, m, n, r, w, and y, and the glottalized sonorants, m, n, r, w, and y, are normally voiced but occur as voiceless variants when flanked by voiceless vowels:

kúčayawa he is angry sgúhima I believe

In their occurrence between a voiced and a voiceless vowel they may be voiceless, partly voiced, or fully voiced, depending on factors such as the rate of speech:

díya dog cína turkey gâ·ma his house

Unlike other glottalized consonants, which are produced with the glottis closed, glottalized sonorants are initiated with a momentary glottal closure and release.

The nasals are produced at bilabial and at alveolar or alveopalatal points of articulation. The alveopalatal variant occurs preceding a front vowel, while the alveolar form occurs elsewhere:

The phonemes r and r are alveolar flaps, while w, w, y and y are nonsyllabic vocoids:

ráwá· good sčířá crow wá·wá medicine wá·yuṣa duck yá<sup>9</sup>ái sand yauni stone

The "glottal fricative," h, and the glottal stop, ?, complete the inventory of native consonants:

há bí feather ?á?á táwi key

Sounds introduced through loanwords include the voiceless unaspirated alveopalatal affricate, ž; the voiced stops, B, D and G; and the voiced alveolar lateral, l:

ží·ri chili Bendá·na window (Spanish ventana) ?amá·Du pillow (Spanish almohada) Gayê·tA biscuit (Spanish galleta) lé·Ba coat (Spanish leva)

Phonemic sequences introduced by loanwords include stops plus r or l and nasals plus homorganic stops:

blâ·sa city (Spanish plaza) sandiyâ·ku St. James (Spanish Santiago) Vowels are produced at five contrastive tongue positions and may be either voiced or voiceless:

High front unrounded, i and 1.

Mid to low front, e and E.

Low central, a and A.

High central to back unrounded, a and I.

Mid to high back rounded, u and v.

Examples of the five voiced vowels in initial syllables are as follows:

si again séwi my neck sa back séna middle súwá vesterdav

Voiced and voiceless vowels are in nearly complementary distribution. Relevant conditioning factors include the position of the vowel within larger phonological units, the pattern of suprasegmental features, and the nature of contiguous consonants. Word-final vowels, for instance, are normally voiceless if they are short, unaccented, and not preceded by an unglottalized sonorant which is in turn preceded by a long accented or by an unaccented vowel:

cína turkey cía $\cdot$ pi fly tâ $\cdot$ ma five gùpi forehead

Compare:

šína louse gášé white dyâna four gánami beans

There are, however, a number of words containing voiced vowels in environments in which voiceless vowels normally occur. It is because of these occurrences that phonemic significance must be ascribed to voicing versus voicelessness in vowels:

gùdi give it to me mína salt sbíga woodpecker kásdi his foot

Examples of the five voiceless vowels in final and in medial positions are as follows:

néti prairie doa káucigái maybesupe I ate zíyùceya he carried it ?úwàka baby yáwastí stickkú·ka hácaskáwa winter willow vúku awauzíkusdyáwi bridge

Vowels occur singly or in clusters of two. The following vowel sequences have been recorded:

The nucleus of a syllable consists of one of the single vowels or vowel clusters, with or without terminal glottal closure. The nucleus is also the domain of certain suprasegmental features yet to be described. Terminal glottal closure is written as a segmental feature only in unstressed syllables:

náza? will say

sí·ba?tv I slept

Contrastive suprasegmental features include accent and vowel length. There are four kinds of accent: level, indicated by an acute accent; falling, indicated by a circumflex accent; breathy, indicated by a grave accent; and glottal, indicated by an apostrophe over the vowel. Unaccented vowels are not marked. Level accented vowels are stressed and normally have a high level pitch:

káct ten

záwini old

There is a tendency for a slight upglide in pitch on long vowels or vowel clusters with level accent:

ká-ci antelope

háubá· everyone

The pitch on level accented vowels is conditioned to some degree by the position in the word and by the nature of the preceding consonant. A vowel preceded by a plain sonorant, for instance, often has a higher relative pitch than a vowel in a comparable position but preceded by one of the other consonants. The two vowels of čámá tomorrow normally have approximately the same pitch, while there is a pronounced drop in pitch on the second syllable of gášé white.

Falling accent occurs only on long vowels or vowel clusters and is characterized by a downglide in pitch together with diminishing stress:

dâ·ni pumpkin

yauni stone

másâ·ni leaf

Vowels or vowel clusters with breathy accent begin with voicing and terminate in voicelessness. The initial voiced segment is short and stressed, and has a relatively high pitch:

càci breath

màidyana seven

Single short accented vowels or accented vowel clusters which are terminated by glottal closure are written with the glottal accent:

gåku he is located

saubénaca I sewed

A voiceless echo vowel may follow the release of the glottal stop, although this is not a consistent feature. The reasons for treating glottal accent as a phenomenon distinct from the glottal closure in unstressed syllables derive largely from comparative considerations.

Vowel length always occurs with falling accented vowels and may occur with level accented or with unaccented vowels:

pâ∙ni *baa* 

čí·ná river

háwe. snow

A slight downglide in pitch tends to occur on final long unaccented vowels.

Potential combinations of the 48 syllable margins with the various types of nuclei number several thousand. Only a fraction of these, however, actually occur in the data. The lack of some combinations may be attributed to incomplete data or to the extremely low probability of certain rare types of nuclei following the less common margins. The absence of other kinds of combinations is apparently a relevant feature of the phonological structure. The more important of these are as follows:

- 1. A bilabial semivowel, w or w, is never followed by the back rounded vowel, u.
- 2. An alveopalatal semivowel, y or y, is never followed by the high front vowel, i.
- 3. A retroflexed consonant, ç, ç, z, z, s, or s, is never followed by a front vowel, i or e.
- 4. An alveopalatal affricate or fricative, č, č, š, or š, is never followed by the high central unrounded vowel, ə.
- 5. The voiceless unaspirated stops and affricates, b, d, g, z, and z are never followed by a voiceless vowel.

#### WORD STRUCTURE

The definition of a word is treated in a later section. Here the general phonological structure of words is described.

Words may be composed of a single syllable, za no, but are more often dissyllabic or polysyllabic. Words of up to nine syllables have been recorded: sgú-wàkačaniguyase-te we are (not) looking at them.

With few exceptions, each of the 48 margins may occur in any syllable of the word. The margins sč, ¢ and ś show evidence of special development and occur only word-initially as verb prefixes. Although h is very common initially, its extremely low frequency of occurrence in medial position is significant. In the present data it occurs in this position only in gúháya bear and in verbs based on the cores, -hima to believe and -hé?é·záni to permit.

Each of the single voiced vowels may occur in any syllable of the word, while the voiceless vowels may occur in any except the initial syllable. Of the vowel clusters, iu is found almost exclusively in the initial syllable of verbs where it is divided by a morpheme boundary. The distribution of eu is similar, although the particle 'eu is of very frequent occurrence. The sequences ai, au, and ui are found in all positions in the word, while the remaining clusters occur so infrequently that generalizations are impossible.

Level accented syllables, both short and long, are found in all positions in the word. The glottal accent may occur on any syllable, but only rarely on other than the first. Falling and breathy accents may occur on an initial or medial, but never a final, syllable. Although any syllable of the word may be unaccented, the initial syllable is accented in an overwhelming majority of the words.

Word patterns based on the number of syllables and the arrangement of suprasegmental features are extremely varied. The more commonly occurring patterns found among dissyllabic and trisyllabic words are indicated below:

CÝCV	núya	night
CÝCÝ	gášé	white
CÝ⋅CV	stá-ci	straight
CÝ⋅CÝ	sbí·ná	chicken
CŶ⋅CV		
	dâ∙ni	pumpkin
CŸCV	dėku	they went
CVCV	cèci	wall
CÝCVCV	sínani	flesh
CÝCÝCV	?áşán <b>ı</b>	wheat
CÝCÝCÝ	dámáyá	Santa Ana Pueblo
CÝ CÝ·CÝ	skúrú∙ná	peas
CÝCŶ∙CV	híyâ∙ni	road
CÝCÝCV	?úwàka	baby
CÝ-CVCV	nú∙bəda	alone
CÝ-CÝCV	ỷá∙číni	corn
CÝ·CÝ·CV	²ú·mú·cī	gun
CÝ-CÝ CÝ	dí∙skámá	cornhusk
CŶ∙CVCV	wâ·yuşa	duck
CŸCVCV	màid <sup>y</sup> ana	seven

#### RHYTHM GROUPS

A rhythm group is a segment of speech which is marked off by pauses and/or which is characterized by the presence of one syllable of extra intensive stress. This unit may consist of an isolated monosyllabic word, such as yu. I don't know, but ordinarily embraces a sequence of many syllables. In normal speech (i.e., in which there are no hesitation pauses) the boundaries of a rhythm group fall at word boundaries, although every word boundary is not a rhythm group boundary. The number of words included in a rhythm group depends on the grammatical content of the particular utterance and on the style of speech. A free flowing conversational style is characterized by rhythm groups that include relatively long segments of speech. Such extensive groups are consequently few in number in relation to those in a comparable utterance delivered in a more vigorous or in a more hesitating style of speech. In rapid speech the pauses tend to be few in number and the onset of a new rhythm group may be signaled only by a rise in intensity and pitch on an accented syllable. syllable is most often the initial syllable of the rhythm group.

Rhythm groups are normally characterized by a gradual falling off of the general pitch level and intensity following the syllable which receives the greatest stress. The extent of this falling off depends on the length of the rhythm group. Toward the end of a very long rhythm group the speech may fade into a whisper in which normally voiced phonemes are unvoiced.

In contrast to normal rhythm groups, an utterance may sometimes show no diminishing of pitch on successive accented syllables. This is true of certain types of questions or other utterances for which a response is anticipated:

mə háwé şu ?úməmə Listen here, grandchild . . .

Hortatory utterances often are characterized by a gradual diminishing of the pitch level as in a normal rhythm group until the final syllable is reached. The final syllable is then given an extra emphasis that involves the rearticulation of a normally voiced vowel or the voicing of a normally voiceless vowel together with added intensity and pitch:

háwé. ?í.ma?á Come here! dísí ba čúyû.kamí Wait for me here!

Compare the same utterances without the hortatory emphasis:

háwé ?í ma dísí ba čúyû kamı

## MORPHOPHONEMICS

The morphophonemic rules outlined below consist of a series of statements which simplify the morphological description to follow. Included for consideration are a number of changes in stems and in affixual morphemes which are somewhat regular and which can be explained on the basis of the phonological environment. Two processes, vowel reduction and the voicing or unvoicing of vowels, are rather extensive in their operation and are described in the following two sections respectively. "Miscellaneous Processes" deals with a number of phenomena of more restricted occurrence.

Excluded for consideration here are numerous cases of phonologically similar forms (e.g., the second person subject markers s- and š-) which at an earlier stage in the language may have been in mutually exclusive distribution in terms of their phonological environment. In a synchronic description of the present Santa Ana dialect, however, they are most conveniently treated as allomorphs, the distribution of which is defined morphologically rather than phonologically.

#### VOWEL REDUCTION

Changes in the vowel or vowels immediately following the pronominal affix in verbs may often be explained in terms of vowel reduction. This involves a fusing of the thematic adjunct with a preceding voice prefix or with the vowel of a preceding pronominal affix. Vowel reduction normally follows the patterns outlined below.

1. Two contiguous identical vowels reduce to a single vowel of the same quality. This reduction takes place, for instance, when a pronominal prefix of the shape CV- precedes a stem having an initial vowel of the same quality as that of the prefix:

```
šàku (ša- + -àku) I bit you
```

## Compare:

```
šáuni (ša- + -úni) I know you
```

Apparent shifts in accent in the above and other examples arise from orthographic conventions. Accent is indicated only on the first vowel of a cluster, although it is the entire cluster that is accented. This, together with the fact that accent is not indicated on prefixes of the shape CV- (the prefix vowel assumes the accent of the following thematic adjunct), results in a shift of the written accent to the prefix vowel. Vowel reduction of the above type also occurs when the reflexive prefix -a- or the passive prefix -â?a- precedes a verb stem beginning with -a-:

```
$\delta\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa
```

## Compare:

```
şàukača (ṣ- + -a- + -ùkača) you saw yourself
šá²àudi²ta (ṣ- + -á²a- + -ùdi²ta) it was given to you
```

2. No vowels or vowel clusters of more than two moras' length occur. A reduction from three to two moras of length takes place when a short and long vowel are juxtaposed:

```
čí·zúwa (či- + -í·zúwa) I paid him
čúizúwa (ču- + -í·zúwa) you paid me
```

3. The vowel -u- followed immediately by -a- reduces to the single vowel -a-. This occurs when the pronominal prefix ends with -u- and the verb stem begins with -a-:

```
čàku (ču- + -àku) you bit me
kàku (ku- + -àku) bite me
skàku (sku- + -àku) he bit me
```

# Compare:

```
čúizúwa (ču- + -í·zúwa) you paid me
kúizúwa (ku- + -í·zúwa) pay me
skúizúwa (sku- + -í·zúwa) he paid me
```

4. The vowel -i- immediately followed by -a- reduces to the single vowel -e-. This takes place when a pronominal prefix ending with -i- precedes a verb stem beginning with -a-:

```
sèku (si- + -àku) I bit him
tèku (ti- + -àku) maybe I bit him
pèku (pi- + -àku) let him bite him
```

# Compare:

```
síukàica (si- + -ú kàica) I hit him
tíukàica (ti- + -ú kàica) maybe I hit him
píukàica (pi- + -ú kàica) let him hit him
```

5. The vowel -i- immediately followed by -ə- reduces to the single vowel -i-. This takes place when certain stems beginning with -ə- are preceded by a prefix containing -i-:

```
sìska (si- + -òska) I drank
sí tá (si- + -ó tá) I am full
```

# Compare:

```
gðska (g- + -ðska) he drank
gó tá (g- + -ó tá) it is full
```

6. The vowel -a- followed immediately by -a- reduces to the sequence -ai-. This change occurs in the first person hortative form of some verbs having stems which begin with -a-:

## Compare:

```
káiba?tu (ka- + -í·ba?tu) let me sleep
```

7. The vowels -a- and -u- followed immediately by a short level accented -í- reduce to -á- and -ú- respectively:

```
    śásti (ṣa- + -ísti)
    dyústi (dyu- + -ísti)
    you gave me a liquid
```

# Compare:

```
zísti (zi- + -ísti) he gave him a liquid
```

A vowel cluster results, however, if the -i- is characterized by any other type of accent.

```
şáizúwa (şa- + -f·zúwa) I paid you
čúita (ču- + -f·ta) you stepped on me
čúiṣaça (ču- + -1ṣaça) you named me
```

The patterns of vowel reduction outlined above avoid the following vowel sequences: -ua-, -ia-, -ia-, -a- and double vowels. With the exception of a single recorded example of -ua-, these vowel clusters do not occur in Santa Ana Keresan. Other nonoccurring sequences, -ie-, -ae-, -ea-, -ea-, -ae-, -a-, -au-, -ue- and -ua-, involve vowels which are never brought into juxtaposition in morphological constructions.

In addition to the vowel reduction already described there are certain patterns of reduction which involve semivowels. A steminitial -uw- (in which the -u- is short) reduces to -w- when preceded by a prefix of the shape CV-:

```
zíwa·sa (zi- + -úwa·sa) he is sick
```

## Compare:

Under similar conditions -iy- reduces to -y-. This reduction, however, may be alternatively explained as an example of the pattern u + i > u previously described.

skúyanikuya (sku- + -íyanikuya) he told me

# Compare:

In stems of four or more syllables, an initial -uwi- (but not -uwi- or -uwi-) reduces to -ui- when preceded by a prefix of the shape C-:

The reduction of -uw- to -w- as described above occurs in the same stem when the prefix is of the shape CV-:

Vowel reduction similar to the patterns already described sometimes operates across an intervening glottal stop. The following types of reduction have been recorded:

1. -i- plus -a?a- reduces to -e?e-:

# Compare:

2. -i?- plus -a?a- reduces to -é.?e-:

# Compare:

šá?
$$\hat{a}$$
-ša (š- + -á? $\hat{a}$ -ša) you closed it

3. -i?- plus a short -i- or -ə- with level or breathy accent reduces to -i- when followed by a voiceless consonant:

# Compare:

Under similar conditions -i?- plus -a- reduces to -è- and -i?- plus -u-reduces to -iu-:

pėzė (pí?- + -ázė) let him be talkative piukái (pi?- + -úkái) let him be satisfied

# Compare:

If the following consonant is a sonorant, -i?- plus -a- becomes -e?e-, -i?- plus -u- becomes -iŷu-, and no change is involved if the second vowel is -i-:

```
pé<sup>9</sup>éyaka (pí<sup>9</sup>- + -áyaka) let him burn it
píỷúyá (pí<sup>9</sup>- + -úyá) let him skin it
pí<sup>9</sup>ínàta (pí<sup>9</sup>- + -ínàta) let him buy it
```

# Compare:

```
záyaka (z- + -áyaka) he burned it
gúyá (g- + -úyá) he skinned it
zínàta (z- + -ínàta) he bought it
```

Changes in the vowel following the pronominal suffix of Type B intransitive verbs are only partly explained in terms of the regular patterns of vowel reduction. The shift to -e or -E in the first person forms of verbs normally taking -a or -A follows the regular pattern of reduction in which -i- plus -a- becomes -e-:

```
\% \cdot \text{sé} (\% \cdot - + -\text{si} - + -\text{s}) my name \% \cdot \text{se} (\% \cdot - + -\text{si} - + -\text{s}) I breathed
```

## Compare:

```
?é·gá his name
cá·kA he breathed
```

The shift to -e or -E in the first person forms of verbs normally occurring with -u or -u, however, does not result from any regular pattern of reduction:

```
zùse I went
zùku he went
```

#### VOICING

Voiceless vowels occurring in the final syllable (and sometimes those occurring in the penultimate syllable) of a word become voiced under certain conditions of suffixation. A word-final voiceless vowel becomes voiced if it is followed by a suffix containing a voiced vowel:

```
d<sup>y</sup>ùkačanikuya (d<sup>y</sup>ùkača+-nikuya) you are looking at me
dá<sup>9</sup>áċinu· (dá<sup>9</sup>áċi+-nu·) when he arrived
```

# Compare:

```
dyùkača you saw me
dá?áči he arrived
```

Suffixes consisting of a glottalized sonorant followed by a voiceless vowel have a similar effect on a preceding vowel:

```
gàgune (gàku+-ne) they bit him
čúčane (čúča+-ne) maybe they two fell
```

## Compare:

```
gàku he bit him
čúča maybe he fell
```

A voiceless vowel cluster becomes voiced when followed by any suffix:

Compare:

skùikai I lay down

Vowel clusters resulting from the suffixation of -kuya (see "Miscellaneous Processes") are likewise voiced:

Compare:

supe I ate

Certain final voiceless vowels become voiced and long when followed by any suffix:

Compare:

şáudyúmiše (şáudyúmi+plural suffix, -še) we remember you

It cannot be predicted from the phonological environment whether or not a voiceless vowel undergoes this change (see "Stem variants"). The fact is indicated in the listing of forms by the vowel length symbol in parentheses:

 $-še(\cdot)$  plural suffix

A sequence (vowel + unglottalized semivowel + vowel) in which neither vowel is accented, behaves as a single unit with respect to voicing; it is either completely voiceless or completely voiced. A voiceless sequence of this type becomes voiced when followed by any suffix:

şàtıguyasa (şàtıkuya+-sa) you are crying

Compare:

satikuya you cried

Of much less frequent occurrence than the above processes is the unvoicing of a stem-final vowel. This occurs when a completely voiceless suffix follows a stem which normally terminates in an unaccented voiced vowel preceded by a voiceless consonant:

šáutisa (šáudi+-sa) I am planting

Compare:

šáudi I planted

The alternation between aspirated and unaspirated consonants seen in some of the examples cited in this section is closely linked to the voicing and unvoicing of vowels. The unaspirated consonants, b, d, g, z, and z, do not occur preceding voiceless vowels. When a normally voiced vowel is unvoiced, as in *I am planting*, a preceding

consonant of this group changes to its aspirated counterpart, p, t, k, c, or c. When a normally voiceless vowel is voiced, a preceding aspirated consonant is usually replaced by its unaspirated counterpart:

There are, however, exceptions to the latter rule, in which an aspirated consonant is retained when the following vowel becomes voiced:

zíkupawańe (zíkupawa+-ńe) they chopped

# Compare:

zíkupawa he chopped

#### MISCELLANEOUS PROCESSES

Vowel assimilation.—The vowels -a- or -a- occurring in prefixes of the shape CVC- change to -u- when the prefix is attached to verb stems beginning in -u-:

## Compare:

```
gʻəzàku (gʻəz-+àku) he bit you
tá'auta (tá'-+-àuta) maybe I killed it
```

The vowel cluster -ai- changes to -ei- following an alveopalatal consonant:

čéiwadyame (č- + -áiwadyame) they assembled

# Compare:

sáiwAdyame we assembled

Change from glottal to level accent.—A glottal accent in the thematic adjunct normally changes to a level accent following a pronominal prefix containing a glottalized consonant:

$$\dot{\check{\mathbf{c}}}$$
úpe ( $\dot{\check{\mathbf{c}}}$ - + - $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ pe)  $eat$ 

# Compare:

supe you ate

This type of change does not affect the a allomorph of the passive voice prefix:

```
skådya?ta (sku- + -å- + -ádya?ta) I was caught
```

Certain verb stems with a glottalized sonorant following the thematic adjunct show a shift to a plain sonorant when the pronominal prefix contains a glottalized consonant:

 $\dot{ ext{c}}$ úwàne ( $\dot{ ext{c}}$ - + -ú $\dot{ ext{w}}$ àne)  $ext{\it hunt}$ 

# Compare:

súwane you hunted

The glottalized sonorant in stems of this kind may have developed from a plain sonorant preceded by a glottal accent in the thematic adjunct, and thus undergoes the above change. Other stems with a glottalized sonorant in a comparable position do not show this change:

káwasdá it is sour

Introduction of -u-.—The addition of the continuative suffix -kuya to a verb stem ending in -a, -e, or their voiceless counterparts, results in the formation of a vowel cluster the second member of which is -u-:

súbeukuya (súpe + -kuya) I am eating síwi deyaukuya (síwi teya + -kuya) I am worshiping

## Compare:

supe I ate

síwî·teya I worshiped

Change of c to t.—The phoneme c in the final syllable of a word changes to t when followed by a high front vowel:

súwî·tita (súwî·ça + -(i)ta) I am making it 2

## Compare:

súwî·ça I made it

Certain pronominal prefixes also show a shift from a retroflexed affricate to an alveolar stop (e.g., sɔz- and sɔd-; see charts 1 and 2). These allomorphs undoubtedly have developed from the process outlined above, but are, in the present stage of the language, no longer phonologically defined. Forms ending in d sometimes occur before vowels other than i:

sáda I am

## MORPHOLOGY

#### UNITS OF ANALYSIS

While the validity of the *word* as a universal linguistic unit is sometimes questioned, it is found convenient in this description of the grammatical structure of Santa Ana Keresan to recognize such a unit. The morphology-syntax division employed here is based on the assumption that the word can be defined with sufficient precision for descriptive purposes. This does not mean, however, that there may not remain a certain degree of arbitrariness in the drawing of some word boundaries.

The principal criterion for recognizing words is that of unlimited substitutability at word boundaries.<sup>3</sup> Severe restrictions on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For an explanation of the change in the stem-final vowel, see "Inflectional affixes" and "Stem variants."

<sup>3</sup> A full treatment of this approach to the definition of a word is given in Greenberg, 1957, pp. 27-34.

number and types of items that may be introduced into an utterance at a morpheme boundary is taken as an indication that the boundary is an infraword boundary. The boundary between a verb core and a following plural subject suffix, for instance, is of this type. The only items that may be introduced at this point are aspect and/or benefactive morphemes, neither of which ever occurs except following a verb core.

A morpheme boundary at which a wide variety of items may be introduced, on the other hand, is regarded as a word boundary. Although a verbal auxiliary is closely linked to a preceding verb core and is meaningless in isolation, it is, nevertheless, a separate word according to the above criterion. Not only may a number of suffixes occur following the verb core and preceding the auxiliary, but also items which, on the basis of distributional criteria, are themselves free words may be introduced at this point.

Words may be exhaustively segmented into morphemes. The term is used here in the sense generally used in American descriptive linguistics and includes word roots as well as various kinds of derivational and inflectional affixes and clitics. Clitics in Santa Ana Keresan are morphemes which, following the distributional criteria for marking word boundaries, are parts of words. They differ from affixes in that they are not so closely linked phonologically to the rest of the word. Specifically, they do not cause morphophonemic voicing of a preceding voiceless vowel and are much more likely than are affixes to be separated from the rest of the word by a pause.

#### WORD CLASSES

Three major word classes are distinguished on the basis of their internal structure. Of these, the verbs and the verbal auxiliaries occur with inflectional affixes. The third major word class is composed of all uninflected words.

Three principal levels of internal structuring are recognized in words: inflection, stem formation, and derivation. The terms inflection and inflectional affixes are used only with reference to those affixes which are external to the stem. Stem formation involves the combination of a thematic adjunct with a core and may include the addition of a benefactive suffix as well. The term derivation is used with reference to the internal structuring of certain verb cores and of some words of the uninflected class. Although clitics are, by definition, parts of words rather than free words, they are disregarded in the following description of word structure and are reserved for separate consideration.

The general structure of the three major word classes may be distinguished as follows:

- 1. Verbs are always inflected, always include stem formation and sometimes include derivation.
- 2. Verbal auxiliaries are always inflected but never include stem formation or derivation.
- 3. Uninflected words include neither inflection nor stem formation but may include derivation.

Specific morphemes involved in each level of structuring also may serve to distinguish the major word classes. Verbs are distinguished from verbal auxiliaries, for instance, in that all verb stems are potentially capable of occurring with a future tense marker while verbal auxiliaries never include this morpheme.

#### VERBS

#### VERB INFLECTION

#### GRAMMATICAL CATEGORIES

The following grammatical categories are expressed by verb inflection, or, less commonly, by changes in the verb stem:

Subject person.—First, second, or third person subject is recognized in all intransitive verbs in the non-future tense. It is most commonly indicated by a prefix, although in some verbs the pronominal element is a suffix:

s-upe	I ate	zù-se	I went
ș-upe	you ate	zù-șu	you went
k-úpE	he ate	zù-ku	he went

In addition, some verbs occur with a pronominal morpheme indicating indefinite subject:

sk-aukui one's wives

Subject-object person.—The subject and object of every transitive verb in the non-future tense are indicated by a single prefix. Seven principal subject-object combinations are recognized.

First person subject with third person object: s-èku

Second person subject with third person object: ṣ-àku

Third person subject with third person object: ṣ-àku

First person subject with second person object: ṣ-àku

Second person subject with first person object: ṣ-àku

Third person subject with first person object: ṣ-àku

Third person subject with second person object: ṣ-àku

Third person subject with second person object; ṣ-àku

Third person subject with second person object, gɔ-aku

Third person subject with second person object, gɔ-aku

In some, but not all, transitive verbs a fourth person subject with third person object is recognized which is distinct from the third person subject with third person object:

g-àku he (third person) bit him c-àku he (fourth person) bit him Fourth person is used when the subject of the action is obscure, as when the speaker is telling of something that he himself did not observe. It is also used when the subject of the action is inferior to the object, as when an animal is the subject and a human being the object.

Number.—Singular, dual, and plural number are recognized in both the subject of intransitive verbs and in the subject and object of transitive verbs. The dual and plural of transitive verb subjects are normally expressed by suffixation, while the absence of number suffixes indicates singular subject:

```
gàku he bit him
gàgu-na they two bit him
gàgu-na they bit him
```

Subject number of intransitive verbs may be indicated in a variety of ways:

1. By suffixation as in the case of transitive verbs:

```
zíkupawa he chopped
zíkupawa-na they two chopped
zíkupawa-ne they chopped
```

2. By changes in the thematic adjunct (i.e., the vowel or vocalic complex that ordinarily immediately follows the pronominal affix). These changes are usually accompanied by other number markers but may sometimes constitute the only indication of number:

```
g-áu-d<sup>y</sup>ašı he fasted
g-ú·<sup>9</sup>ù-d<sup>y</sup>ašı they two fasted
g-ú·wà-d<sup>y</sup>ašı they fasted
```

3. By the prefixation of different sets of pronominal allomorphs together with suffixation and/or changes in the thematic adjunct:

```
s-ìska I drank
sə́z-àska we two drank
sə́z-àskata we drank
```

Object number of transitive verbs is indicated by changes in the thematic adjunct:

```
s-è-ku I bit him
s-é-?è-ku I bit them two
s-éiỷà-ku I bit them
```

Tense.—Future and non-future tenses are recognized. Verbs which include a pronominal affix are in the non-future tense. Future tense is indicated by replacing the pronominal affix with a tense marker. The pronominal element is then incorporated in a separate word, the verbal auxiliary, which follows the verb:

```
sáizúwa I paid you ńi-zúwa sáuma I will pay you súpe I ate núpe si I will eat
```

Mode.—Pronominal affixes indicate not only the person of the subject or the subject and object but also indicate the mode. For each mode there is a distinctive set of pronominal affixes. A total of six modes are recognized; indicative, negative, dubitative, hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. For each subject-object combination, however, only certain modes are indicated formally in the inflection:

ċ-í∙zúwa	I paid him	š-í·zúwa	you paid him
sdy-í•zúwa	I (didn't) pay him	š-í∙zúwa	you (didn't) pay him
t-í∙zúwa	maybe I paid him	<b>c-í∙z</b> úwa	maybe you paid him
ká-izúwa	let me pay him	p-í∙zúwa	pay him
n-í∙zúwa	let me (not) pay him	sdy-í∙zúwa	(don't) pay him
n-í∙zúwa	let me pay him (in	<b>c-í∙z</b> úwa	pay him (in the
	the future)		future)

Certain particles characteristic of specific modes may precede the verb and are often necessary in order to avoid ambiguity. Verbs in the negative mode, for instance, are always preceded by the negative particle zázi, and those in the negative hortative mode by the particle bâ·mí·:

```
zázi sd<sup>y</sup>í·zúwa I didn't pay him
bâ·mí· sd<sup>y</sup>í·zúwa don't pay him
```

Voice.—Reflexive-reciprocal and passive voice are indicated by a prefix following the pronominal prefix of transitive verbs together with a distinctive set of pronominal allomorphs. Reflexive and reciprocal voice are indicated by the prefix -a- and are distinguished one from the other by different thematic adjuncts:

```
ś-à-ukača I saw myself
ś-à-ukačanətı we two saw ourselves
ś-á---yakačanətı we two saw each other
```

Passive voice is indicated by the prefix -á?a- or -á- and takes the plural subject suffix:

```
sk-á?á-izúwa--ne I was paid
```

Aspect.—There are three aspect morphemes. The most common of these expresses continuative action:

```
síukača-nikuya I am looking at him
```

# Compare:

```
síukača I saw him
```

A less common aspect morpheme indicates unfulfilled action:

```
supe-we I have come to eat
```

# Compare:

supe I ate

The third aspect morpheme indicates a remote state and occurs with only a limited number of verb stems:

gś-tâ-ma it is full (something remote from the speaker)

# Compare:

gó tá it is full (something at hand)

Condition.—Verbs which are linked to the larger context by various kinds of subordinate or conditional relationships occur with one of a class of suffixes of rather elusive semantic categorization:

skúizúwa-ne when he paid me skúizúwa-nu if he pays me

## Compare:

skúizúwa he paid me

In addition to the patterns of inflection indicated above, the expression of specific grammatical categories sometimes involves irregular changes in the verb stem (see pp. 99 ff.). In some cases there are changes of such a revolutionary character that the phenomenon may best be described as stem suppletion, which most commonly involves intransitive verbs in the three numbers:

zù-se I went séd-é<sup>?</sup>èyu we two went séd-èku we went

In rare cases, the expression of continuative action or of plural object number in transitive verbs involves stem suppletion:

ċ-àku he bit him ċ-íyêin I found him ċ-â-pi-kuya he is biting him s-íwàdê-n I found them

#### INFLECTIONAL AFFIXES

Each inflectional affix is assigned an identification number and is a member of a century class. Century classes are numbered according to the relative order of occurrence of their members within transitive verbs. An exception to this sequential numbering of century classes is the case of classes 100 and 200 which are never represented in the same verb. Members of both Century Class 100 and 200 are always in initial position in the verb.

Century Class 100 includes all pronominal affixes.<sup>4</sup> Within the class are nine decade classes (100, 110, 120, 130, 140, 150, 160, 170, and 180), each of which includes affixes indicating a specific subject or subject-object combination. Within each decade class, with the exception of 180, there are six morphemes (numbered 101–106, 111–116, etc.), each of which is characteristic of a specific mode. Century

<sup>4</sup> These are termed "affixes" rather than specifically "prefixes" or "suffixes" because, although they occur most commonly as prefixes, there are some intransitive verbs in which they occur as suffixes.

Class 200 consists of one morpheme, the future tense affix. Century Class 300 consists of voice prefixes. Century Class 400 consists of aspect suffixes. Century Class 500 consists of number suffixes. Century Class 600 consists of condition suffixes.

Affixes of Century Class 100 are tabulated in charts 1 and 2 and comprise a set of pronominal indicators. Those affixes which occur with transitive verbs in their primary paradigms appear in chart 1; those occurring with intransitive verbs and with transitive verbs in their secondary paradigms are listed in chart 2. The two charts overlap to a considerable extent, as many forms appear both with transitive and intransitive verbs. This overlap is so extensive that it is convenient to group those pronominal indicators which occur with intransitive verbs together with those which occur with transitive verbs and which indicate first, second, or third person subject with third person object. Affix 101, for instance, occurs with intransitive verbs indicating first person subject and with transitive verbs indicating first person subject with third person object. The difference lies in the fact that there are more allomorphs of each affix affiliated with intransitive verbs than with transitive verbs. The overlapping decade classes appear in the two charts with the designations T or I (e.g., 100T, 100I) indicating transitive or intransitive. The morpheme membership of T and I decade classes are identical: both 100T and 100I, for example, consist of affixes 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, and 106. Decade Class 100I, however, includes many more allomorphs than does Decade Class 100T.

Affixes of Century Class 100 form a rather elaborate system. With few exceptions, there is a distinctive affix for each subject-object combination within each of the three principal modes (indicative, dubitative, and hortative). There is, in addition, a distinctive affix for certain subject-object combinations within the negative and the negative hortative modes. A sixth mode, the future hortative, is indicated by affixes which, in most instances, are identical in form with the corresponding dubitative, hortative, or negative hortative affix. For purposes of description, the entire series is filled-in for each of the six modes, although this results in assigning two numbers to certain forms that, from one point of view at least, may be regarded as the same affix (e.g., affixes 111 and 112, 121 and 122). Thus, there are eight decade classes, each of which contains six morphemes indicating the same subject-object combination, plus Decade Class 180 which consists of a single morpheme. Each of the six morphemes within a decade class indicates a different mode. Within each mode the final digit of the affix identification number remains constant.

Allomorphs of each pronominal affix are distinguished by upper case letters following the identification number. All allomorphs listed

1		1	1	1	ı	ı	
	Future hortative	106A ni 106B ni	116A ç 116B ci	126A pi 126B pi	136 pi	146A za 146B ¢a	156A d <sup>y</sup> u 156B ču
	Negative hortative	105A ni 105B ni	115A sg 115B sdvi	125A pi 125B pi	135 pi	145A şa 145B şa	155A gu 155B ku
Mode	Hortative	104A ka 104B ka	114A ç 114B ci	124A pi 124B pi	134 þi	144A şa 144B şa	154A gu 154B ku
Mo	Dubitative	103A ti 103B ti	113A ç 113B ci	123A dv 123B di	133A di 133B t	143A <b>z</b> a 143B ¢a	153A d <sup>v</sup> u 153B ču
	Negative	102A sg 102B sdvi	112A ș 112B ši	122A g 122B zi	132A zi 132B č	142A şa 142B şa	152A d <sup>v</sup> u 152B ču
	Indicative	101A si 101B či	111A \$ 111B \$i	121A g 121B zi	131A zi 131B ċ	141A şa 141B şa	151A d <sup>v</sup> u 151B ču
on	Obj.	3d	3d	3d	3d	2d	1st
Person	Subj. Obj.	1st	2d	3d	4th	1st	2d
Decade	Class	100T	110T	120T	130	140	150

166A náz	176A d*\$z
166B nádi	176B d*fdi
165A nśz	175A sd <sup>y</sup>
165B nśdi	175B sč
164A nśż	174A <i>z</i>
164B nśdi	174B di
163A téz	173A dréz
163B tédi	173B drídi
162A sdv	172A géz
162B sč	172B gédi
161A sg	171A gáz
161B sku	171B gádi
lst	2d
3d	3d
160	170

Chart 1.—Century Class 100 Pronominal Affixes Occurring with Transitive Verbs in Their Primary Paradigms

Decade	Person			Me	Mode		
Class	Subj.	Indicative	Negative	Dubitative	Hortative	Negative hortative	Future hortative
100 I	1st	101A si 101B či 101C s 101D š 101E ši 101F sí? 101G sóz 101H sód 1011 sg 101J sku	102A sg 102B sdvi 102C sk 102D sk 102E sga 102F ská? 102G sdv 102H sč 102L sči 102J sči	103A ti 103B ti 103C t 103D tá? 103E táz 103F tád 103G tádi 103H tí?	104A ka 104B ka 104C k 104D ká? 104E ni 104F ni 104F ni 104H ni 104H ni 104U néz 104U néd 104U néd 104U néd 104U néd 104U néd 104U néd 104U si 104O st	105A ni 105B iii 105C ka 105C ka 105E k 105E k 105F ká? 105H ii 105H ii 105L néqi 105L nédi 105L nédi 105N š 105N š 105O st 105O st 105O st	106A ni 106B ni 106C n 106D n 106E nf? 106F né; 106G néd 106H nédi
110 I	2d	111A ş 111B ši 111C š	112A \$ 112B \$i 112C \$	113A ç 113B ci 113C c	114A p 114B pi 114C t	115A sg 115B sdvi 115C sk	116A ç 116B ci 116C c

		,
116D çá? 116E dváz 116F dvíd 116G dvídi	126A pi 126B pi 126C p 126D p 126E pa 126E pa 126F pá?	
115D sk 115E sga 115F ská? 115G sdy 115H sč 1151 sči 1151 sči	125A pi 125B pi 125C p 125D p 125E pa 125E pa 125F pa?	
114D č 114E z 114F d 114G di 114H ?	124A pi 124B pi 124C p 124C p 124E pa 124E pa 124F pá?	
113D çá? 113E dvá <b>z</b> 113F dvíd 113G dvídi	123A dv 123B di 123C č 123D č 123B dva 123F čá? 123G d 123H č 123H č	
112D \$ 112E g\$\varphi\$ 112F g\$\varphi\$ 112G g\$\varphi\$	122A g 122B zi 122C k 122D k 122E ga 122F ká? 122G z 122H ċ 122I ċi	
111D \$ 111E g\$\psi_q\$ 111F g\$\psi_q\$ 111G g\$\psi_q\$	121A g 121B zi 121C k 121D k 121E ga 121F ká? 121G z 121H č 121H č	181A sg 181B sk 181C sč 181D sč
	3d	Indefinite
	120 I	180

Chart 2.—Century Class 100 Pronominal Affixes Occurring with Intransitive and Transitive Verbs in Their Secondary Paradigms

in the charts are morphologically defined, i.e., their occurrence cannot be predicted in terms of phonological environment. Phonologically defined allomorphs (e.g., gúz derived by morphophonemic vowel assimilation from góz) are not listed in the charts but may be predicted from the morphophonemic processes described under "Morphophonemics."

The same upper case letters have been used to identify allomorphs which tend to be affiliated with the same group of verbs. This consistency is especially evident in transitive verbs and within each decade class:

This tendency also is manifested to a lesser degree from one decade class to another within each mode:

```
čí-zúwa (101B+verb stem) I paid him
ší-zúwa (111B+verb stem) you paid him
zí-zúwa (121B+verb stem) he paid him
etc.
```

The fact that not all affixes have the same number of allomorphs, makes it obvious that this tendency cannot hold true in the case of every verb. Intransitive verbs, especially, often show a shift from one series of allomorphs to another even within the same decade class:

```
sázâ. Abe (101G+verb stem) we two ate sgâ. Abe (102A+verb stem) we two (didn't) eat tázâ. Abe (103E+verb stem) maybe we two ate etc.
```

The phonetic shape and distribution of many affixes of Century Class 100 is suggestive of certain historical processes. It is probable that many of the B-allomorphs were derived from the corresponding A-allomorphs either through glottalization (compare 141B with 141A, for example) or through palatalization (compare 111B with 111A). B-allomorphs that appear to be a palatalized form of the corresponding A-allomorphs nearly always occur with verb stems beginning in -i-. The few exceptions prevent the phenomenon from being described as a morphophonemic process.

Another type of historical development is suggested by the overlap in phonetic form of certain allomorphs of affixes belonging to different decade classes. This overlap is evident when one compares affixes of Decade Class 100I with those of 160, affixes of Decade Class 110I with those of 170, and affixes of Decade Class 120 with those of 130. This suggests that the system of pronominal affixation may have

developed from one in which intransitive subject and transitive object were equated.

Century Class 200 is comprised of a single morpheme which indicates future tense. It replaces affixes of Century Class 100 as to position in the verb but not as to function. The future tense affix includes the following allomorphs:

```
201A n
201B ni
201C n
201D ni
201E ní?
201F nóz
201G nód
201H nódi
```

Examples of allomorphs of affix 201 are as follows:

```
n-upe
                                        will eat
ní-ukača
                                        will see
n-auta
                                        will kill
nì-udi?
                                        will give
níkupawane (ní?- + -íkupawane)
                                        will chop (plural subject)
náz-â-?Abe?
                                        will eat (dual subject)
nád-a?
                                        will be
nádîubu-ci
                                        will be frightened
```

Century Class 300 contains two morphemes, 301 and 302, which function as voice indicators and occur prefixed to transitive verbs following the pronominal prefix.

Affix 301 expresses reflexive or reciprocal action with the single allomorph 301 -a-. Affix 302 indicates passive voice and includes two allomorphs: 302A -á?a- and 302B -å-. The following examples illustrate the affixes of Century Class 300:

```
ś-à-ukača I saw myself
sk-á-á-izúwa-he I was paid
sk-à-dya?ta I was caught
```

Century Class 400 is comprised of three morphemes, 401, 402, and 403, which function as aspect indicators and (except for 401H) are suffixed to verb stems.

Affix 401 indicates continuative action and includes the following allomorphs:

```
401A -kuya

401B -nikuya

401C -tikuya

401D -ku

401E -(i)ta(·)

401F -sæ

401G -čadyaya

401H reduplication of the verb core
```

The following examples illustrate occurrences of allomorphs of affix 401:

```
sůbeu-kuya I am eating
gùkača-nikuya he is looking at him
cídya?-tikuya I am catching him
káiskś-? I zai-ku he is turning around
síukàici-ta I am hitting him
sáuti-si I am planting
kâ·ni-čadyaya he is walking
wýkò-woko-ka it is shaking
```

Associated with allomorph 401E, -(i)ta, is a change from -a or -a to -i or -ı in the stem-final vowel of the verb to which it is suffixed. Compares síukàica *I hit him* with síukáicıta *I am hitting him*. Affix 402, which refers to unfulfilled action, contains the following allomorphs:

```
402A -ne(·)
402B -ne(·)
402C -we
```

Illustrations of the occurrence of allomorphs of affix 402 are as follows:

```
Čí·zúwa·-ňe I came to pay him

síukača-ne I came to see him

súpe-we I came to eat
```

Affix 403 expresses remote state and has the single allomorph, 403 -ma: gó-ta-ma it is full (something remote)

Century class 500 contains two morphemes, 501 and 502, which express subject number. They are suffixed either directly to the verb stem or follow affixes of Century Class 400. Affix 501 indicates dual subject and includes the following allomorphs:

```
      501A - nd
      501E -metr

      501B -netr(·)
      501F -maxutr

      501C -dvr
      501G -yutr

      501D -ma
      501H -pa
```

The occurrence of these allomorphs is illustrated by the following examples:

```
síkupawa-na we two chopped sáiské-?a zai-məti we two turned around

śíukača-nəti we two saw him śíuni-maṣuti we two know him

śíd³a?-d³i we two caught him sódé-?e-şuti we two are

śáudi-ma we two planted síŵî-deya-pa we two worshipped
```

Affix 502, expressing plural subject, has the following allomorphs:

502A	$-\dot{\mathbf{n}}\mathbf{E}(\cdot)$	502H	-WE
502B	$-ne(\cdot)$	502I	-š <b>E</b> (⋅)
502C	-t <sub>A</sub> (·)	502J	-šī
502D	-me	$502\mathrm{K}$	_?E
502E	-mE	502L	-(i) y A
502F	-masa	502M	$-se(\cdot)$
502G	-WA		

# Examples of the allomorphs of affix 502 are as follows:

síkupawa-ne	we chopped	síwiî∙deya-wa	we worshiped
śíukača-ne	we saw him	zá?â·ta-we	they opened it
śíd <sup>y</sup> a?-tA	we caught him	súwadyúma-še	our brother
sáẁá∙di-ṁE	we planted	zé?é·bai?-šī	we went to sleep
sáýá·ská·?azai-me	we turned around	súwawàne-?E	we hunted
šíuni-masa	we know him	śí·zúwi·tɪ-ya	we are paying him
		śiukačaniguva-se	we are looking at him

Century Class 600 is comprised of three morphemes, 601, 602, and 603, which express conditional or contrary-to-fact action. Affix 601 has two allomorphs, 601A -ne and 601B -de. Affix 602 has a single allomorph, 602 -nu. Affix 603 likewise has a single allomorph, 603 -te. The following examples illustrate the occurrence of these allomorphs:

```
skúizúwa-ne when he paid me
gùkačane-de when they saw him
skúizúwa-nu- if he pays me
```

It is difficult to differentiate affixes 601 and 602 by meaning function except that the latter apparently has a dubitative connotation lacking in the former. Affix 603 occurs with many verbs in the negative mode which have a plural subject:

```
sgùkačane -- te we (didn't) see him
```

## DISTRIBUTION OF AFFIXES

The distribution within verbs of the inflectional affixes, the thematic adjunct (TA), the verb core, and the benefactive suffix (B) serves to distinguish three major structural types. These are represented by three formulas:

```
1. TV = +100 \pm 300 + TA + Core \pm 400 \pm B \pm 500 \pm 600/
+200 \pm 300 + TA + Core \pm 400 \pm B \pm 500
```

Transitive verbs are composed of three obligatory parts, a prefix of either Century Class 100 or Century Class 200 followed by a thematic adjunct and a verb core. Prefixes of Century Class 300 and suffixes of Century Classes 400, 500, and 600 as well as the benefactive suffix occur in some, but not all, verbs of this type. Suffixes of Century Class 600 may occur only if the verb is prefixed by members of Century Class 100.

2. 
$$IVA = +100 + TA + Core \pm 400 \pm 500 \pm 600/$$
  
 $+200 + TA + Core \pm 400 \pm 500$ 

Intransitive verbs of Type A are composed of at least a prefix of either Century Class 100 or Century Class 200 followed by a thematic adjunct and a verb core. They may include, in addition, suffixes of Century Classes 400, 500, or 600.

```
3. IVB=+Core\pm 400+100+TA\pm 600/+Core\pm 400\pm 200+TA
```

Intransitive verbs of Type B are composed of a verb core together with an affix of either Century Class 100 or 200 occurring as a suffix and followed by a thematic adjunct. An affix of Century Class 400 may follow the core and, in forms containing a member of Century Class 100, a suffix of Century Class 600 may follow the thematic adjunct.

A complete set of paradigms of transitive verbs in all of their possible inflections includes the following:

Primary paradigms.—Transitive verbs in their simplest forms, i.e., those which include only the three obligatory elements and which have unexpanded thematic adjuncts, are members of one of the primary paradigms. A transitive verb primary paradigm is composed of seven or eight forms based on the same verb stem, all belonging to the same mode, and each expressing a different pronominal reference. Examples of these paradigms are given in Appendix 1. The classification of verb stems on the basis of the specific allomorphs of Century Class 100 with which they occur in their primary paradigms is dealt with under "Verb Classes."

Forms with prefixes of Century Class 300.—Transitive verbs occurring with the reflexive-reciprocal or the passive voice prefix take distinctive sets of allomorphs of the pronominal prefixes. Furthermore, the class division evident in the primary paradigms is lacking in these forms; all transitive verbs take the same sets of allomorphs.

Verbs in the reflexive-reciprocal voice occur with the following set of pronominal allomorphs:

ŝ	ská?	tá?	ká?	ň	'n
101D	102F	103D	104D	105H	106D
ģ	ន្ទំ	çá?	č	ska?	çá?
111D	112D	113D	114D	115F	116D
ká?	ká?	čá?	pá?	pá?	pá?
121F	122F	123F	124F	125F	126F

Those in the passive voice occur with the following:

sku	sč	<del>t</del> i	ni	ni	ni
101J	102H	103B	104E	105A	106A
š	š	c	ż	sč	е
111C	112C	113C	114E	115H	116C
ċ	ċ	ť	р́і	ṗ́i	βi
121H	122H	123H	124B	125B	126B

Verbs in the passive voice regularly take the plural subject suffix:

sk-á?á-izúwa-ne (101J+302A+stem+502A) I was paid

An alternative translation of this verb would be they (certain unspecified persons) paid me. This translation is consistent with the presence of the plural subject suffix and with the expansion of the thematic adjunct in forms indicating dual or plural persons being acted upon.

It is not consistent, however, with the presence of pronominal affixes of Decade Classes 100I, 110I, and 120I, which express first, second, and third person subject respectively.

The occurrence of allomorph 302B, -å-, as opposed to 302A, -å?a-, is apparently restricted to verbs having a voiceless and unglottalized core-initial consonant and a normally short and level accented thematic adjunct:

čídyáwa I stabbed him skádyáwane I was stabbed

Forms with suffixes of Century Class 400.—Most transitive verb stems may occur with suffix 401, indicating continuous action. These forms occur with the same pronominal prefixes as occur in the primary paradigms:

gùkačanikuya (121A+stem+401B) he is looking at him Compare:

gùkača (121A+stem) he saw him

Subclasses of transitive verbs are based in part on their occurrence with specific allomorphs of 401 (see "Verb Classes"). A few transitive verbs are defective in that they never occur with affix 401. The occurrence of affix 402 is quite limited and has been recorded in relatively few verbs. The subclass to which the verb belongs determines which of the several allomorphs occur. There are no occurrences in the present data of transitive verbs which include affix 403.

Forms with suffixes of Century Class 500.—All transitive verbs, with the exception of a few defective stems, may occur with a subject number suffix, 501 or 502. In general, the same sets of allomorphs of Century Class 100 occur with these forms as occur in the primary paradigms:

gùkačanəti (121A+stem+501B) they two saw him gùkačane (121A+stem+502B) they saw him

Compare:

gùkača (121A+stem) he saw him

Forms expressing first person subject and third person object, however, are an exception. Verbs which in their primary paradigms occur with A-allomorphs of Decade Class 100 (101A, 102A, 103A, etc.) take allomorphs 101E, 102A, 103H, 104F, 105B, and 106B when the subject is dual or plural. Those with B-allomorphs in their primary paradigms occur with allomorphs 101E, 102B, 103H, 104F, 105B, and 106B in the dual and plural forms:

śńukačane (101E+stem+502B) we saw him śń-zúwa-ńe (101E+stem+502A) we paid him

Compare:

síukača (101A+stem) I saw him čí·zúwa (101B+stem) I paid him The choice of allomorphs of suffixes 501 and 502 depends on the subclass to which the transitive verb belongs and on the presence or absence of affixes of Century Classes 200 and 400. The occurrence of these allomorphs is described more fully under "Verb Classes."

Forms with suffixes of Century Class 600.—Suffixes 601 and 602, in general, may be attached to any transitive verb in the non-future tense. This involves no concomitant changes in the allomorphs of other affixes which are present in the verb:

```
skúizúwa·ne (161B+stem+601A) when he paid me
skúizúwa·nu· (161B+stem+602) if he pays me
```

# Compare:

```
skúizúwa (161B+stem) he paid me
```

Allomorph 601B rather than 601A occurs with verbs in which the subject is dual or plural:

```
skúizúwa·he·de (161B+stem+502A+601B) when they paid me
```

Affix 603 is of much more limited distribution, occurring only in verbs with plural subject in the negative mode when other Century Class 600 suffixes are absent:

```
sgùkačane·te (102A+stem+502B+603) we (didn't) see him
```

Forms with prefix 201.—All forms of transitive verbs outlined above, with the exception of those containing suffixes of Century Class 600, may be changed to the future tense by replacing the pronominal prefix with prefix 201. This results in a form of the verb that does not include subject-object person and which must be followed by a verbal auxiliary. Transitive verbs which occur with allomorph 101A in forms indicating first person subject with third person object take allomorph 201B in most future tense forms:

```
síukača (101A+stem) I saw him
níukača (201B+stem) will see
```

Those verbs which occur with allomorph 101B take allomorph 201D:

```
čí·zúwa (101B+stem) I paid him
ňí·zúwa (201D+stem) will pay
```

Future tense verbs in the reflexive voice, however, occur with allomorph 201C rather than 201B or 201D:

```
naukača (201C+stem) will see oneself
```

The presence of affix 201 sometimes determines the choice of allomorphs of suffixes 501 and 502. Some verbs in the future tense take the same allomorph of a number suffix as do the corresponding non-future forms:

```
ní·zúwa·na (201D+stem+501A) will pay (dual subject)
```

## Compare:

```
zí·zúwa·ńa (121B+stem+501A) they two paid him
```

Verbs occurring with allomorphs 502A, 502B, or 502C in the non-future tense show a lengthening and voicing of the suffix vowel in the future tense:

```
zí-zúwa·ne (121B+stem+502A) they paid him
ní-zúwa·ne (201D+stem+502A) will pay him (plural subject)
```

Chart 3 summarizes all possible sequences of inflectional affixes representative of the six century classes and illustrates them with examples based on the verb to see. For each of the non-future forms in the chart there are parallel forms representing other modes and other subject-object persons, as well as forms incorporating other affixes of Century Classes 300, 400, 500, and 600. The multiplicity of forms based on a single verb core is further increased by the possibility of changes in the thematic adjunct and/or the inclusion of a benefactive suffix. These, however, are regarded as stem changes rather than inflection and are treated in that portion entitled "Stem Formation."

Type A intransitive verbs follow the same general pattern of inflection as transitive verbs, but occur with a more restricted inventory or inflectional affixes. These verbs, for example, never occur with affixes of Century Class 100 which express first person object (i.e., Decade Classes 150 and 160). Furthermore, specific intransitive verbs commonly lack the capacity for combining with affixes of one or more of the optionally occurring classes; few intransitive verbs exhibit the full pattern of inflection indicated for transitive verbs in chart 3. Affixes of Century Class 300, for instance, rarely occur with intransitive verbs. There are a few verbs, however, which are classified as intransitive on structural grounds, but which have a transitive meaning and which admit affixes of this class:

```
ská?àutawa (101J+302A+stem+502G) I was killed
```

Members of Century Classes 400 and/or 500 may likewise be lacking in the inventory of inflectional affixes with which specific Type A intransitive verb stems occur. Certain of these verbs have no distinctive continuative action forms, while others indicate dual and plural subject by changes in the stem rather than by inflection.

Type B intransitive verbs are even more restricted in their inflection than are Type A. They never occur with affixes of Century Class 500, and the expression of aspect is limited to the reduplication of the verb core to indicate continuative action (allomorph 401H):

wákaka it moved wákawakaka it is shaking

	100+S+600 g-ùkača-nu· if he sees him 100+300+S+600 ká?-à-ukača-nu· if he sees himself
100+S g-ùkača he saw him 200+S ní-ukača will see 100+300+S ká?-à-ukača he saw himself 200+300+S	100+S+500 g-ùkača-ne they saw him 200+S+500 nf-ukača-ne will see (plural subject) 100+300+S+500 ká?-à-ukača-ne they saw themselves 200+300+S+500 n-à-ukača-ne will see themselves
	100+S+400 g-ùkača-nikuya he is looking at him 200+S+400 nf-ukača-nikuya will be looking 100+300+S+400 ká²-à-ukača-nikuya he is looking at himself 200+300+S+400 n-à-ukača-nikuya will be looking at oneself

100+S+500+600 g-ùkača-nede when they see him	100+300+S+500+600 ká?-à-ukAča-nede when they see them- selves
they are looking at g-uk-k\(\text{ca-niguya-nu.}\) if he is looking at him	100+300+S+400+600 ká?-à-ukača-niguya-nu. if he is looking at himself
100+S+400+500 g-ùkAča-niguya-se they are looking at him 200+S+400+500	ní-uk-áa-niguya-se will be looking (plural subject) 100+300+S+400+500 ká-à-uk-áa-niguya-se they are looking at themselves 200+300+S+400+500 i-à-uk-áa-niguya-se will be looking at themselves

100+S+400+500+600 g-ukača-niguya-se.-de when they are looking at him 100+300+S+400+500+600 ká?-à-ukača-niguya-se.-de when they are looking at themselves

Chart 3.—Century Class Stem Sequences

A few Type B intransitive verbs always occur with -n in word-final position. This morpheme cannot be assigned a meaning function and does not fit in any of the classes of inflectional affixes:

ká·ganı it is red ká·senı I am red

There is a tendency for words beginning in g-, k- or k- to develop by analogy a set of inflectional affixes even though the word may not originally have been a verb. This may be seen in the word gasî-ki cacique borrowed from the Spanish. The initial g- no longer behaves like a part of the stem but is identified with the third person prefix and may be replaced by other pronominal or future tense affixes:

sesî·kı I am a cacique nesî·kı will be a cacique

Some words have an indicative and a dubitative form but never occur with the future tense prefix or any other inflectional affix:

ķú·tí mountain

čú·tí there may be a mountain

The potentiality for occurring with a future tense prefix is taken as a necessary condition for membership in the verb class. *Mountain*, therefore, is not a verb, but is classified as an uninflected word which exhibits two alternate forms.

### VERB STEMS

Verbs are analyzed as consisting of a stem plus inflectional affixes of the various classes previously described. The stem itself is analyzed as consisting of two obligatory components, a thematic adjunct and a core, and may include a benefactive suffix as well. The combination of these elements to form verb stems is described in the section to follow. Certain verb cores, in turn, may be analyzed further. These will be described under "Verb Core Derivation."

#### STEM FORMATION

The thematic adjunct (abbreviated TA) is an element of the verb occurring, in most cases, immediately preceding the core (i.e., it is the initial element of the verb stem). The verb zı́nàta he bought it, for example, may be dissected as follows:

Z+	-í-	-nàta
	TA	core
pronominal prefix		stem

In those verbs in which the pronominal affix follows the core the thematic adjunct is the element immediately following the pronominal affix:

```
zù-k-u (core+pronominal affix+TA) he went
```

The stem in such cases, as zù—u in the above example, is discontinuous. Thematic adjuncts occurring in transitive verbs are either simple, indicating singular object, or expanded to indicate dual or plural object. Simple thematic adjuncts in transitive verbs are most commonly single vowels, either short or long:

g-ú-ni he knows him d<sup>y</sup>-ù-di you gave it to me ċ-í--zúwa I paid him

A few transitive verbs occur with vowel clusters as simple thematic adjuncts:

ṣ-ài-kú·mi I brought it to you ṣ-âu-<sup>9</sup>υ I gave it to you

A particular transitive verb ordinarily retains the same thematic adjunct throughout its primary paradigms (see Appendix 1). Frequently, however, there is a different thematic adjunct in the passive voice (see "Stem Variants").

To indicate dual or plural object, the thematic adjunct of transitive verbs is expanded according to a pattern that is regular but not analyzable in terms of additive morphemes. Chart 4 lists simple transitive thematic adjuncts together with their dual and plural expanded forms. With the simple thematic adjuncts are vowels or vowel clusters which result from a combination of the final vowel of a preceding prefix together with the thematic adjunct. This includes, for instance, -e- resulting from a combination of -i- plus -a- and -auresulting from a combination of -a- and -u-. Only those vowels and vowel clusters are given which have actually been recorded in transitive verbs. This accounts for the omission from the chart of many vowels and vowel combinations that might be expected to occur.

Thematic adjuncts and their expansions are listed in the chart by types based on the forms which appear in the primary paradigms and in the passive voice respectively. Type u/a, for example, has reference to verbs which exhibit -u- as thematic adjunct in their primary paradigms and -a- in the passive voice. The expansion of these adjuncts involves a radical change in the accent pattern only in the case of those which in their simple form are short and level accented. These are grouped together in a separate section of the chart. In other verbs the accent of the simple thematic adjunct is retained on

the final vowel or vowel cluster of the expanded forms, while the initial syllable receives a level accent. Vowel length occurring with a simple thematic adjunct likewise is retained on the final vowel of the expanded forms.

	Type	Simple	Dual Expanded	Plural Expanded
evel at	i/a	-í- -á- -ú-	-à- -à- -à-	-áiỷà- -áiỷà- -áiỷà-
Short level accent	u/a	-ú- -áu- -íu- -å-	-û·?u- -â·?u- -î·?u- -á?â·?a-	-úwà- -áuwà- -íuwà- -á?áwà-
	a/a	-a- -e-	-a.?a- -e.?e-	-aiya- -eiya-
cent	ai/ai	-ai- -ei-	-a·?ai- -e·?ei-	-aiỷai- -eiỷai-
Long level, falling or breathy accent	au/au	-au- -eu-	-a∙?au- -e∙?eu-	-aiỷau- -eiỷau-
	i/i	-i- -ai- -ui-	-a·?ai- -a·?ai- -a·?ai-	-aiỷa- -aiỷa- -aiỷa-
ong level, fall	u/a	-u- -au- -iu- -a-	-u·?u- -a·?au- -i·ỷu- -a·?a-	-u·wa- -auwa- -iuwa- -auwa-
IA	u/u	-u- -au- -iu-	-a·?au- -a·?au- -a·?au-	-aiẁa- -aiẁa- -aiẁa-

Chart 4.—Expansion of Thematic Adjuncts

Examples of such expansion in the order that they occur in chart 4 are as follows:

		-	,				
you caught them I caught you all you caught us	he kicked them I kicked you all I kicked them we were kicked	you bit them I bit them	I orought it to them	I gave it to you all I gave it to them	you paid them I paid you all you paid us	he hit them I hit you all I hit them we were hit	you gave it to us I gave it to you all you gave it to them
şáiyadya şáiyadya dzáiyadya	gúwàsukuca sáuwàsukuca síuwàsukuca ská?áwàsukuzañe	sáiýáku séiýáku	şalyalku·mi séiyalkú·mi	sáiyau?o séiyau?o	şâiyâ.zúwa şâiyâ.zúwa dzâiyâ.zúwa	gú·wá.kàica sáuwá.kàica síuwá.kàica ská?áuwá.kàizaǹE	dráiwadi sáiwadi sáiwadi
you caught them two I caught you two you caught us two	he kicked them two I kicked you two I kicked them two we two were kicked	you bit them two I bit them two	I brought it to them two	I gave it to you two I gave it to them two	you paid them two I paid you two you paid us two	he hit them two I hit you two I hit them two we two were hit	you gave it to us two I gave it to you two you gave it to them two
şâdva şâdva dvâdva	gů.°usuk'uca sâ.°usuk'uca sî.°usuk'uca ská?å.°asuk'uzaù	şá.?aku sé.?èku	şartankurını sérlèikúrmi	şá.?âu?v sé.?êu?v	şá.?áizúwa şá.?áizúwa dvá.?áizúwa	gú-?ú-kàica sá-?áukàica sí-yú-kàica ská?á-?á-kàizaùE	dvá.?àudi şá.?àudi şá.?àudi
you caught him I caught you you caught me	he kicked him I kicked you I kicked him I was kicked	you bit him I bit him I brought it to man	I brought it to him	I gave it to you I gave it to him	you paid him I paid you you paid me	he hit him I hit you I hit him I was hit	you gave it to me I gave it to you you gave it to him
šídva šádva čúdva	gúsuk vca sáusuk vca síusuk vca skásuk vzaňs	şâku sêku sêlmi, mi	salku-mi čeikú-mi	şâu <sup>r</sup> u cêu <sup>r</sup> u	ší·zúwa sáizúwa čúizúwa	gú-káica sáukáica síukáica ská?á-káizańe	drùdi șâudi Siudi

Thematic adjuncts occurring in intransitive verbs with singular subject are single vowels or vowel clusters:

g-ú-yá he skinned it ş-â--ni you walked ŝ-ái-nata I cooked it ŝ-àu-ta I killed it

In most cases the thematic adjunct remains the same in all singular forms of the verb. Two exceptions, however, should be noted. (1) Type B intransitive verbs which normally take -u or -u show a shift to -e or -E in certain forms (see also "Vowel Reduction") as:

zùk-u he went zùs-E I went

(2) Intransitive verbs of classes 9-11 and 9-12 (see pp. 110 ff.) show a change from -au- to -u- in the second person hortative:

ś-àu-ta you killed it c-ù-ta kill it

Intransitive verbs with dual or plural subject often have the same thematic adjunct as the singular form:

z-í-kupawań he chopped z-í-kupawańz they two chopped z-í-kupawańz they chopped

In other verbs there are changes resembling the expansion of the thematic adjunct of transitive verbs:

s-ú-tâ-niça I worked s-úwa-tâ-nizane we worked

There is, however, no regular pattern of expansion in intransitive as there is in transitive verbs. Stem changes involving the thematic adjunct are treated under "Stem Variants."

The benefactive suffix is analyzed as part of the stem rather than as an inflectional affix because its inclusion in a verb normally involves a change in the classification of the verb: verbs with this suffix occur with a distinctive set of pronominal allomorphs that differs, in most cases, from the set which occurs in the simpler forms. All verb stems with the benefactive suffix are Class D transitive stems (see p. 108). They may be formed, however, from stems that are either transitive or intransitive and which belong to any of the principal classes. There are five allomorphs of the benefactive suffix: -ni, -mi, -mi, -dimi, and -wi. The occurrence of these allomorphs correlates with specific allomorphs of the plural subject suffix. Verbs which are pluralized by 502A or 502B in forms lacking Century Class 400 suffixes take the -ni allomorph of the benefactive suffix:

čínàta I bought it s sázánàdaňe we bought it s číunàdani I bought it for him

şàtiša I talked to you şàtišane we talked to you sàtišani I talked to him for you Allomorph -mi correlates in a similar fashion with 502E and 502K; -mi, correlates with 502D; -dimi with 502C; and -wi with 502G and 502H:

súwane	I went hunting	<b>č</b> íd <sup>y</sup> a	I caught it
súwawàne?E	we went hunting	śíd <sup>y</sup> a?ta	we caught it
<b>ś</b> áwànemi	I went hunting for you	ṣ́áud <sup>y</sup> a?diṁi	I caught it for you
šáudi	I planted	zá?á·ta	he opened it
šáwá∙dim≀E	we planted	zá?á·tawe	they opened it
číudimi	I planted for him	șá?á∙tawi	I opened it for you

Examples showing a correlation of benefactive suffixes with 502F, 502I, 502I, 502I, 502M, and 502N are lacking in the data. Positionally, the benefactive suffix occurs between suffixes of Century Class 400 and Century Class 500. In forms containing a suffix of Century Class 400 the stem is thus discontinuous:

```
šáukàicīta·ni (141B + TA + verb core + 401E + benefactive suffix, -ni) I am hitting him for you
```

#### STEM VARIANTS

Stem variants result primarily from changes in the thematic adjunct and from changes in the final syllable of the verb stem, although other syllables may occasionally be involved as well. Certain of these changes are irregular and must be indicated in a listing of stems. Others, however, may be predicted on the basis of previously described processes which show a certain degree of regularity. The latter result from specific morphophonemic processes, from the expansion of transitive verb thematic adjuncts and the change in the thematic adjunct of intransitive verbs of classes 9–11 and 9–12, ("Stem Formation"), and from the suffixation of affix 401E or 502L ("Inflectional Affixes").

Vowel reduction normally results in the fusing of the thematic adjunct with a preceding vowel. Stem variants will then show either a shift in, or a loss of, the initial (thematic adjunct) vowel, depending on how the prefix-stem cut is made:

```
g-àku (g- + -àku) he bit him

ṣ-àku or ṣà-ku (ṣa- + -àku) I bit you

s-èku or ṣè-ku (si- + -àku) I bit him
```

The morphophonemic reduction of vowel plus semivowel sequences results in similar stem changes:

```
g-úwî·teya (g- + -úwî·teya) he worshiped
sí-wî·teya (si- + -úwî·teya) I worshiped
g-úišikuya (g- + -úwíšikuya) he scolded him
sí-wíšikuya (si- + -úwíšikuya) I scolded him
```

Morphophonemic processes involved in suffixation, too, often result in regular stem changes:

```
g-ùkača (g- + -ùkača) he saw him
g-ùkača-nikuya (g- + -ùkača + -nikuya) he is looking at him
g-ùpe (g- + -ùpe) he ate
g-ùbeu-kuya (g- + -ùpe + -kuya) he is eating
s-úwî·ça (s- + -úwî·ça) I made it
s-úwî·ti-ta (s- + -úwî·ça + -(i)ta) I am making it
```

Stem variants may result from regular changes which do not involve morphophonemic processes. The most common of these is the expansion of the thematic adjunct to indicate dual or plural object of transitive verbs. This kind of change is regarded as stem change rather than inflection because (1) the changes are of such a nature that no additive morpheme can be isolated, and (2) it parallels in many ways the kind of irregular change which takes place in certain intransitive verb stems in the dual and plural as compared with the singular forms. The expansion of thematic adjuncts in transitive verbs has been described in "Stem Formation" and examples given.

The regular change from -au- to -u- in the second person hortative forms of Class 9-11 and 9-12 intransitive verbs likewise produces stem variants:

```
š-áudi I planted
č-údi plant it
```

The change to -i or -i of a stem-final -a or -A preceding allomorph -tA of the continuative action suffix and before allomorph -yA of the plural subject suffix was noted in "Inflectional Affixes":

```
čí·zúwa (či- + -í·zúwa) I paid him
čí·zúwi·-ta (či- + -í·zúwa + -ta) I am paying him
```

Changes which are irregular and which must be indicated in stem listing are of the following types:

1. Changes in intransitive verb stems in the dual and in the plural as compared to the singular.—Dual and plural forms of intransitive verbs, except for a relatively few which exhibit stem suppletion, are clearly related to the singular forms. The changes in the stem, however, are highly irregular:

```
Emù-2
                  he left
Em·û-g
                  they two left
z-ê·ṁ∃
                  they left
k-úpe
                  he ate
g-â·?Abe
                  they two ate
g-â·?APE
                  they ate
k-útâ-niça
                 he worked
g-útâ·niza-na
                 they two worked
g-úw Atâ-niza-nE they worked
```

Because of this irregularity, intransitive verb stems are listed separately for the singular, dual, and plural.

2. Accentual changes and the alternation between voiced and voiceless vowels in verb stems of the same number.—In some verbs the thematic adjunct alternates from a short accented vowel in most forms to a voiceless vowel in forms prefixed by pronominal morphemes of the shape CVC-:

```
ś-étidya my back
góc-atidya your back
```

Verbs of this type also may show a shift to a voiceless vowel in the verb core if the core is monosyllabic and normally contains a voiced vowel:

```
ś-ádyá my animal
góc-Adya your animal
```

Verb stems which exhibit this type of alternation are listed with the thematic adjunct accent in parentheses:

```
-'atidyA back
-'adya to possess an animal
```

A few verb stems have a distinctive form which occurs only following prefixes composed of a consonant plus -i-. This form of the stem is characterized by a breathy accent on the thematic adjunct and by a final voiceless yowel:

```
sìd^{y}A (si- + -ìd^{y}A) I descended sìkA (si- + -ìkA) I looked gád^{y}A (g- + -ád^{y}A) he descended zígá (z- + -ígá) he looked
```

These stems are listed thus:

```
-ígá (-ìka) to look
```

Some transitive verbs normally characterized by a breathy accent in the thematic adjunct take a level accent in those forms of the primary paradigms in which a vowel cluster results from prefixation:

```
g-ùkača he saw him
sí-ukača I saw him
```

Stems that exhibit this type of change are listed with the following notation:

```
-ùkača (-vv-) to see
```

A few type B intransitive verbs show a shift from a breathy to a falling accent when the core is followed by -n-:

```
zù-ku he went
zù-ne will go
```

These are listed in the following manner:

```
zù--v (zû·n-) to go
```

3. Shifts in the thematic adjunct vowel of transitive verbs in the passive voice.—Some verbs that normally occur with -u- as the thematic adjunct show a shift to -a- in the passive voice:

sg-ú-kàica he hit me ská?-á-kàizañE I was hit

This change cannot be predicted from the phonetic content of the stem nor from its class membership, and is indicated as follows in stem listings:

-ú-/á-kàica to hit

4. The change from a glottalized to a plain sonorant in the initial stem consonant.—Stems which are based on cores normally beginning with a glottalized sonorant sometimes show a shift to a plain sonorant in forms prefixed by a glottalized consonant. Other verbs, however, retain the glottalized sonorant:

ş-úwàne you hunted gáz-â-ŵi your child č-úwàne hunt k-â-ŵi his child

Those stems which exhibit this type of change are indicated thus:

-úw/wane to hunt

5. The lengthening of a stem-final vowel.—In "Voicing" it was noted that some vowels which are normally voiceless become voiced and long when followed by a suffix. This lengthening is characteristic of some, but not all, stem-final vowels:

čí-zúwa I paid him číd\*áwa I stabbed him ší-zúwa·ůe we paid him číd\*áwaůe we stabbed him

Vowels which undergo this type of lengthening are followed by a vowel length symbol in parentheses in stem listings:

-1.zúwa(.) to pay

6. The introduction of a glottal stop after the stem-final vowel.—Some verb stems are characterized in certain forms by the introduction of a glottal stop following the stem-final vowel. The glottal stop appears regularly, in forms without suffixes, in the negative mode and in the future tense:

zíd<sup>y</sup>a he caught him zázi zíd<sup>y</sup>a? he didn't catch him híd<sup>y</sup>a? will catch

In some of these verbs the glottal stop also appears in all forms containing suffixes, together with the rearticulation of the stem-final vowel if the suffix begins with a sonorant:

zídî-ša he fed him zídî-ša?-tA he is feeding him zídî-ša?a-hE they fed him These verbs are listed thus:

-ídî·ša(?) to feed

Other verbs show the glottal stop in word-final position but not in forms containing a suffix:

zí·bád³u he awoke him hí·bád³u? will awaken zí·bád³usa he is awaking him

Verbs of this type are listed with the glottal stop in double parentheses:

-f.bádyu((?)) to awaken

There is at least one verb in the data which contains a final glottal stop in the negative mode and future tense, and retains the glottal stop with vowel rearticulation when followed by a suffix beginning with a sonorant, but which shows a lengthening of the stem-final vowel and no glottal stop when followed by other suffixes:

gùbe he told him gùbe  $^{\circ}$ e-hE they told him zázi gùbe he didn't tell him gùbe -- tA he is telling him

This verb is listed as follows:

-ùbe(⋅?) to tell

7. The voicing of a final vowel or vowel-consonant sequence.—The future tense of some verbs is characterized by the voicing of certain segments which are voiceless in other forms. This usually involves vowel clusters or sequences of the type -kuya:

cìkai he lay down sódekuya I did it nìgai will lie down nódeguya will do

These stems are listed in this manner:

-ikai (fut. -igai) to lie down -ikuya (fut. -iguya) to do

8. The retention of aspirated stops under conditions in which unaspirated stops normally appear.—Stops which are aspirated preceding voiceless vowels normally become unaspirated if the vowel is voiced. A few stems and suffixes, however, retain aspirated stops in all environments:

zíkupawańe he chopped zíkupawańe they chopped

Stops which remain aspirated before voiced vowels are underlined in the listing of stems:

-íkupawa to chop

VERB CORE DERIVATION

The verb core is the element which, together with the thematic adjunct, normally comprises the verb stem. The verb core may be a single morpheme and often consists of one or two syllables:

-sti to give a liquid -kača to see

-pe to eat -tiša to speak to

cá-- to breathe -nàta to buy

682-611-64-11

Some two-syllable cores and most, if not all, polysyllabic cores show evidence of being derived from simpler forms. However, very few derivational affixes which are still productive can be identified. The majority of polysyllabic verb cores are suspected of being derived for one of the following reasons:

(1) They include sequences of phonemes which recur with great frequency in verb cores, although such sequences cannot be correlated with any common semantic feature. For example:

```
a. -wA
  -cayawa
               to be angry
  -zá·čúwa
               to awaken
  -kupawa
              to chop
b. -yA
             to worship
  -wî·teya
  -yùceya
             to carry
  -wácašaya to stir
c. -m1
              in
  -witu·nimi to care for
  -disduwimi to be sticky
  -stidyinami to sweat
d. -kuya
  -za?anikuya to preach
             to bathe
  -nikuya
  -tikuya
             to cry
  -wíšikuya
              to scold
```

(2) They include sequences of phonemes which occur in two or more semantically related verb cores. For example:

```
a. -stu in
-yamastu to be hungry
-pániustu to be thirsty
b. -sta in
-sume?esta to teach
-cidyusta to ponder
```

- (3) They include sequences of phonemes which, if eliminated from the core, would leave a remainder that would itself be a verb core semantically related to the longer form. For example.:
  - a. -ci in
    -sčú-ci windpipe; compare sčú- to swallow
    It also recurs in a number of semantically unrelated cores:
    -sá-baci to pound
    -sgú-cuci to drool
    b. -ca in
    -kûica man's sister; compare -kui wife
    - -kûiça man's sister; compare -kui wife -dyumiça to learn; compare -dyumi to remember Other cores in which it occurs include the following: -tâ·niça to work -wičá·ça to listen

c. -ca in

-cáyuca to break; compare cáyú- to be broken

It also recurs in a great many semantically unrelated cores including the following:

-pé·ruca to lick

-ċê·naca to chew

-vucidyi.ca to rest

d. -tv in

-metu to freeze; compare -me? E to be frozen and hâ·me· ice

-ba?tu to sleep; compare -ba? to be sleepy

e. -ta in

-be-ta to ask; compare -be to tell

f. -da- in

-dácégaca to cut; compare -cégaca to cut

g. -wai- in

-wáiča to be hot (liquid); compare -ča to be hot

-wáistaya to be cold (liquid); compare -staya to be cold

### VERB CLASSES

The primary division in verbs is between transitive and intransitive verbs. Transitive verbs occur with a full set of pronominal affixes (except Decade Class 180 and, in some cases, Decade Class 130) while most intransitive verbs occur with only those of Decade Classes 100, 110, and 120. Some intransitive verbs occur with affixes of Decade Class 140; others occur with Decade Class 180; but none occur with Decade Classes 130, 150, or 160. Certain verbs which are intransitive according to this inflectional definition must be translated by an English transitive expression with a third person object:

sauta I killed it

The transitive-intransitive dichotomy is thus based on structural and not semantic criteria.

#### TRANSITIVE VERBS

Transitive verb stems are classified on the basis of their occurrence with specific allomorphs of inflectional affixes. The most important such classification is based on allomorphs of the pronominal prefixes. While the number of verb classes is considerable, this number is only a small fraction of what theoretically could result from all possible combinations of the many allomorphs of inflectional affixes. There are rather strict limitations on the freedom of distribution of specific allomorphs. Groups of allomorphs rather than individual allomorphs may be viewed as independent units in an examination of the combinations which may constitute a complete verb paradigm.

Allomorphs of Century Class 100 occurring with transitive verbs may be arranged in two sets of three partial paradigms. These are designated 1a, 2a, 3a, 1b, 2b, and 3b (chart 5). Each allomorph is listed by its phonemic shape and its reference number. In general,

Subj. Obj. Indicative Negative Dubitative   1st   2d   \$a^{-}   141A   142A   143A   153A   151A   152A   153A   151A   162A   163A   161A   162A   163A   161A   172A   172A   173A   1 18t   3d   si-   101A   112A   113A   1 13A   1 13A   1 13A   1 13A   1 13A   1 13A   1 122A   123A   1 13A   1 1		Person	on		M	Mode			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	raruai paradigm	Subj.	Obj.	Indicative	Negative	Dubitative	Hortative	Negative hortative	Future hortative
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1a	1st	2d	şa- 141A	\$a- 142A	zа- 143А	sa- 144A	sa- 145A	zа- 146А
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2a	2d	1st	d <sup>v</sup> u- 151A	d*u- 152A	d*u- 153A	gu- 154A	gu- 155A	d <sup>v</sup> u- 156A
3d     2d     gśź-     gśź-     d²śź-       1st     3d     si-     ti-       2d     3d     s-     s-       3d     3d     s-     ti-       3d     3d     g-     ti-       121A     ti-     ti-       123A		9d	1st	sg- 161A	sdv- 162A	táz- 163A	ná <i>z-</i> 164A	ná <i>z-</i> 165A	né <i>z-</i> 166A
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	328	3d	2d	gáz- I7iA	gá <i>z</i> - 172A	d <sup>v</sup> é z- 173A	ç- 174A	sdv- 175A	d <sup>y</sup> 6ż- 176A
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		1st	3d	si- 101A	sg- 102A	ti- 103A	ka- 104A	ni- 105A	ni- 106A
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		2d	pg	s- i111A	ș- 112A	ç- 113A	p- 114A	sg- 115A	ç- 116A
		3d	9q	g- 121A	g- 122A		pi- 124A	pi- 125A	pi- 126A

1 1		l				
ċa-	ču-	nédi-	d <sup>y</sup> fdi-	ńi-	ci-	pi-
146B	156B	166B	176B	106B	116B	126B
;	ku-	nédi-	sč-	ni-	$sd^{yj-}$ 115B	рі-
i45B	155B	165B	175B	105B		125В
;	ku-	nádi-	di-	ka-	pi-	pi-
i44B	154B	164B	174B	104B	114B	124B
¢a-	ču-	tádi-	dvídi-	ti-	ci-	di-
143B	153B	163B	173B	103B	113B	123B
; ; ; ; ; ;	ču- 152B	sċ- 162B	gédi- 172B	$\frac{\mathrm{sd}^{\nu}\mathrm{i}}{102\mathrm{B}}$	ši- 112B	zi- 122B
sa-	ču-	sku-	gádi-	ċi-	ši-	zi-
i41B	151B	161B	171B	101B	111B	121B
2d	1st	1st	2d	3d	3d	3d
1st	2d	3d	3d	1st	2d	3d
1b	2b		3b			

Chart 5.—Transitive Verb Partial Paradigms

the occurrence with a specific verb of one allomorph within a partial paradigm presupposes the potential occurrences of all other allomorphs of that partial paradigm with the same verb. For instance, if a verb occurs with allomorph 141A it may be predicted that the same verb will occur with 142A, 143A, 144A, 145A, and 146A; if it occurs with 151A it may be predicted that it also will occur with 152A, 153A, 161A, etc.

The combinations of three partial paradigms (1a or 1b with 2a or 2b and 3a or 3b) plus, in certain cases, allomorphs of Decade Class 130, form the primary paradigms of a transitive verb. The partial paradigms combine in four different ways resulting in four principal classes of transitive verbs:<sup>5</sup>

Class A verbs occur with partial paradigms 1a, 2a, and 3a.

Class B verbs occur with partial paradigms 1b, 2b, and 3a.

Class C verbs occur with partial paradigms 1a, 2b, and 3b.

Class D verbs occur with partial paradigms 1b, 2a, and 3b.

Class A transitive verbs occur with the following allomorphs of Decade Class 130:

zi-	zi-	di-	pi-	р́і-	pi-
131A	132A	133A	134	135	136
Those of Cla	ass B occur w	with the follo	owing:		
ċ-	ċ-	ť-	pi-	pi-	pi-
131B	13 <b>2</b> B	133B	134	135	136

Verbs of Classes C and D do not occur with prefixes of Decade Class 130.

The primary paradigms of all four classes of transitive verbs are given in full in Appendix 1, page 143. It should be noted that this four-fold classification applies only to verbs with singular object. All transitive verbs take A-allomorphs of the pronominal prefixes in forms indicating dual or plural object:

```
ší·zúwa (111B + stem) you paid him

ṣá·<sup>?</sup>áizúwa (111A + stem) you paid them two

ṣáiỷá·zúwa (111A + stem) you paid them
```

A further subclassification of transitive verbs may be made on the basis of their occurrence with specific allomorphs of the inflectional suffixes. At least eight subclasses may be defined in terms of occurrence with allomorphs of suffixes 401, 501, and 502. Verbs of Subclass 1 take allomorphs 401E, 501A, and 502A:

```
síukàicı-ta I am hitting him
śíukàiza-na we two hit him
śíukàiza-na we hit him
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There is one transitive verb in the data which does not conform to any of the four major classes: -au<sup>9</sup>U to give a long or flat object. In general it takes allomorphs of partial paradigms 1b, 2b, and 3b. However, the -i- is omitted from the prefix in all forms except those expressing first person subject with third person object in the indicative, dubitative, negative hortative, and future hortative modes: cau<sup>9</sup>U (ci- + -au<sup>9</sup>U) legave it to him, but xau<sup>9</sup>U (z- + -au<sup>9</sup>U) he gave it to him.

Verbs of Subclass 2 occur with the B-allomorphs of these three suffixes (401B, 501B, and 502B):

síukača-nikuya I am looking at him śíukača-nəti we two saw him śíukača-ne we saw him

Verbs of Subclass 3 take the C-allomorphs (401C, 501C, and 502C):

cidya?-tikuya I am catching him sidya?-dyi we two caught him sidya?-ta we caught him

Subclass 4 transitive verbs occur with allomorphs 401F, 501D and 502D:

cí·bádyu-sı I am awakening him sí·bádyu-me we two awakened him sí·bádyu-me we awakened him

The remainder of the subclasses are poorly represented in the data, each being attested by a single verb. As far as the data show, verbs of Subclasses 5, 6, and 7 do not occur with the continuative action suffix (401). Those of Subclass 5 occur with allomorphs 501F and 502F in the dual and plural:

śíuni-masuti we two know him śíuni-masa we know him

Verbs of Subclass 6 take allomorphs 501G and 502I:

śíyû·kami-suti we two waited for him śíyû·kami-še we waited for him

Those of Subclass 7 occur with allomorphs 501H and 502G:

śiyêina-pa we two found him śiyêina-wa we found him

Subclass 8 transitive verbs occur with allomorphs 401A, 501H, and 502H:

síube-tau-kuya I am asking him síube-ta-pa we two asked him síube-ta-we we asked him

Transitive verbs furthermore occur with a different allomorph of suffix 502 if suffix 401 is also present than they do in the simpler forms. Subclass 1 verbs take allomorph 502L in plural continuative forms:

śiukaiciti-ya we are hitting him

Compare:

šíukàiza-ne we hit him

Verbs of other subclasses occur with allomorph 502M in the plural continuative:

śiukačaniguya-se we are looking at him

# Compare:

šíukača-ne we saw him

The distribution of specific allomorphs of suffix 402 correlates with the subclasses outlined above. Examples are lacking for the occurrence of this suffix with verbs of several of the subclasses. So far as the data go, however, allomorphs of 402 correlate with homophonous allomorphs of 502:

síukača-ne I came to see him čí·zúwa--ne I came to pay him

## Compare:

śíukača-ne we saw him śí-zúwa--ne we paid him

Transitive verb subclasses crosscut the major classes previously described. The data contain examples, for instance, of Class A verbs which belong to Subclasses 1, 3, 4, and 5. A single designation (A1, A3, A4, A5, etc.) may be used to indicate both the major class and the subclass to which the transitive verb belongs.

#### INTRANSITIVE VERBS

Like transitive verbs, intransitive verbs are classified on the basis of the particular pronominal allomorphs with which they occur. There are, however, many more intransitive than transitive verb classes. Furthermore, intransitive verbs in general may be transitivized by the addition of the benefactive suffix. This means, in effect, that these intransitive verbs belong not only to their own intransitive class, but also are linked to a transitive class.

Major classes of intransitive verbs are designated by a code composed, in most cases, of two numbers (e.g., 1-3). The first number identifies the allomorphs of the third person affixes (121-126) as well as the first person negative (102) and the second person negative hortative (115) affixes with which the verb occurs. The code numbers with their corresponding sets of allomorphs are tabulated below. Indicated in the tabulation are allomorphs of affixes 121, 123, 124 and 102. Allomorphs of 122 are identical in phonetic content to those of 121, while the same is true of 115 in relation to 102, and of 125 and 126 in relation to 124.

1.	121A	123A	124G	102A
	g-	dy_	pí?-	sg-
2.	121A	123A	124C	102A
	g-	dy-	p-	sg-
3.	121B	123B	124A	102B
	zi-	di-	pi-	sdyi-
4.	121C	123C	124G	102C
	k-	č-	pí?-	sk-

5.	121C	123C	124C	102C
	k-	č-	p-	sk-
6.	121D	123D	124B	102D
	k-	č-	pi-	s <b>k-</b>
7.	121D	123D	124D	102D
•••	k-	č-	p-	sk-
8.	121E	123E	124E	102E
0.	ga-	dya-	pa-	sga-
0	-		_	
9.	121F	123F	124F	102F
	ká?-	čá?-	pá?-	ská?-
10.	121G	123G	124G	102G
	z-	d-	pí?-	sdy-
11.	121G	123G	124C	102G
	z-	d-	p-	sdy-
12.	121H	123H	124B	102H
	ċ-	t-	pi-	s <b>č-</b>
13.	121I	123I	124B	102I
	ċi-	ti-	pi-	sči-
14.	121 <b>J</b>	123J	124G	102J
14.	1210			
	c-	t-	рí <b>°-</b>	sč-

Some intransitive verbs, because of semantic limitations, occur only in the third person. These are identified by a single code number in accordance with the above scheme. The data include examples of verbs of this type belonging to Classes 1, 4, 6, 9, 10, 13, and 14:

```
gágóçatı flower, it blossomed (Class 1)
kàča it rained (Class 4)
kápašı it is dark (Class 6)
ká?áumuca it thundered (Class 9)
zèstaya it is breezy (Class 10)
číya-tı it is sharp (Class 13)
cíd*u it cost (Class 14)
```

The second number of the code identifies allomorphs of the first and second person affixes, with the exception of the first person negative and the second person negative hortative morphemes. Tabulated below are the allomorphs of affixes 101, 103, 104, 106, 111, 113 and 114 corresponding to each code number. Allomorphs of 105 are phonetically identical to those of 104; allomorphs of 112 correlate with those of 111; and allomorphs of 116 with those of 113.

1.	101A	103A	104A	106A	111A	113A	114A
	si-	ti-	ka-	ni-	s-	Ç-	p-
2.	101A	103A	104C	106A	111A	113A	114D
	si-	ti-	k-	n <b>i-</b>	s-	ç-	č-
3.	101A	103A	104A	106A	111A	113A	114H
	si-	ti-	ka-	ni-	S-	ç-	?_
4.	101A	103A	104A	106A	111C	113C	114B
	si-	ti-	ka-	ni-	š-	c-	pi-
5.	101A	103A	104C	106A	111C	113C	114C
	si-	ti-	k-	ni-	š-	c-	t-
6.	101A	103A	104A	106A	111C	113C	114H
	si-	ti-	ka-	ni-	š-	C-	?_

7.	101B	103B	104B	106B	111C	113C	114B
	ċi-	ti-	ka-	ni-	š-	c-	pi-
8.	101C	103C	104C	106C	111A	113A	114D
	s-	t-	k-	n-	s-	Ç-	č-
9.	101C	103C	104G	106C	111A	113A	114D
	s-	t-	n-	n-	ş-	Ç-	č-
10.	101C	103C	104M	106C	111A	113A	114D
	S-	t-	š-	n-	S-	Ç-	č-
11.	101D	103D	104D	106D	111D	113D	114D
	š-	tá?-	ká?-	ň-	š-	cá?-	č-
12.	101D	103D	104N	106D	111D	113D	114D
	š-	tá?-	š-	ň-	š-	çá?-	č-
13.	101C	103C	104C	106C	111E	113E	114E
	S-	t-	k-	n-	gáz-	dyáz-	z-
14.	101D	103D	104D	106D	111E	113E	114E
	š-	tá?	ká?	ň-	gá z-	dyóz-	z-
15.	101D	103D	104H	106D	111E	113E	114E
	š-	tá?-	ň-	n-	gáz-	dyáz-	Z-
16.	101E	103H	104C	106B	111A	113A	114A
	ši-	tí?-	k-	ńi-	s-	C-	p-
17.	101E	103H	104F	106B	111A	113A	114A
	ši-	tí?-	ňi-	ňi-	S-	ç-	p-
18.	101E	103H	104Q	106B	111A	113A	114A
	ši-	tí?-	sti-	ni-	Ş-	Ç-	p-
19.	101E	103H	104F	106B	illC	113C	114B
	ši-	tí?-	ni-	ni-	š-	c-	pi-
20.	101E	103H	104Q	106B	111C	113C	114B
	ši-	tí?-	sti-	ňi-	š-	c-	pi-
21.	101F	103H	104I	106E	111C	113C	114B
	sí?-	tí?-	ní?-	ní?-	š-	c-	pi-
22.	101F	103H	104P	106E	111C	113C	114B
	sí?-	tí?-	stí?-	ní?-	š-	c-	pi-
23.	101G	103E	104J	106F	111E	113E	114E
	sáz-	tá z-	ná z-	náz-	gáz-	dy∂z-	Z-
24.	101G	103E	104M	106F	iiiE	113E	i14E
	sá z-	tá <b>z</b> -	š-	ná z-	gáz-	dyáz-	Z-
25.	101H	103F	104K	106G	111F	113F	i14F
	sád-	téd-	nád-	néd-	gád-	dyád-	d-
26.	101H	103F	1040	106G	111F	113F	114F
	sád-	tád-	st-	nád-	géd-	dyíd-	d-
27.	101I	103E	104J	106F	111E	113E	114E
	sg-	tá <b>z</b> -	ná z-	náz-	góz-	dyáz-	Z-
28.	101J	103G	104L	106H	iiiG	113G	114G
	sku-	tádi-	nádi-	nádi-	gádi-	d <sup>y</sup> ídi-	di-

Various combinations of the two code numbers identify the major intransitive verb classes. At least 31 such classes are attested by the data.<sup>6</sup> Classes 1-1, 1-3, 1-16, 4-3, 4-5, 5-2, 5-8, 6-3, 7-13,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A few intransitive verbs have been noted which occur with allomorphs 101E sir, 111E goz- and 121D k-in the indicative mode: so na my eye, goz a na your eye, ka na his eye. Full paradigms (including the hortative modes) have never been obtained for these verbs. Since they do not fit any of the major classes outlined here they are listed in the vocabulary as unclassified.

7–15, 8–14, 9–11, 10–6, 10–7, 12–27, 13–28 and 14–4 are apparently confined to singular verb stems. Classes 1–17, 2–23, 5–9, 10–21 and 14–19 are found only among plural verb stems, and Classes 1–18, 2–24, 5–10, 9–12, 10–22, 11–26, and 14–20 among dual verb stems. Class 11–25 occurs in both the singular and the plural, and Class 3–27 in all three numbers.

There is a certain degree of correlation between classes characteristic of the three numbers. Verbs, for example, which belong to Class 1–17 in the plural number normally belong to Class 1–18 in the dual and Class 1–1 in the singular. Other common correlations are as follows:

Singular	Dual	Plural
5-8	5-10	5-9
9-11	9-12	5-9
10-7	10-22	10-21
14-4	14-20	14-19

Furthermore, dual Class 2–24 is commonly linked with plural Classes 2–23 or 11–25. These combinations, however, occur with a variety of singular classes.

Class membership does not necessarily imply the potential occurrence of the full set of affixes represented by the code numbers. Some verbs, notably those referring to body parts, are seldom if ever found in the hortative modes and only rarely in certain other forms. The code numbers, nevertheless, indicate at least the indicative affixes with which the verb occurs.

Class 7-15 verbs are unique in that they often occur, not only with the allomorphs indicated by the code numbers, but also with allomorphs of Decade Class 140. Specifically, verbs of this class take allomorphs 141B \(\delta\_a\), 142B \(\delta\_a\), 143B \(\delta\_a\), 144B \(\delta\_a\), 145B \(\delta\_a\) and 146B \(\delta\_a\). In this context, affixes of Decade Class 140 may express either first person subject with second person object or the reverse:

śáukî·ni you are my friend (or) I am your friend

Verbs belonging to Class 7-15 are, in general, those which refer to kinship or similar relationships, or which indicate possession.

Type B intransitive verbs fall into the general scheme of classification, although many of the classes are not represented in these verbs. Furthermore, in Type B verbs ending in a voiceless vowel there is no contrast between aspirated and unaspirated pronominal affixes. Aspiration in such cases is ignored in stem classification. For example, zùku he went, occurs with an aspirated pronominal affix, -k-. The stem, however, belongs to Class 1–1, a class normally taking g- in the third person indicative. This classification is consistent with the occurrence of other affixes such as -dy- in the third person dubitative: zùdyu maybe he went.

The occurrence of affix 181 is rather restricted and apparently not related to class membership except that allomorphs of this affix correlate with those of affix 121. The data indicate a correlation of allomorph 181A with 121A or 121E, 181B with 121D, and 181D with 121G:

```
      sg-â·ṁa (181A + stem)
      one's houses

      g-â·ṁa (121A or 121E + stem)
      his house

      sk-âukui (181B + stem)
      one's wives

      k-âukui (121D + stem)
      his wife

      sč-î·ka (181D + stem)
      one's mouths

      z-î·ka (121G + stem)
      his mouth
```

Allomorph 181C occurs in the data only in scau<sup>9</sup>u a crowd. An apparently related form is gâu<sup>9</sup>u he dwells, although the correlation is not certain.

Intransitive verbs may be subclassified, as are transitive verbs, on the basis of their occurrence with specific allomorphs of the inflectional suffixes. Since intransitive verbs are listed and classified separately for the three numbers, affixes of Century Class 500 are not involved, and such a subclassification would be based solely on allomorphs of suffix 401. Rather than designate intransitive subclasses by a code, it is simpler to indicate directly the allomorph of suffix 401 with which the verbs occur.

Paradigms illustrating the major intransitive verb classes are to be found in Appendix 1, page 143.

### VERBAL AUXILIARIES

Verbal auxiliaries are a class of words which always are inflected to indicate person and sometimes are inflected to indicate other grammatical categories as well. They are distinguished formally from verbs in that they are never inflected to indicate future tense. Semantically and functionally they differ from verbs in that alone they cannot constitute a predicate.

The function of the verbal auxiliary is to indicate the person of the subject or the subject and object of an action when this is not otherwise indicated. The most common occurrence of verbal auxiliaries is in conjunction with verbs in the future tense. In such cases the verb does not include a pronominal affix:

```
nupe si (future tense prefix, n- + verb stem followed by auxiliary, si)

I will eat

ni-zuwa si I will pay him
```

## Compare:

```
súpe (first person prefix, s- + verb stem) I ate cí-zúwa I paid him
```

The verbal auxiliary may also occur following a verb containing an allomorph of affix 124 (third person subject with third person object

in the hortative mode). The result is a hortative expression with an added pronominal element:

pí<br/>'ínàta si (hortative prefix, 124G pí<br/>'-, + verb stem followed by auxiliary, si) I want him to buy it

## Compare:

pí?ínàta let him buy it

Occasionally an uninflected word will function as a predicate, in which case a verbal auxiliary indicates the subject and object:

té·né si I like him

The word téené fulfills the function ordinarily performed by a verb, both semantically (it may be translated to like) and syntactically (it fills a predicate slot) although it is never inflected.

The basic forms of the verbal auxiliaries are listed in chart 6. As in the case of pronominal prefixes occurring with transitive verbs, verbal auxiliaries appear with seven principal subject-object combinations. In addition, there is a form expressing fourth person subject with third person object, distinctive forms for the passive voice, and a form expressing indefinite subject. Unlike the set of verb affixes, however, only three modes are recognized. A comparison with charts 1 and 2 reveals that verbal auxiliaries are based on a set of prefixes identical in form to certain allomorphs of the affixes of Century Class 100. Verbal auxiliaries actually have nothing that can be regarded as a stem unless it is the vowel -u (or -i in a few cases). This vowel, however, is comparable to the thematic adjunct of verbs. The -rina occurring in many forms may best be regarded as a suffix, although it cannot be assigned a meaning.

Subject	Object	Indicative	Negative	Dubitative
1st	3d	si	sgu	ti
2d	3d	şu	şu	çu
3d	3d	gu	gu	d <sup>y</sup> u
4th	3d	zíumA	zíumA	díumA
1st	2d	șáum A	şáumA	záumA
2d	$1 \mathrm{st}$	dyúmA	dyúma	dyúma
3d	1st	sgúma	sdyúmA	túzúmA
3d	$2\mathrm{d}$	gúzúmA	gúzúmA	d <sup>y</sup> úzúm≀A
]	Passive voice			
1st person		ská?áṁasa	sčá?ámAsA	té?émasa
	2d person	šá?ámasa	šá?ámAsA	cá?ámasa
	3d person	cá?ám≀asa	ċá?áṁASA	tá?ámasa
Inc	definite subject	sgúňE		

## Transitive verbs occur with the full set of verbal auxiliaries:

I will see him níukača si zázi níukača sgu I won't see him maybe I will see him níukača ti níukača su you will see him zázi níukača su you won't see him níukača çu maybe you will see him níukača gu he will see him zázi níukača gu he won't see him níukača dyu maybe he will see him níukača zíuma he (fourth person) will see him zázi níukača zíuma he won't see him níukača díuma maybe he will see him níukača sáuúma I will see you zázi níukača sáuma I won't see you níukača záuma maybe I will see you níukača dyúma you will see me zázi níukača dyúma you won't see me níukača dyúma maybe you will see me níukača sgúma he will see me zázi níukača sdyúma he won't see me níukača túzúma maube he will see me né?èkačane ská?ámasa I will be seen zázi né?èkačane sčá?ámasa I won't be seen né?èkačane· té?émasa maybe I will be seen né?èkačane·šá?ámasa you will be seen zázi né?èkačane. šá?ámasa you won't be seen né?èkačane· cá?ámasa maybe you will be seen né?èkačane· cá?ámasa he will be seen zázi né?èkačane· cá?ámasa he won't be seen né?èkačane tá?ámasa maybe he will be seen

Most intransitive verbs occur with those verbal auxiliaries listed in the first three rows of chart 6:

nupe si I will eat zázi núpe sgu I won't eat nupe ti maybe I will eat nupe su you will eat zázi nůpe su you won't eat núpe çu maybe you will eat núpe gu he will eat zázi núpe gu he won't eat núpe dyu maybe he will eat

A few intransitive verbs (those which are prefixed by sgu- or skuin the first person indicative) occur with the verbal auxiliaries which normally express third person subject with first object, third person subject with second person object, and fourth person subject with third person object:

nigai sgúma I will lie down zázi nigai sd<sup>y</sup>úma I won't lie down ngai tú xúm A maybe I will lie down ngai gú xúm A you will lie down zázi ngai gú xúm A maybe you will lie down ngai zíum A he will lie down ngai díum A he won't lie down ngai díum A maybe he will lie down maybe he will lie down

In addition to their basic forms, verbal auxiliaries may be inflected to indicate dual or plural subject and/or object. Those forms indicating dual or plural subject, in general, are constructed from the basic forms by the addition of a suffix. Dual subject is expressed by the addition of either the suffix - ?u, with concomitant lengthening of the preceding vowel, to basic forms which terminate in -u, or the suffix -na to forms which terminate in -ma:

nə́zâ. Abe gú. U they two will eat nizúwa ni saumana we two will pay you

Note that dual subject is indicated in both the verb and the auxiliary. Compare:

nupe gu he will eat ní:zúwa sáuma I will pay you

Plural subject is expressed by the addition of the suffix -sa, together with the development of a glottal accent on the preceding syllable in forms lacking the -ma suffix:

nózâ. Ape gusa they will eat nízúwa ne sáumasa we will pay you

Some dual and plural verbal auxiliaries are constructed not from the basic form, but from distinctive dual/plural forms. The following are those which differ from the basic forms:

1. First person subject with third person object indicative:

súzú-, as in nézâ. ? Abe? súzú. ? U we two will eat

2. First person subject with third person object dubitative:

túzú-, as in nézâ·?Abe? túzú·?v maybe we two will eat

3. Second person subject with third person object indicative and negative:

gúzú-, as in nézâ.?Abe? gúzú.?u you two will eat

4. Second person subject with third person object dubitative:

dyúzú-, as in nézâ. Abe? dyúzú. Tu maybe you two will eat

Those verbal auxiliaries which terminate in -ma may be inflected to indicate dual or plural object. This involves a change similar to the expansion of thematic adjuncts in verbs plus, in the case of plural

object, the addition of -zu-. The following indicates the forms of the auxiliaries expressing singular, dual, and plural object:

singular	dual	plural
-úṁ́A	-ú∙?úṁA	-ú·w̃ázúm≀A
-áum̀A	-á∙?áuṁA	-áuwázúma
-íum^A	-í·ỷúm≀A	-íuwázúma

These forms are illustrated in the following examples:

ní zúwa dyúma you will pay me né.?éizúwa dyú.?úma you will pay us two néiýázúwa dyú wázúma you will pay us ní · zúwa sáuma I will pay you né ?éizúwa sá ?áuma I will pay you two neiyazúwa sauwazúma I will pay you all níukača zíuma he (fourth person) will see him ní · ýúk AčA zí · ýúm A he will see them two níuwákača zíuwázúma he will see them

In addition to being inflected for person and number, verbal auxiliaries may occur with one of three condition suffixes. These are -ne, corresponding to the verbal suffix 601A; -de, corresponding to suffix 601B; and -nu-, corresponding to suffix 602:

níuk AčA sí-nœ when I will see him ní-zúwa-nœ gůsa-de when they will pay him nìgai gú zúma-nu if you will lie down

### UNINFLECTED WORDS

Included in the major class of uninflected words are those which express a wide variety of functions and exhibit a considerable number of derivational formations. A division of these words into function classes will be outlined in the section to follow, although a full description of syntactic function will be reserved for the chapter on syntax. Subclasses based on derivational formations will be described under "Derivation."

Uninflected words belong to one of the following function classes depending on their grammatical function:

Referentials.—All uninflected words, with the exception of pronouns, that may alone fill a subject or an object slot are referentials. These are, in general, nounlike words such as names of beings, things, and places.

Pronouns.—This is a class of rather limited membership comparable to English pronouns. The most commonly occurring members of this class are:

hínu I, we that one (inobviate) we hísu uou mí∙ga another one du this one ?íska onehe that one hau someone

Attributives.—Included in this class are a variety of adjective and adverb-like words. They may modify a referential, a pronoun, or a verb:

```
ráwá· díya good dog
hínu ráwá· I am good
ráwá· sí·ba<sup>9</sup>tu I slept well
```

Temporals.—This class is made up of words which specify the relative or the absolute time of an action. Some of the more common temporals are as follows:

súwá	yesterday	há- <b>wí</b> ná	right away
híṁá	today	mâ∙nu∙	a long time
čámá	tomorrow	háṁa•	long ago
ná∙nu	next day	d <sup>y</sup> áwá	early
şumí	already	cé∙yá	first

Also included are names of days, seasons, or the time of day. Many of these, however, are Spanish loanwords.

Prepositions.—Included in this class are a number of words which specify the location and/or direction of an action with respect to the speaker or to the actor. Among the more common prepositions are the following:

```
dúké· that way (near and away from the speaker)
dúwé· this way (near and toward the speaker)
yúké· that way (at a distance and away from the speaker)
yúku yonder, away
di? right here
yúsí from afar
```

Directionals.—This class comprises a rather limited number of commonly occurring words such as:

```
d<sup>y</sup>i up
ia down
si back here
sa back (to previous location)
```

Also included are the points of the compass which occur with great frequency in native text.

Interrogatives.—Included in this class is the interrogative particle <sup>?</sup>a which, occurring at the beginning of a sentence, makes it a question. Also included are:

```
zi what? há·di where? (location)
háidí which one? hai where? (destination)
hau who? háiṁé· from where?
háiṁu when? háiṁuma· what direction?
```

Modals.—This class includes a number of words which fix the mode of a following verb. Negative, negative hortative, and future hortative modes are obligatorily marked by such words:

```
zázi not (negative mode)
bâ·mí· don't (negative hortative mode)
ba future hortative mode marker
682-611—64——12
```

In addition, dubitative mode is sometimes marked by kaucigai maybe and hortative mode by the hortatory exclamation, havie.

Connectives.—This is a class of very limited membership including gu and, 'e and, and 'esgəsku but.

Narrative particles.—This class contains a few short words, şu, ?e, ?ai, ?eu, and du, which occur in various combinations with very high frequency in narrative text. They cannot be translated except in a general way as and then.

Exclamations.—Included in this class are a variety of exclamations such as:

Most uninflected words are not amenable to internal structural analysis. There are, however, a number of subclasses, largely of quite limited membership, which exhibit specific types of derivational formations. These subclasses will be described below.

Nominalized verbs.—There are three general types of referentials which are derived from verbs by the omission of all verb prefixes and the addition of a nominalizing suffix.

The first type, which principally includes certain body parts, is based on the verb core; i.e., the thematic adjunct is excluded. The nominalizer in such words is regularly -ni. The following examples show first the verb form (translatable into English possessed body parts) followed by the nominalized form:

gánásgái his head násgáini head gáyú-spi his shoulder yuí-sbini shoulder séwî-ši my nose wisi-ni nose

The second type of nominalized verb also includes body parts primarily and is based on the verb stem (which includes the thematic adjunct) preceded by h-. The nominalizer in these words is either -ni or -nani:

sásdi your foot hásdi<sup>9</sup>ini foot sá·múču your toe há·múčuni toe šá<sup>9</sup>áča your tooth há<sup>9</sup>áčanani tooth

The third type of nominalized verb includes a wide variety of action words and is based on the verb core preceded by ?ú- or ?ú-. The nominalizer in these words is most commonly -ni, but may be any one of several suffixes:

ćíkupawa	$I\ chopped$	<sup>9</sup> úgupáwa <b>'n</b> i	ax
súgúya	$I \ sat \ down$	?úgúyánı	seat
síube	I told him	?ú·bé·tá·ảı	story, news
súpE	I ate	?úbéwí	food
súbáya	I built a fire	²ú·báyán≀	fireplace

Numerals.—Keresan numerals are based on a decimal system. Cardinal numbers 1 through 10 are unanalyzable, although the terms for 7, 8, and 9 are polysyllabic and may be derived forms. The term for *scven*, for instance, includes a sequence of phonemes similar to those in the term for *four*.

sčísa Písk A one dyû-mímàidyana seven twogúkúmiši eight čémi threemávuku dyâ-na four ninetâ·mA five káci ten

Numbers 11 through 19 are designated by the word for ten followed by the word for one, two, three, etc.:

kácı <sup>9</sup>íska eleven kácı d<sup>y</sup>u· twelve (note the omission of -mí· here and in derived forms) kácı čémi thirteen

The addition of the suffix -wa or -ya to the terms for cardinal numbers 1 through 10 results in forms that occur both in the designations for 20, 30, 40, etc. and, in other contexts, as ordinal numbers. The suffix -ya occurs following the terms for two and three, while -wa is suffixed to the remainder of the number terms:

dyû-ya twice, second dyû-ya kácı twenty čémiya three times, third čémiya kácı thirty dyâ-nawa four times, fourth

dyâ-nawa kácı forty

References to pueblos and their inhabitants.—Place names are sometimes derived from the term designating an inhabitant of that place, while in other cases the reverse is true. The former type of derivation

involves the addition of the suffix -zé:

tî·w≀a a Tiwa Indian tí·w≀á·zé a Tiwa Pueblo hé·miši a person from Jemez hé·miší·zé Jemez Pueblo sô·ni a person from Zuni só·nízé Zuni Pueblo

The addition of the suffix  $-\dot{m}E$  to a place name indicates an inhabitant of that place:

dámáyá Santa Ana Pueblo dámáyâ me a person from d'vî·wi Santo Domingo Pueblo Santa Ana d'vî·wi me a person from Santo Domingo

Diminutives and augmentatives.—The prefix ró-- occurs in a large number of words indicating smallness:

ró-skíši little
ró-ká-paši thin
ró-ká-šika narrow
ró-káci shallow
ró-cičá a small person

The prefix mé-, on the other hand, occurs with words expressing largeness:

```
    mé-zíči
    big

    mé-ká-paši
    thick

    mé-ká-tika
    wide (something rigid)

    mé-káci
    deep

    mé-cíýa
    wide (something like cloth)

    mé-cičá
    a tall person
```

Derived prepositions.—Many prepositions are derived from a combination of two morphemes. In these words dú-expresses nearness and yú-distance. Among the second elements, -ké· expresses motion away from the speaker, -wé· motion toward the speaker, -si a return, and -?ai a fixed location:

```
dúké· that way (near and away from the speaker)
dúwé· this way (near and toward the speaker)
yúké· that way (at a distance and away from the speaker)
yúwé· this way (at a distance and toward the speaker)
yúsí back from afar
yú?ái there (located at a distance)
```

Points of the compass.—Several types of derived forms are based on the points of the compass, d<sup>y</sup>íd<sup>y</sup>A north, bə west, ku south, and haeast. Motion toward the cardinal points of the compass is expressed by the following derived forms:

```
dyídyámí toward the north
bónámí toward the west
kúwámí toward the south
há·námí toward the cast
```

Motion from the cardinal points is likewise expressed by derived forms:

```
há·ni from the east
bóni from the west
```

Terms for northeast, northwest, southeast, and southwest result from a combination of modified forms of the terms for the cardinal points:

```
d<sup>y</sup>ídiyabá northwest
kúyabá southwest
```

Less frequently occurring forms derived from the terms for the points of the compass include those designating the east or the west side of the river (the Rio Grande) and those designating the four corners of the pueblo world:

```
bónísdé the west side
há·šuku Santa Fe (literally east corner)
```

Interrogatives.—A large majority of interrogatives begin with ha-, suggesting that this is a derivational morpheme:

hau who?
hai where? (destination)
há·di where? (location)
hâiṁé· from where?
háikuma· what direction?
háiku when?
háidí which one?
háċu how many?

#### CLITICS

Clitics are a class of morphemes which do not effect morphophonemic voicing of a previous vowel as do suffixes (see "Voicing") but which, on the basis of distributional evidence, are not treated as free words (see "Units of Analysis"). Their position, then, is intermediate between that of an affix and a free word.

In terms of function there are four kinds of clitics, all of which occur as postclitics:

1. Pluralizing clitics occur following a limited number of referentials and verbs which function as subject or object. The most commonly occurring of these clitics is -d<sup>y</sup>é·mí:

kâ·wı-dyé·mí his children ka bíuna-dyé·mí his servants

2. Locative-instrumental clitics occur following words which function as subject or object and include the morphemes -di, -dika, -ši, and -si:

mé-sa-di on the table
hínu-dika by me (through my instrumentality)
gawâ-yu-ši by horseback
gâ-ma-si in his house

3. The nominalizer, -šé, is often attached to verbs which function as the subject or object of a clause:

gáwínuska-ti-šé his two hearts

4. The clitics -ṣanu and -d³anu (often contracted to -ṣau and -d³au with nasalized vowels) occur following referentials which refer to living beings or following kinship terms (verbs) which function as subject or object. They occur rather frequently in narrative text recounting happenings of the distant past. The clitic -ṣanu occurs in ordinary narrative while -d³anu carries a dubitative connotation:

kaukui-ṣanu his wife kadyuma-dyanu his brother (reported to be)

Both pluralizing and narrative past tense clitics may occur in the same word. In such cases the past tense clitic always follows the pluralizing clitic:

čâ·wi-dyé·mí-sanu his children

## SYNTAX

In "Morphology," words were described and classified on the basis of their internal structure. The emphasis in this section is on the grammatical function of words and phrases and the sequential arrangement of functional units. The word-class categories of the previous section are abandoned except in describing the kinds of words which may fill a function slot. This approach is adopted for the reason that there is in Santa Ana Keresan a lack of correlation between structural classes and function classes. Words which structurally are verbs, for instance, may have not only a verblike function but may have a nounlike function as sâma in the following example:

yúké· sâ·ma  $^{9}$ e sa zùse I am going home that way my home back I go

### DEFINITION OF SYNTACTIC UNITS

Syntactic structure will be analyzed in terms of function slots. The term is used here to mean a position within the clause or larger syntactic unit which is characterized by:

- 1. A more or less fixed location in relation to other function slots. This does not imply an absolutely rigid sequential ordering of elements within the clause, but rather a relatively narrow limit to the kinds of sequences which are admissible.
- 2. A uniform grammatical function assignable to the slot together with the elements which may fill that slot. These grammatical functions (e.g., subject, object, predicate) will be discussed in detail on pp. 126 ff.
- 3. The potentiality of being filled by a single word. This criterion defines the lower limit of a function unit. Any position within the clause that is always filled by more than one word is not a single function slot.
- 4. The potentiality of being filled by a continuous sequence of words. A function slot, therefore, may be filled alternatively by a single word or by a sequence of words that are functionally equivalent to a single word. Such a sequence of words constitutes a *phrase*. Two or more non-contiguous positions within a clause which are filled by words or phrases having the same or similar grammatical function will be treated as separate slots rather than a single discontinuous slot.

The usual definition of a clause as a sequence of words containing a subject and predicate needs to be modified somewhat for the purposes of describing Santa Ana syntactic structure. The term *clause* will be understood to refer to a syntactic unit which includes a verb functioning as a predicate as well as to certain other relatively infrequently occurring types of units to be described below. A *predicate clause* in

its minimal form consists of a single verb. There need not be an expressed subject other than the pronominal marker incorporated in the verb. Expanded forms of the predicate clause may contain an expressed subject and/or object as well as various other elements. Certain kinds of word sequences which do not include a verb functioning as predicate are treated as special types of clauses. word sequences lend themselves to description as clauses comparable to predicate clauses because: (1) they are units with a more or less fixed structure and may be described in terms of function slots in the same manner as predicate clauses; (2) they possess a semantic content comparable to that of predicate clauses and, although not containing a predicate, are usually best translated by full English sentences; (3) they correlate closely with phonological units in the same manner as predicate clauses which, as with all clauses, tend to be set off by pauses in a connected text; and (4) their length and distribution in the text is such that their incorporation into contiguous predicate clauses often would result in unwieldy units. special clauses are of three types: prepositional clauses, interrogative clauses, and 'eu clauses, all of which will be described under "Nonpredicate Clauses."

The term sentence will be used much in its traditional sense to refer to a word or group of words which expresses an independent utterance, not part of any larger syntactic construction. A sentence may be a single independent clause, or it may consist of two or more clauses, one of which is an independent clause.

### MAJOR FUNCTION SLOTS AND THEIR FILLERS

Nine major function slots are identified within Santa Ana Keresan clauses. Each function slot, assigned an uppercase letter for easy reference, is described in the sections to follow.

In the description of the elements which may fill a function slot the occurrence of narrative particles are ignored. These particles occur with very high frequency in narrative text but are not considered to be an essential part of the syntactic structure. Although they contribute to the sense of continuity of a narrative and are roughly equivalent to English "And then . . . ," their omission in no way changes the basic structure and meaning of the utterance. The narrative particles, su, ?e, ?eu, ?ai, and du, occur either singly or in various combinations. The more commonly occurring combinations are:

șu <sup>?</sup> e	
șu <sup>?</sup> e șu	
șu du	
șu ?e du	
e su	

?eu șu ?eu șu ?e ?ai șu ?ai șu ?e Longer combinations made up of two or more of the above sometimes occur:

șu ?e ?ai șu șu ?e șu ?eu șu etc.

When the informant is searching for words he often fills in with a rather long series of narrative particles which occur, most commonly, at the beginning of a clause:

șu <sup>9</sup>e șu d<sup>y</sup>i dígâ·nikuya čėcī higâ·ntī čád<sup>y</sup>á·še Then the giant's eagle, too, looked up.

Roughly half of the clauses in the text are introduced by a narrative particle or combination of particles. Narrative particles occur less commonly, although with considerable frequency, between function slots within a clause:

şu ?e dísí ku şu ?e şu dyá?áiỷ v Then they flew southward.

In the analysis of clause structure, narrative particles are assigned, where possible, to the initial position within the function slot. The above clause, for example, is analyzed as consisting of two function slots with the division occurring between ku and su.

Narrative particles occur occasionally in non-initial position within a function slot. This may be true in certain function slots, such as the D slot (see p.132), which sometimes includes two or more elements with intervening narrative particles:

D slot

şu <sup>9</sup>e şu dúŵé· şu si Čâ·ničad<sup>y</sup>aya
this way back he was walking
Then he was walking back.

# PREDICATE SLOT (P)

The grammatical function of a predicate slot with its filler is that normally associated with the term "verb." Among the more common types of concepts which may be expressed by this unit are the following:

Action: skàku he bit me
Perception: sgùkača he saw me
State of being: cíyamastu I am hungry
Relationship: ka it is his

The predicate slot is normally filled by a single verb. It may comprise the entire utterance (as in the above examples) or may be part of a larger construction:

su 'e 'aisí yúké d'a'a'aiy y yú'ai hadi čútí there that way they flew there where mountain Then they flew away to the mountains.

A verb phrase rather than a single verb may fill the predicate slot, although this construction is statistically much less frequent. Four types of modifying elements may occur with a verb in a verb phase.

1. A qualifying word may occur either preceding or following the verb:

şu <sup>?</sup>áisí ha· nú·yú· kâ·ni
there east alone he walked
Then he walked eastward alone.

P

<sup>?</sup>e şu <sup>?</sup>e şu čá<sup>?</sup>àizi čècr
he went too
to bed

Then he went to bed, too.

2. The particle 'eu may precede or follow the verb. This particle, which cannot be adequately translated into English, gives additional emphasis to a particular word or phrase:

su ?e ?ai hau? d'a.?áċī ?eu
near they arrived
Then they came near.
P
?eu sguċípA
I need him.

3. The verb may be preceded by an uninflected word which functions semantically as the principal carrier of meaning:

şumî há ku dyawin zanı gen çaukui-şanu already ready she made his wife His wife had things already prepared.

4. Certain verbs are preceded in most of their occurrences by characteristic particles which have no close semantic equivalent in English. These include 'e, which precedes most forms of the verbs meaning to go and to say, and gui', which precedes the verb to do:

su 'e 'eu d'á·mí 'e čáza
eagle he said

And then the eagle said,

P
su 'e yúké· kú·tí 'e zùpe¹
that way mountain go
Go away to the mountains!
P
zi gui' gédèkuya
what you are doing
What are you doing?

Predicate slots may be subdivided on the basis of whether or not the verb that fills the slot incorporates a pronominal marker indicating the person of the subject or of the subject and object. P1 slots, illustrated by all of the above examples, are filled by verbs in the non-future tense and incorporate pronominal markers. P2 slots are filled by future tense verbs which do not incorporate pronominal markers:

# AUXILIARY SLOT (A)

The occurrence of a P2 slot presupposes the presence in the same clause of an A slot filled by a verbal auxiliary (as súzú-?u we, in the example above). Verbal auxiliaries comprise both a structural class and a function class. The A slot is always filled by a single verbal auxiliary and performs the function of indicating the person of the subject or subject and object when this is not included in the verb itself. The A slot in general immediately follows the P slot:

háiku dúwé si zû-ne su
when this way back will you
go
When will you come back?

The occasional occurrence of other elements between the P and A slots prevents treating the verb plus its auxiliary as a verb phrase filling a simple slot.

# SUBJECT SLOT (S)

The grammatical function of a subject slot with its filler is to indicate the subject of the verb in the predicate slot. This unit is not obligatory to a complete clause, as the person and number of the subject is indicated in the verb itself or in the verb together with its auxiliary. The filling of the subject slot either adds redundancy or else indicates the subject with more specificity. The subject slot may be filled by any one of the following elements.

Pronouns.—Included in this category are the first person pronoun, hinu, the second person pronoun, hisu, and various third person pronouns such as ?iska one, du this one, he that one, hau someone and ?isgawa both of them:

Verbs.—The most common type of verbs filling a subject slot are those indicating inalienably possessed objects (e.g., kinship terms and terms referring to body parts):

Referentials.—These are, in general, nounlike words and the most commonly occurring fillers of the S slot.

Phrases based on the above elements.—These are of the five general types given below.

1. Two or more words linked in possessive relationship:

	S			P
higâ·ntı	čádyá∙še	dyá∙mí	şu	?e dyú·sčècA
giant	his	eagle		he cried out
The gian	nt's eagle	cried out.		

2. Two or more words linked in coordinate relationship:

P		S	
dí?ái dyá.?âu?u there they lived	•		čâukui-ṣanu his wife
A man and his u	vife lived ther	re.	

3. A combination of two or more pronouns or a combination of one or two pronouns with a referential or a verb:

There were some sheep bleating.

4. A verb or a referential with an attributive:

5. A pronoun, verb, referential or phrase of one of the above types preceded and/or followed by ?eu and/or čėci:

Clauses with compound subjects (i.e., two or more words in coordinate relationship) sometimes have two S slots with the subject split between the two:

# OBJECT SLOT (O)

An object slot with its filler indicates the object of the action expressed by the verb in the predicate slot. Like the subject slot, this is a nonobligatory element which adds redundancy or specificity. The same types of words or phrases may fill the object slot as the subject slot:

Pronouns:

Verbs:

$$\overbrace{ \begin{array}{c} O \\ \text{ $\stackrel{?}{\text{e}}$ $\stackrel{?}{\text{e}}$$$

Then he called his children.

Referentials:

### Phrases:

1. Two or more words in possessive relationship:

2. Two or more words in coordinate relationship:

	P	0	
há∙di ?égu ?eu	șú wakačane	gawiyá·ra	wá·gaši
where then	you saw them	horses	cattle
Where, then, da	id you see the ho	rses and ca	ttle?

3. Combination of pronoun plus pronoun, verb or referential:

0	P	A
du má∙ču	eu néyazèce	$\widetilde{si}$
this mule	will choose	Ι
I will choos	e this mule.	

4. Combination of verb or referential plus attributive:

5. Any of the above elements in combination with ?eu or čėci:

Then the giant was killed.

When both the subject and the object slots in a clause are filled the two are distinguished by relative order (see "Predicate Clauses"). When one but not the other is filled, the context determines whether it is an object or a subject slot. A clause may occasionally have two object slots:

The two object slots may be filled by a split compound object as in the example above, or they may be filled by a direct and an indirect object respectively:

# DIRECTIONAL-LOCATIONAL SLOT (D)

A directional-locational slot with its filler specifies the direction taken by an action and/or its location either in an absolute sense or in relation to the speaker. The D slot may be filled by one of the following elements.

# A preposition:

# A directional:

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
D & P \\
\hline
{}^{9}e \text{ su } {}^{9}e \text{ d}^{y}i & \overrightarrow{d} {}^{6}{}^{9}\overrightarrow{e}yv \\
& \text{up they went} \\
Then they went up.}$$

# A referential which includes a locative clitic:

# A phrase belonging to one of the following general types:

# 1. Two prepositions:

# 2. Two directionals:

# 3. A combination of one or more prepositions with one or more directionals:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
 & D & P \\
\hline
 & & & & \\
\hline
 & & & \\
\hline
 & & & &$$

# 4. A preposition plus a referential:

# 5. A verb phrase:

Most clauses occurring with a D slot contain only one such slot. Occasionally, however, a clause occurs with two D slots, one preceding and the other following the P slot:

### TIME SLOT (T)

The grammatical function of a time slot with its filler is to specify the relative time of an action. This slot is usually filled by one of the temporals (see "Function Classes").

The T slot is sometimes filled by a phrase composed of two temporals or of the negative, zázi, plus a temporal:

As in the case of the D slot, a clause may occasionally occur with two T slots, one preceding the P slot and the other following:

### MODIFIER SLOT (M)

A modifier slot with its filler functions as a modifier of the predicate. The filler of this slot is ordinarily a single attributive:

## INTERROGATIVE-MODAL SLOT (I)

An interrogative-modal slot may be filled by a variety of uninflected words classified as either interrogatives or modals (see "Function Classes"). The function of this slot with its filler is to form a question or to reinforce the mode (other than indicative) of the clause.

Interrogative or modal phrases sometimes fill the I slot. These are ordinarily composed of ar interrogative or a modal together with zazi not or ?égu then:

# CONNECTIVE SLOT (C)

The connective slot with its filler occurs in clause-initial position and relates that clause to the preceding one. This slot is filled by one of the following connective particles: gu and, ?e and, ?égu then, ?ésgəsku but, or by the combination ?e ta and thus.

# SEQUENTIAL ORDERING OF FUNCTION SLOTS

The structure of clauses is analyzed here in terms of the sequential ordering of the function slots. The statistical treatment is based on the types of clauses occurring in a sample of text material consisting of myths narrated by one informant. The sample contains about 4,500 words and was transcribed from 55 minutes of recorded narrative.

### PREDICATE CLAUSES

The large majority of clauses in the text are predicate clauses. Of 910 clauses identified in the text there are 868 of this type.

Predicate clauses are built around a predicate slot filled by a verb or verb phrase. The predicate clause may contain only a predicate slot, or it may include a wide variety of slots preceding and/or following the predicate slot. The structure of all predicate clauses in the text is indicated in charts 7 and 8. The former shows the structure of P1 clauses, i.e., clauses in which the predicate slot is filled by a non-future tense verb. P2 clauses, outlined in chart 8, contain verbs in the future tense. Formulas indicate the sequential arrangement of the function slots and employ the following abbreviations:

```
P=Predicate slot
S=Subject slot
O=Object slot
D=Directional-locational slot
T=Time slot
M=Modifier slot
I=Interrogative-modal slot
C=Connective slot
A=Auxiliary slot
```

The number of occurrences of each type of predicate clause in the text is indicated following the formula. Although certain details of the chart are arbitrary, the arrangement of the formulas indicates an increasing complexity from left to right in terms of the number of slots contained in the clause. The slots are introduced in a specific order from top to bottom within each box bounded by solid lines and from left to right across contiguous boxes. This order (P, S, O, D, T, M, I, C) reflects, to some degree, an increasingly peripheral nature of the slots.

		SOP 6	SPO 2	SDOP 1		CSDPO 1
				TSPO 1		
				IOPS 1		CISPO 1
		DSP 12	DSDP 1	DTPS 2	TSPD 1	
		DPS 12	DSPD 1	TDSP 2	TDPS 1	
		SDP 13		TSDP 2		
		SPD 1	SDSP 1	DSMP 1		
	SP 42				IDPS 1	CIDSP 1
	PS 19			ISPD 2		
				CDSP 3	CSDP 2	
		TSP 2	STP 1	CTSP 1		
			TSTP 1	CTPS 1		
			SMP 2	CSMP 1		
		PMS 1				
		ISP 8				
		CSP 5	CPS 2	0.000.00		
		DOP 7	PDO 2	OTDP 1		IDOTP 1
		DPO 5 ODP 8	DOPO 1		IDOPO 1	
		ODI 6			CODP 1	
	0.70.00			CDPO 2		CITTOD 1
	OP 20	TOP 1	TPO 2	IOPT 1		CITOP 1
P 239	PO 14			CTOP 2		
		MOP 1		GTO D A		l
			IOPO 1	CIOP 2		
		IPO 2	CDO 0			
		COP 7	CPO 2	C(T) D Q		ı
		DTP 5 TDP 5	DTPT 1 TDPT 1	CTDP 2		
		DPT 3	IDILI			
	DP 138	MDP 5	MDPM 1	CMDP 1		
	PD 2	DMP 1				
	DPD 2	IDP 6		CIDP 1		
			CPD 1			
	TP 32	CTP 4		CTPM 1		
	PT 1					
	MP 7	IMP 1				
	PM 1	CMP 4	CPM 1			
	IP 16	CIP 2				
	CP 17					
l	·	-				

CHART 7.—P1 Clause Types

				-
		SDPA 1	CSPDA 1	
		DSPA 1		
	SPA 4	ISPA 1		
		IPAS 1		
		OSPA 2		
		ODPA 1	TDPAO 1	CTDPAO 1
		DODPA 1	CODPA 1	CIDOPA 1
	OPA 3	TOPA 1		
		OTPA 1		
		IOPA 3		
PA 22		IPAO 1	CIOPA 1	
	DPA 9	DTPA 1		
	PDA 1	DPAT 2		
	DPDA 1	IDPA 6		
		IPAD 1		
	TPA 3	ITPA 1		
	MPA 1	IPAM 1		
		CMPA 3		
	IPA 8	CIPA 1		
	CPA 3			

CHART 8.—P2 Clause Types

In spite of some freedom of order in the arrangement of slots within the clause there are definite restrictions on their distribution. Considering the slots in the order that they are introduced in the charts following the P slot, the following observations can be made.

The A slot always follows the P slot, usually contiguously. There are a few occurrences, though, of a D slot intervening between the P and A slots (PDA, DPDA and CSPDA).

The S and O slots may each occur either preceding or following the P slot. The S slot and, to a lesser extent, the O slot occur with greater frequency preceding than following the P slot. These slots are generally contiguous to the P slot or separated from it by one another, but occasionally a D, T, or M slot may intervene as in the sequences SDP, OTDP, DSMP, etc.

Most commonly the D slot occurs immediately preceding the P slot or separated from it by an S or O slot, or less frequently by a T or M slot. When not occurring in this position it immediately follows the P slot, or there may be two D slots in the clause, as in the sequences DSDP, DSPD and MDPD.

The distribution of the T and M slots is comparable to that of the D slot. They generally precede, but sometimes immediately follow, the P slot. When preceding the P slot they may be separated from it by an S, O, D, T or M slot. The I and C slots are the most restricted in their distribution. An I slot occurs only clause-initially or preceded by a C slot, while a C slot may occur only in initial position in the clause.

### NON-PREDICATE CLAUSES

Non-predicate clauses are of rather infrequent occurrence in the text, comprising only 42 of the 910 clauses. Of these, the most commonly occurring is the prepositional clause, of which there are 30 in the text.

Of the prepositional clauses, seven consist of a D slot only:

Sixteen are composed of a D slot followed by an S slot:

Four are made up of a D slot preceded by an S slot:

In addition, there is one clause of the type CD and two of the type CDS:

There are ten 'eu clauses in the text. These all contain an S slot either introduced or closed by the particle 'eu. In this context 'eu may be translated as it was or there was.

All but one of the 'eu clauses is composed entirely of an S slot. The one exception has a C slot preceding the S slot:

There was one special mule.

There are only two interrogative clauses in the text, but such clauses are more common in ordinary conversation than this sampling would indicate. An interrogative clause consists uniformly of an I slot followed by an S slot:

### INDEPENDENT VERSUS DEPENDENT CLAUSES

Most clauses are independent clauses and as such may stand alone as full sentences. A dependent clause, on the other hand, never occurs in isolation but is closely linked to a contiguous independent clause. Three types of dependent clauses are identified in the text:

- 1. Prepositional clauses:
  - di? bénísdé no It was down here on the west side.
- 2. Clauses introduced by a C slot filled by gu and:
  gu <sup>?</sup>íska <sup>?</sup>eu su čá<sup>?</sup>áubənai<sup>?</sup>I And he put one of them in (his pocket).
- 3. Clauses introducing or closing a quotation:

  dyéineta ?eu dyá·mí The eagle said.

Clauses introduced by gu differ from those introduced by other connectives in that they presuppose a preceding clause to which they are linked:

Clauses introduced by ?ésgəsku or other connectives, on the other hand, may stand alone as independent clauses:

# SUPRACLAUSE STRUCTURE

In this section the clause will be examined within the context of longer stretches of speech. Certain elements will first be described which are not considered to be an integral part of any clause. This will be followed by a consideration of the position of dependent clauses within larger syntactic units.

### FRAGMENT UTTERANCES

Certain words or short sequences of words occur both in narrative and in conversation which may be spoken in isolation, but which are meaningless apart from the context in which they are spoken. The fragment may be semantically dependent on the immediate linguistic context or on the non-linguistic context.

Fragment utterances are most commonly exclamations or short answers to questions. They do not occupy a definable slot within a clause or larger unit and are themselves too brief for syntactic analysis. The following are examples of the 103 fragment utterances occurring in the text:

ha· Yes.
hiná O.K.
he What?

'eu he Is that so?
mo· na ṣu Let's go!
hawi· Here!
wó-'é Thanks.

### COMPLEX SENTENCES

The narrative text on which this analysis is based consists, for the most part, of a series of independent clauses, each of which is in itself a complete structural unit. Since each independent clause is a complete sentence and is, in general, relatively brief, a Santa Ana narrative appears highly fragmented as compared with English.

There are in the text two types of complex sentences, each composed of an independent clause with one or more dependent clauses. The first type of complex sentence is composed of an independent clause followed by one or more dependent clauses of the type introduced by the connective gu. There are 43 sentences of this type in the text, including the following example:

independent clause	dependent clause
<sup>?</sup> ai şu <sup>?</sup> e <sup>?</sup> íska čá <sup>?</sup> áucáyuca	gu ?íska ?eu su čá?áubənai?ı
one he broke it	and one he put it in
Then he broke one and put one	in (his pocket).

The second type of complex sentence is composed of an independent clause preceded or followed by one or more prepositional clauses. There are 27 occurrences of this type of sentence in the text, including the following examples:

independent clause	dependent clause
?e şu ?e şu si yúku zùku ?eu sandiyâ·ku	?ai dí?ái pákacisu
back away he went St. James	there gully
Then St. James went away again into the g	ully,

dependent	claus	e				dependent	
dúwé∙ d <sup>y</sup> ídi				bánísdé		kúdaiskərə	
this way north	down	river	here	west side	down	round-top	there

independent clause

dí?ái dyá.?âu?u háçaze.za gu čâukui-ṣanu there they lived man and his wife

On the west side of the river flowing from the north at Roundtop Mesa there lived a man and his wife.

### QUOTATIONS

Of the three types of dependent clauses described on page 139, two occur as parts of the complex sentences discussed above. The third type is that which introduces or closes a quotation and is ordinarily translated by such expressions as he said, he said to him, etc. The occurrence of these clauses closely parallels the English equivalents in that they may precede or follow the quotation, or they may be omitted entirely.

quotational clause independent clause su ?e su ?e dacikuva su náizi? si he said to him will lie Then he said to him, "I am going to lie down." fragment utterance quotational clause % su % su hiná dyéineta ?eu sandivâ·ku O.K. he said St. James "O.K.," said St. James.

Quotations are sometimes preceded and followed by dependent quotational clauses:

quotational clause

şu 'e 'eu d'á·mí 'e čáza hiná d'éinetA

eagle he said O.K. he said

Then the eagle said, "O.K."

Constructions such as these are not regarded as complex sentences because dependent quotational clauses may be linked not only to a single fragment or independent clause but, in extended quotations, to a whole series of sentences, some of which may themselves be complex.



# APPENDIX 1. VERB PARADIGMS TRANSITIVE VERB PRIMARY PARADIGMS

### CLASS A

	INDICATIVE	HC	RTATIVE
síukàica sú kàica	I hit him you hit him	1	me hit him him
gú kàica	he hit him	~ ·	him hit him
zíukàica sáukàica	he (4th person) hit him I hit you	p̃íukàica let	him (4th person) hit
d <sup>y</sup> ú·kàica	you hit me	șáukaica <i>let</i>	me hit you
sgú∙kàica	he hit me	gú-kàica hit	me
gúzú·kàica	he hit you	núzú-kàica let	him hit me
		zú·kàicA let	him hit you
	NEGATIVE	NEGATI	VE HORTATIVE
zázi sgú kàio	EA I didn't hit him	bâ∙mí∙ níukàic∧	let me not hit him
zázi sú kaica	you didn't hit him	bâ∙mí∙ sgú•kàicA	don't hit him
zázi gú kàic	he didn't hit him	bâ·mí∙ píukàica	let him not hit him
zázi zíukáic	he (4th person) didn't hit him	bâ·mí∙ p̃íukàicA	let him (4th person) not hit him
zázi sáukáic	A I didn't hit you	bâ∙mí∙ ṣáukàicA	let me not hit you
zázi d <sup>y</sup> ú kàic		bâ∙mí∙ gú•kàicA	
zázi sdyú kà	ica he didn't hit me	bâ⋅mí∙ núzú⋅kàic	A let him not hit me

zázi gúzú-kàica he didn't hit you bâ-mí-sd-ú-kàica let him not hit you

### DUBITATIVE

tíukàica	maybe I hit him
çú·kàica	maybe you hit him
d <sup>y</sup> ú·kàica	maybe he hit him
díukàica	maybe he (4th person)
	hit him
záukàica	maybe I hit you
d <sup>y</sup> ú·kàica	maybe you hit me
tú zú·kàic A	maybe he hit me
d <sup>y</sup> ú <b>zú·k</b> àica	maybe he hit you

INDICATIVE

# FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba níukàica	let me hit him (in the
	future)
ba çú·kàicA	hit him
ba píukàica	let him hit him
ba píukàica	let him (4th person)
•	hit him
ba záukáica	let me hit you
ba dyú-kàica	hit me
ba núzú·kàicA	let him hit me
ha dyúzú,kájes	let him hit you

HORTATIVE

### CLASS B

III DIOILII V B			***************************************		
sèku	I bit him	kàku	let me bite him		
şàku	you bit him	pàku	bite him		
gàku	he bit him	pèku	let him bite him		
ċàku	he (4th person) bit him	pèku	let him (4th person) bite him		
šàku	I bit you	šàku	let me bite you		
čàku	you bit me	kaku	bite me		
skaku	he bit me	názáku	let him bite me		
gázáku	he bit you	zàku	let him bite you		

### NEGATIVE

# I didn't bite him zázi sgàku zázi sáku you didn't bite him zázi gàku he didn't bite him zázi càku he (4th person) did he (4th person) didn't bite himzázi šàku I didn't bite you zázi čàku you didn't bite me zázi sčáku he didn't bite me

zázi gázáku he didn't bite you

### DUBITATIVE

tèku	maybe I bit him
çàku	maybe you bit him
dyàku	maybe he bit him
tàku	maybe he (4th person) bit him
çaku	maybe I bit you
čaku	maybe you bit me
tázáku	maybe he bit me
d <sup>y</sup> ázàku	maybe he bit you

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí∙ nèku	let me not bite him
bâ·mí∙ sgàku	don't bite him
bâ·mí· pèku	let him not bite him
bâ·mí• þèku	let him (4th person) not bite him
bâ·mí∙ şaku	let me not bite you
bâ·mí∙ kàku	don't bite me
bâ·mí názàku	let him not bite me
bâ∙mí∙ sťàku	let him not bite you

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nèku	let me bite him (in the future)
ba çàku	bite me
ba pèku	let him bite him
ba pèku	let him (4th person) bite
	him
ba çaku	let me bite you
ba čàku	bite me
ba názàku	let him bite me
ba d <sup>y</sup> ázàku	let him bite you

### CLASS C

### INDICATIVE

ċí·zúwa	I paid him
ší•zúwa	you paid him
zí·zúwa	he paid him
șáizúwa	I paid you
čúizúwa	you paid me
skúizúwa	he paid me
gə́dí∙zúwA	he paid you

### NEGATIVE

zázi sd <sup>y</sup> í·zúwa	I didn't pay him
zázi ší·zúwa	you didn't pay him
zázi zí·zúwa	he didn't pay him
zázi sáizúwa	I didn't pay you
zázi čúizúwa	you didn't pay me
zázi sčí·zúwa	he didn't pay me
zázi gédí·zúwa	he didn't pay you

### DUBITATIVE

tí·zúwa	maybe I paid him
cí·zúwa	maybe you paid him
dí∙zúwa	maybe he paid him
çáizúwa	maybe I paid you
čúizúwa	maybe you paid me
tádí•zúwa	maybe he paid me
d <sup>y</sup> ídí∙zúwa	maybe he paid you

### HORTATIVE

káizúwa	let me pay him
pí∙zúwa	$pay\ him$
ṗí∙zúwA	let him pay him
șáizúwa	let me pay you
kúizúwa	pay me
nédí∙zúwA	let him pay me
dí∙zúwA	let him pay you

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí∙ 'ní∙zúwa	let me not pay him
bâ∙mí∙ sd <sup>y</sup> í∙zúwa	don't pay him
bâ·mí∙ ṗí∙zúwa	let him not pay him
bâ∙mí∙ sáizúwa	let me not pay you
bâ∙mí• kúizúwa	don't pay me
bâ∙mí• nédí•zúwA	let him not pay me
bâ·mí∙ sčí∙zúwa	let him not pay you

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

2010	
ba <b>'ní·zú</b> wa	let me pay him (in the future)
ba cí·zúwa	pay him
ba ṗí∙zúwa	let him pay him
ba çáizúwa	let me pay you
ba <b>č</b> úizúwa	pay me
ba nédí·zúwa	let him pay me
ba d³ídí∙zúwa	let him pay you

INDICATIVE

čá?àku maybe he bit himself

HORTATIVE

### CLASS D

$\dot{ m c}$ ì ${ m i}{ m d}{ m i}$	gave it to him	kàudi <i>let m</i>	ne give it to him
šìudi yo	u gave it to him	pìudi give	it to him
zìudi he	gave it to him		im give it to him
$\dot{s}$ àudi $I$	gave it to you	šàudi <i>let m</i>	ne give it to you
dyùdi yo	u gave it to me		it to me
_	gave it to me	nádìudi <i>let h</i> :	im give it to me
gə́dìudi he	gave it to you	diudi let h	im give it to you
	NEGATIVE	NEGA	TIVE HORTATIVE
zázi sdyìudi	I didn't give it to him	bâ∙mí∙ niudi	let me not give it to him
zázi šìudi?	you didn't give it to him	bâ∙mí∙ sd <sup>y</sup> ìudi	don't give it to him
zázi zìudi?	he didn't give it to him	bâ∙mí• pìudi	let him not give it to him
zázi šàudi?	I didn't give it to you	bâ∙mí∙ şàudi	let me not give it to you
zázi d <sup>y</sup> ùdi?	you didn't give it to me	bâ∙mí∙ gùdi	don't give it to me
zázi sd <sup>y</sup> ùdi?	he didn't give it to me	bâ·mí· nédìudi	
zázi gédiudi	? he didn't give it to you	bâ∙mí∙ sṫùdi	let him not give it to you
	DUBITATIVE	FUTU	JRE HORTATIVE
<b>t</b> ìudi m	aybe I gave it to him	ba niudi l	et me give it to him (1n the future)
ciudi m	aybe you gave it to him	ba ciudi g	ive it to him
dludi m	aybe he gave it to him	ba piudi le	et him give it to him
	aybe I gave it to you	ba çàudi le	et me give it to you
	aybe you gave it to me	ba d <sup>y</sup> ùdi g	ive it to me
	aybe he gave it to me	ba nádřudí le	et him give it to me
$d^{y}idiudi$ $m$	aybe he gave it to you	ba d <sup>y</sup> ídìudi le	et him give it to you
	TRANSITIVE VERB SEC	CONDARY PAI	RADIGMS
	REFLI	EXIVE	
	INDICATIVE	1	HORTATIVE
šàku I l	oit myself	ká?àku let m	e bite myself
	u bit yourself	,	jourself
	bit himself	pá?àku <i>let hi</i>	m bite himself
	NEGATIVE	NEGAT	TIVE HORTATIVE
zázi ská?àku	I didn't bite myself	bâ·mí∙ ňàku	let me not bite myself
zázi šàku	you didn't bite your-	bâ⋅mí∙ ská?àku	•
	self	bâ·mí∙ pá?àku	
zázi ká?áku	he didn't bite himself		self
	DUBITATIVE	FUTU	RE HORTATIVE
tá?àku ma	ybe I bit myself	ba naku let	me bite myself (in the
çá?àku ma	ybe you bit yourself		future)
Y / 9 \ 1	. h . L . L'4 L' 16	h = - 4931 1-2	10

ba çá?àku bite yourself

ba pá?aku let him bite himself

### PASSIVE

### INDICATIVE

ská?àgune I was bitten šá?àgunE you were bitten ćá?agunE he was bitten

### NEGATIVE

zázi sčá?àgunE I wasn't bitten zázi šá?àgunE you weren't bitten zázi cá?àgunE he wasn't bitten

### DUBITATIVE

té?ègune maybe I was bitten cá?àgunE maybe you were bitten tá?àgune maybe he was bitten

### HORTATIVE

né?ègunE let me be bitten zá?àgunE be bitten pé?ègune let him be bitten

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· né?ègune let me not be bitten bâ·mí· sčá?àgune don't be bitten bâ·mí· pé?ègune let him not be bitten

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba né?ègune let me be bitten (in the future) be bitten ba cá?àguhE ba pé?ègune let him be bitten

### INTRANSITIVE VERB PARADIGMS

### CLASS 1-1

### INDICATIVE

síuyá I skinned it súyá you skinned it gúyá he skinned it

### NEGATIVE

zázi sgúyá I didn't skin it you didn't skin it zázi súyá he didn't skin it zázi gúvá

### DUBITATIVE

tíuyá maybe I skinned it maybe you skinned it cúyá dyúvá maybe he skinned it

### HORTATIVE

káuyá let me skin it púyá skin it píyuyá let him skin it

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· káuyá let me not skin it bâ·mí· sgúvá don't skin it bâ·mí· píyuyá let him not skin it

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

let me skin it (in the ba níuyá future) skin it ba çúyá ba píyúyá let him skin it

### CLASS 1-3

Class 1-3 verbs are inflected like those of Class 1-1 except that allomorph 114H occurs in the second person hortative:

### ?àsk A drink it

### CLASS 1-16

### INDICATIVE

sìku I am located såku you are located gåku he is located

### NEGATIVE

zázi sgáku I am not located zázi sáku you are not located zázi gáku he is not located

### HORTATIVE

kåku let me be located zaku be located pí?ìku let him be located

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· kaku let me not be located bâ·mí· sgàku don't be located bâ·mí· pí?ìku let him not be located

### DUBITATIVE

tí<sup>?</sup>iku maybe I am located çåku maybe you are located d<sup>y</sup>åku maybe he is located

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nìku let me be located (in the future)
ba çaku be located
ba pí<sup>2</sup>ìku let him be located

### CLASS 1-17

### INDICATIVE

šíuyâ·ňe we skinned it súyâ·ňe you all skinned it gúyâ·ňe they skinned it

# NEGATIVE

zázi sgúyâ·ňe we didn't skin it zázi súyâ·ňe you all didn't skin it zázi gúyâ·ňe they didn't skin it

### DUBITATIVE

tíỷúyâ·ne maybe we skinned it cúyâ·ne maybe you all skinned it d'úyâ·ne maybe they skinned it

### HORTATIVE

nı́uyâ·ne let us skin it púyâ·ne skin it (you all) pı́yuyâ·ne let them skin it

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí níuyâ·ne let us not skin it bâ·mí sgúyâ·ne don't skin it (you all)

bâ·mí· píỷúyâ·nE let them not skin it

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba níuyâ-ne let us skin it (in the future)
ba çúyâ-ne skin it (you all)
ba píyuyâ-ne let them skin it

### CLASS 1-18

Class 1-18 verbs are inflected like those of Class 1-17 except that allomorphs 104Q and 105Q occur in the first person hortative and negative hortative:

sťíuyâ·na let us two skin it

### CLASS 2-23

### INDICATIVE

sózâ·?ApE we ate gózâ·?ApE you all ate gâ·?ApE they ate

### NEGATIVE

zázi sgâ·?APE we didn't eat zázi gázî·?APE you all didn't eat zázi gâ·?APE they didn't eat

### DUBITATIVE

tázâ. APE maybe we ate dyázâ. APE maybe you all ate dyâ. APE maybe they ate

### HORTATIVE

nózâ.? Ape let us eat zâ.? Ape eat (you all) pâ.? Ape let them eat

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· nóṣâ·?APE let us not cat bâ·mí· sgâ·?APE don't eat (you all) bâ·mí· pâ·?APE let them not eat

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba názâ. Ape let us eat (in the future) ba dyázâ. Ape eat (you all) ba pâ. Ape let them eat

### CLASS 2-24

Class 2-24 verbs are inflected like those of Class 2-23 except that allomorphs 104M and 105M occur in the first person hortative and negative hortative:

šâ. ? Abe let us two eat

### CLASS 3-27

### INDICATIVE

sgúwa·sa I am sick gúzúwa·sa you are sick zíwa·sa he is sick

### NEGATIVE

zázi sdyíwa·sa? I am not sick zázi gúzúwa·sa? you are not sick zázi zíwa·sa? he is not sick

### DUBITATIVE

túzúwa·sa maybe I am sick d<sup>y</sup>úzúwa·sa maybe you are sick díwa·sa maybe he is sick

### HORTATIVE

núzúwa·sa let me be sick zúwa·sa be sick píwa·sa let him be sick

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· núzúwa·sa let me not be sick bâ·mí· sd\*íwa·sa don't be sick bâ·mí· píwa·sa let him not be sick

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba núzúwa-sa let me be sick (in the future)
ba dyúzúwa-sa be sick
ba píwa-sa let him be sick

### CLASS 4-3

### INDICATIVE

sìukai I am satisfied súkái you are satisfied kúkái he is satisfied

### NEGATIVE

zázi skúkái I am not satisfied zázi súkái you are not satisfied zázi kúkái he is not satisfied

### DUBITATIVE

tìuk AI maybe I am satisfied çúk ái maybe you are satisfied čúk ái maybe he is satisfied

### HORTATIVE

kàukai let me be satisfied <sup>9</sup>úkái be satisfied piukái let him be satisfied

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· kàukai let me not be satisfied bâ·mí· skúkái don't be satisfied bâ·mí· piukái let him not be satisfied

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nìukai let me be satisfied (in the future)
ba cúkái be satisfied
ba piukái let him be satisfied

### CLASS 4-5

### INDICATIVE

### NEGATIVE

zázi skí zèca I didn't run zázi ší zèca you didn't run zázi kí zèca he didn't run

### DUBITATIVE

tizàca maybe I ran cizàca maybe you ran čizàca maybe he ran

### HORTATIVE

kizàca let me run tizàca run pizàca let him run

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· kizàca let me not run bâ·mí· skizàca don't run bâ·mí· pizàca let him not run

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nizôca let me run (in the future) ba cizôca run ba pizôca let him run

### CLASS 5-2

### INDICATIVE

síwî·teya I worshiped súwî·teya you worshiped kúwî·teya he worshiped

NEGATIVE

zázi skúwî·teya I didn't worship zázi súwî·teya you didn't worship zázi kúwî·teya he didn't worship

DUBITATIVE

tíwî·teya maybe I worshiped çúwî·teya maybe you worshiped čúwî·teya maybe he worshiped HORTATIVE

kúwî·teya let me worship čúwî·teya worship púwî·teya let him worship

NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· kúwî·teya let me not worship bâ·mí· skúwî·teya don't worship bâ·mí· púwî·teya let him not worship

FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba níwî·teya let me worship (in the future)
ba çúwî·teya worship

ba púwiteya let him worship

### CLASS 5-8

INDICATIVE

supe I ate supe you ate kupe he ate

NEGATIVE

zázi skůpe I didn't eat zázi sůpe you didn't eat zázi kůpe he didn't eat

DUBITATIVE

tupe maybe I ate cupe maybe you ate dyupe maybe he ate HORTATIVE

kupe let me eat čupe eat pupe let him eat

NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· kửpE let me not eat bâ·mí· skửpE don't eat bâ·mí· pửpE let him not eat

FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nupe let me eat (in the future)
ba cupe eat
ba pupe let him eat

### CLASS 5-9

Class 5-9 is inflected like Class 5-8 except that allomorphs 104G and 105G occur in the first person hortative and negative hortative:

núwatâ·nizane let us work

### CLASS 5-10

Class 5-10 differs from Classes 5-8 and 5-9 in that it takes allomorphs 104M and 105M in the first person hortative and negative hortative:

šútâ·nizana let us two work

### CLASS 6-3

### INDICATIVE

sê·ni I walked ṣâ·ni you walked kâ·ni he walked

### NEGATIVE

zázi skâ·ni I didn't walk zázi sâ·ni you didn't walk zázi kâ·ni he didn't walk

### DUBITATIVE

tê·ni maybe I walked çâ·ni maybe you walked čâ·ni maybe he walked

### INDICATIVE

sáza I said góçaza you said káza he said

### NEGATIVE

zázi skáza I didn't say zázi gścaza you didn't say zázi káza he didn't say

### DUBITATIVE

táza maybe I said d<sup>y</sup>óçAza maybe you said čáza maybe he said

### INDICATIVE

# ša it is mine gázá it is yours

ka it is his sa you are mine

### NEGATIVE

zázi ska it isn't mine zázi gózá it isn't yours zázi ka it isn't his zázi ša you aren't mine

### DUBITATIVE

ta maybe it is mine d<sup>y</sup>ó zá maybe it is yours ča maybe it is his ča maybe you are mine

### HORTATIVE

kâ·ni let me walk ?â·ni walk

pê·ni let him walk

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· kâ·ni let me not walk bâ·mí· skâ·ni don't walk bâ·mí· ṗê·ni let him not walk

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nê·ni let me walk (in the future) ba çâ·ni walk ba pê·ni let him walk

### HORTATIVE

káza let me say záza say páza let him say

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· káza let me not say bâ·mí· skáza don't say bâ·mí· páza let him not say

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba náza let me say (in the future) ba d<sup>y</sup>óçaza say ba páza let him say

### CLASS 7-15

CLASS 7-13

### HORTATIVE

na let it be mine za let it be yours pa let it be his sa be mine

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· na let it not be mine bâ·mí· ska let it not be yours bâ·mí· pa let it not be his bâ·mí· sa don't be mine

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba na let it be mine (in the future) ba d<sup>y</sup>ózá let it be yours

ba dyózá let it be yours ba pa let it be his ba ça be mine

### CLASS 8-14

### INDICATIVE

### HORTATIVE

śúd <sup>y</sup> aši	$I\ fasted$
gúzúd <sup>y</sup> ašı	$you\ fasted$
gáudyaši	$he\ fasted$

kú<sup>?</sup>úd<sup>y</sup>aši let me fast zúd<sup>y</sup>aši fast páud<sup>y</sup>aši let him fast

### NEGATIVE

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

zázi sgáud<sup>3</sup>aši I didn't fast zázi gúzúd<sup>3</sup>aši you didn't fast zázi gáud<sup>3</sup>aši he didn't fast bâ·mí· kú?úd³ašı let me not fast bâ·mí· sgáud³ašı don't fast bâ·mí· páud³ašı let him not fast

### DUBITATIVE

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

tú?údyaši maybe I fasted

ba n'údyašı let me fast (in the future)

dyúzúdyaši maybe you fasted dyáudyaši maybe he fasted ba d<sup>y</sup>úzúd<sup>y</sup>ašı fast ba páud<sup>y</sup>ašı let him fast

### CLASS 9-11

### INDICATIVE

### HORTATIVE

sáudi I planted sáudi you planted ká?áudi he planted

ká<sup>9</sup>áudi let me plant čáudi plant pá<sup>9</sup>áudi let him plant

### NEGATIVE

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

zázi ská?áudi I didn't plant zázi śáudi you didn't plant zázi ká?áudi he didn't plant bâ·mí· ká?áudi let me not plant bâ·mí· ská?áudi don't plant bâ·mí· pá?áudi let him not plant

### DUBITATIVE

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

tá?áudi maybe I planted çá?áudi maybe you planted čá?áudi maybe he planted ba naudi let me plant (in the future)
ba ça?audi plant
ba pa?audi let him plant

### CLASS 9-12

Class 9-12 verbs differ from those of Class 9-11 in that allomorphs 104N and 105N occur in the first person hortative and negative hortative:

saudima let us two plant

### CLASS 10-6

### INDICATIVE

### HORTATIVE

sí·ba?tu I slept ší·ba?tu you slept zí·ba?tu he slept káiba<sup>?</sup>tu let me sleep <sup>?</sup>í·ba<sup>?</sup>tu sleep pí<sup>?</sup>í·ba<sup>?</sup>tu let him sleep

### NEGATIVE

# NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

zázi sd<sup>s</sup>í·ba<sup>?</sup>tu I didn't sleep zázi ší·ba<sup>?</sup>tu you didn't sleep zázi zí·ba<sup>?</sup>tu he didn't sleep bâ·mí· káiba²tu let me not sleep bâ·mí· sdʰí·ba²tu don't sleep bâ·mí· píʔí·ba²tu let him not sleep

682-611-64--14

### DUBITATIVE

# tí·ba<sup>?</sup>tu maybe I slept cí·ba<sup>?</sup>tu maybe you slept dí·ba<sup>?</sup>tu maybe he slept

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba ní·ba<sup>?</sup>tu let me sleep (in the future)
ba cí·ba<sup>?</sup>tu sleep
ba pí<sup>?</sup>í·ba<sup>?</sup>tu let him sleep

### CLASS 10-7

### INDICATIVE

<b>ċ</b> íkupawa	I $chopped$
šíkupawa	you chopped
zíkupawa	he chopped

### HORTATIVE

kákupawa let me chop píkupawa chop píkupawa let him chop

### NEGATIVE

zázi sd <sup>y</sup> íkupawa	I didn't chop
zázi šíkupawa	you didn't chop
zázi zíkupawa	he didn't chop

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· kákupawa let me not chop bâ·mí· sd³íkupawa don't chop bâ·mí· pikupawa let him not chop

### DUBITATIVE

tíkupawa	maybe	I chopped
cíkupawa	maybe	you chopped
díkupawa	maybe	he chopped

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nikupawa let me chop (in the future)
ba cikupawa chop
ba pikupawa let him chop

### CLASS 10-21

### INDICATIVE

sikupawane	we chopped
šíkupawane	you all chopped
zíkupawańE	they chopped

### HORTATIVE

nikupawańe let us chop píkupawańe chop (you all) pikupawańe let them chop

### NEGATIVE

zázi sd <sup>y</sup> íkupawańe	$we \ didn'$	$t \ chop$
zázi šíkupawane	you all	didn't
	chop	
zázi zíkunawaňE	they didn	't chon

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· nikupawaňe let us not chop bâ·mí· sd<sup>\*</sup>íkupawaňe don't chop (you all)

bâ·mi· pikupawane let them not chop

### DUBITATIVE

tikupawane	maybe we chopped
cíkupawane	maybe you all chopped
díkupawane	maybe he chopped

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nikupawańe let us chop (in the future)
ba cíkupawańe chop (you all)
ba pikupawańe let them chop

### CLASS 10-22

Class 10-22 verbs are inflected like those of Class 10-21 except that allomorphs 104P and 105P occur in the first person hortative and negative hortative:

stikupawana let us two chop

### CLASS 11-25

### INDICATIVE

### HORTATIVE

sádéku	we went
gédéku	you all went
zėkU	they went

náděku let us go děku go (you all) pěku let them go

### NEGATIVE

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

zázi sd <sup>y</sup> éku	$we\ didn't\ go$
zázi gódeku	you all didn't go
zázi zéku	they didn't go

bâ·mí· náděku let us not go bâ·mí· sdyéku don't go (you all) bâ·mí· pėku let them not go

### DUBITATIVE

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

tádéku	maybe we went
d <sup>y</sup> ídéku	maybe you all went
dėku	maybe they went

ba nóděku let us go (in the future) ba d<sup>y</sup>íděku go (you all) ba pěku let them go

### CLASS 11-26

Class 11-26 verbs differ from those of Class 11-25 in that they occur with allomorphs 104O and 105O in the first person hortative and negative hortative:

sté?èyu let us two go

### CLASS 12-27

### INDICATIVE

### HORTATIVE

sgâ·nawanı	I am mean
gázâ∙nawanı	you are mean
ċâ·nawanı	he is mean

nó zâ·nawanı let me be mean zâ·nawanı be mean pê·nawanı let him be mean

### NEGATIVE

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

zázi sửa·nawanı I am not mean zázi góza·nawanı you are not mean zázi câ·nawanı he is not mean bâ·mí· nó zâ·nawanı let me not be mean bâ·mí· scá·nawanı don't be mean bâ·mí· pê·nawanı let him not be mean

# DUBITATIVE

maybe I am mean

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

d√ózâ·nawanı *maybe you are mean* 

ba nó zâ·nawanı let me be mean (in the future) ba d<sup>y</sup>ó zâ·nawanı be mean

d<sup>y</sup>əza·nawanı *maybe you are mean* tâ·nawanı *maybe he is mean*  ba dyózánawani be mean ba pênawani let him be mean

### CLASS 13-28

### INDICATIVE

### HORTATIVE

skùikai I lay down gádìkai you lay down cìkai he lay down

tázâ·nawanı

nádíkai let me lie down díkai lie down píkai let him lie down

### NEGATIVE

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

zázi sčíkai I didn't lie down zázi gódíkai you didn't lie down zázi číkai he didn't lie down bâ·mí· nódìkai let me not lie down bâ·mí· sčìkai don't lie down bâ·mí· ṗìkai let him not lie down

### DUBITATIVE

### tádìkai maybe I lay down

dyídìkai tìkai maybe he lay down

maybe you lay down

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nédìkai let me lie down (in the

future)

ba dyídìkai lie down ba pìkai let him lie down

### **CLASS 14-4**

### INDICATIVE

sî·cA I did it šî·ca vou did it cî ca he did it

### NEGATIVE

zázi sčî·ca I didn't do it uou didn't do it zázi šî·ca zázi cî·ca he didn't do it

### DUBITATIVE

tî ca maybe I did it cî·ca maybe you did it tî·ca maybe he did it

### HORTATIVE

kâica let me do it do it pî·ça pí?î·ça let him do it

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· kâiça let me not do it don't do it bâ·mí· sčî·ca bâ·mí· pí?î·ça let him not do it

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nî·ca let me do it (in the future) ba cî·ca do it ba pí?î.ça let him do it

### CLASS 14-19

### INDICATIVE

śî·za·ne we did it you all did it šî·za·nE cî·za·nE they did it

### NEGATIVE

zázi sčî za ne we didn't do it zázi šî·za·ńE you all didn't do it they didn't do it zázi cî·za·ne

### DUBITATIVE

maybe we did it tí?î·za·nE cî·za·nE maybe you all did it tî·za·nE maybe they did it

### HORTATIVE

nî za ne let us do it do it (you all) pî·za·ne pí?î·za·nE let them do it

### NEGATIVE HORTATIVE

bâ·mí· nî·za·ne let us not do it bâ·mí· sčî·za·nE don't do it (you all) bâ·mí· pí?î·za·ne let them not do it

### FUTURE HORTATIVE

ba nî za ne let us do it (in the future) ba cî·za·ne do it (you all) ba pí?î·za·ne let them do it

### CLASS 14-20

Class 14-20 verbs differ from those of Class 14-19 in that they take allomorphs 104Q and 105Q in the first person hortative and negative hortative:

stî za na let us two do it

### APPENDIX 2. TEXT 7

<sup>7</sup> Superior numbers in Indian text are explained on pages 163-164.

eagle

he attacked

attack

P P şu dá?ácinu. 71 / ?ai şu čáwáiniya 72 / ?e şu ?eu sandiyâ.ku 4 he arrived they fought St. James 0 dyáuču 74 / hìsgai 73 he had knife ?eu şu ?e şu hé·ýá-ši şu ?e ?eu du higâ·ntı čádyá·še-ši dídyáwa/dí?ái with it this giant his (eagle) he stabbed there şu <sup>?</sup>e şu čá<sup>?</sup>àudapa-d<sup>y</sup>anu / şu <sup>?</sup>e yúwé· nə şu <sup>?</sup>e d<sup>y</sup>û·za·ča <sup>?</sup>eu du they killed him this way down he fell this higâ-ntı dyá-mí čádyá-še / şu e ?áisí şu e şu dé?èyu / şu e şu giant eagle his there they went há di na yúwé şu e nádé èyu eu ai há di higa nti da ma where down this way will go where giant he dwells sčá?á·sti·ça / ?áisí dyâ·ma / şu ?e ?ai Bendá·na dyáwizanīsu / ?eu there he dwells window he was there ?áisí d<sup>v</sup>i d<sup>v</sup>á·mí şu ?e čúgúya / şu ?e ?eu sandiyâ·ku čėcı şu yúku St. James also away there up eagle he sat na čúgúyanu. / su e aisí dyi čúgúya / su e eu du sandiyâ.ku there up he sat this St. James dyá·mí háwé· tíyú·zé·yáne ?e dácikuya / dísí ba čúyû·kami/ eagle this way he lead he said to him here future wait for me há né dúké kàigá / şu ?e hiná dyéineta ?eu dyá mí / let me there look O.K. he said eagle şu 'e yúké şu 'e háwé şa dígâ nikuya 'eu sandiyâ ku / yúké that way this way around he looked St. James that way háwé dígâ nikuya / háwé Bendá na şa nə čínės / şu e zázi this way he looked this way window around down he peered not ?íte dyúbənu. / ?égəsku ?eu sai dá?â. ?a zi címascêica-ši / ?eu

şu ?e ta şu ?e ?eu ?ai há·di / hau? dá?ácī ?eu ?ai há·di caukui-şanu thus where near he came where his wife gasî·kī ?ai dyaku / şu ?e ?eu dya·še ?e şu ?e dìṣaca / şu ?e king she was her name he called

all it is shut thing iron with

able to be entered but

čáiskó-?açai ?eu gasî-ki čâukui-şanu / he dyéineta / şu ?e ?eu king his wife what she said şáiỷêiba·te híşu / gázá·zá ?eu skúyanikuya dúwé· si ?údî·ye / I look for you you your husband he told me this way back to get şu ?e ?e dyéińcła / ?eu he / ?égu gúwa· sa níuma si / higâ·ntī she said all right then how back will I get out ?á?á·ťáwi yúké· yu? há·di dyaku / ?eu nu· ká?á·teya / that way there where it is only he has zázi hínu ská?á·teya / gúwa· ?égu sa núzû·ma / şu ?e ?eu gasî·kī will get I have how then back not king čâukui-şanu ?e čáza / dúwái dúsí né?éci gu kúimí hácu màgu/ she said this way will come he in a little while háyéi ba há di čúisgumaša / dúsí zá?ácinu / ?e su há wíná náud v somewhere right away will know there future back he arrives gu / şu <sup>?</sup>e hiná d<sup>y</sup>éineta / şu <sup>?</sup>e <sup>?</sup>eu si yúku zùd<sup>y</sup>u şu yú<sup>?</sup>ái há·di O.K. he said back away he went there somewhere he čůisgumaša / şu ?e şu dúwé· şu si čâ·ničad Aya / ?ésgəsku nə kášanu·/ this way back he was coming but down he stepped he hid şu ?e şu há?áci· wókowokodya/şu ?emí şu čá?áudyu/mmm dyéineta/ it shook he said earth already he knew hau di? zi gaku / dyéińeta ?eu higâ·ntı / şu ?e ?eu gasî·kı who here thing he is he said giant čâukui-şanu ?e čáza / zázi há·di hau gàku gu zázi há·di she said not somewhere who he is and not somewhere who ská?àtıšaniguvańa-di / su ?e ?eu gasî·kı čâukui-şanu higâ·ntı we talk to each other king his wife <sup>?</sup>e dácikuya / mí·ná šásbanasumanu·/ yu· d<sup>y</sup>ídíčáyuma/

mí·ná ṣásbanaṣuṁanu·/ṣu ²eỷu· mé ²é· núỷúċīd vi·ca çu ráwá· /
let me I wash your head maybe thus will rest you good
gu ní·ba ²tu çu / ṣu ²e hiná ²égu / d véineta ²eu higâ·ntī / ṣu ²e ²eu ṣu
and will sleep you O.K. then he said giant

she said to him let me I wash your head maybe you are tired

čá?âuwıspa·ziwita ?ai du gasî·kı čâukui-şanu / şu ?e şu háiku şu she made suds this king his wife when tá?ásbanasumane / ?eu du higâ·nti ?eu tá?ásba nasumane / his head was washed his head was washed this giant şu ?e şu dí·ba?tv / şu ?e ?eu du gasî·kı čâukui-şanu şu ?e ?eu this giant his wife dyùbéuca sandiyâ·ku / dúwé· şu gàitı si ?í·ma / şu zí·ba?tu / şu ?e she called St. James this way come on back come he sleeps ?eu ?ai su ?e díube·ta / su ?eu yúké· kú·tí ?e zùpe· / yú?ái há·di she told him there mountain go there where dyi ?eu dyáwâ. ?A / ?áisí cá.cady A ?eu / gu ?eu ?áisí dyáwínuska.tı / he kept them there he breathes and there his hearts dyû·mí· ?áisí dyáwínuska·tı / du ?íska ?eu hé·ýá cá·ca·dyani / there his hearts this one with it he breathes gu du ?íska ?eu hé. vá tíšá. tr-šé / su ?e ?eu ta ?ai tá? àbe?en E and this one with it he has power thus he was told ?eu du sandiyâ·ku / du dyasî·kı čâukui-şanu ?e čáza / ?ésgəsku ?ai this St. James this king his wife she said but there gáuku mû·kaiça / ?ai ċâ·nawanı mídyu· / ?eu ?ai gúwa·sdyu / şu ?e ?eu he has mountain lion he is mean very there he watches sandivâ·ku <sup>?</sup>e čáza / hê·mé· <sup>?</sup>e zû·ne si / şu <sup>?</sup>e sa d<sup>y</sup>úmənu· / St. James he said all right will go I back he left şu ?e ?ai şu ?e şu ?eu dyá·mí tíyú·zé·yánE / ?ai şu ?e čá?àtıšaniguyanE / eagle he lead they talked together şu <sup>?</sup>e <sup>?</sup>e dacıkuya d<sup>y</sup>á·mi/dúwé· <sup>?</sup>égu şu na şu sté<sup>?</sup>èyu/şu <sup>?</sup>e sa he said to him eagle this way then let's go let's go back d<sup>y</sup>i čúgúvanu. / su <sup>9</sup>e <sup>9</sup>áisí vúké d<sup>y</sup>a<sup>9</sup>áiýu vú<sup>9</sup>ái há di <sup>9</sup>eu čú tí / up he sat there that way they flew there where mountain şu <sup>?</sup>e há·di nə zíyá· bə nə čúgúyana di <sup>?</sup>-d<sup>y</sup>anu şu <sup>?</sup>e şu / <sup>?</sup>ésgəsku where down below west down they sat here su ?e ?emí dí·ýùkača kau? zi mû·kaiça / şu ?emí dí·ýùkača / already he saw them something mountain already he saw them şu ?e şu ?ai şu yúku nə čúgúya ?eu sandiyâ.ku / şu ?e ?áisí ha. away down he sat St. James from there east

cå·ničadyaya / şu 'eu yu' zi kúċayawane me· / ka házánı dyi gá 'aşúné he was walking there thing he was mad like his hair up it stood 'e şu 'e/háwé· cå·ni/şu 'e şu 'emí sandiyâ·ku čėcı şu há·ku dyáwiza·ni

this he walked already St. James also ready he had way repared

up he climbed

hìsgai-ši / şu <sup>?</sup>e <sup>?</sup>ísgawa <sup>?</sup>ai şu <sup>?</sup>e şu čùd <sup>y</sup>à d <sup>y</sup>I / şu <sup>?</sup>e <sup>?</sup>eu díube <sup>?</sup>ene knife both they fought she told him du gasî·kı čâukui-şanu <sup>?</sup>eu <sup>?</sup>áisí d <sup>y</sup>û·mí· gáwín uska·tı-šé / <sup>?</sup>e şu <sup>?</sup>e this king his wife there two his hearts şu <sup>?</sup>e čá <sup>?</sup>àudanu· mû·kaiça / <sup>?</sup>ai şu <sup>?</sup>e d <sup>y</sup>i čútıká·ša / şu <sup>?</sup>e <sup>?</sup>ai

he killed it mountain lion

şu '?e '?ai háusá dá '?áċı / '?eu '?ai há·di si díyû·kAmı / d 'yá·mí hé·ỷá
back he arrived where back he waited eagle with it
cá·nicAd 'yayane / şu '?áisí sa d 'yi cúgúyanu· / şu '?e şu yúsí dé '?èyu /
he was going there back up he sat from there they went
'?ésgəsku şu '?emí yu '?e gúwa· gasî·kı câukui díube '?ene / şu '?emí
but already there how king his wife she told him already
hicâ·ntı şu díwa·sa yu '?e / şu '?e háusá dá '?áċı / '?ai şu '?e n'ə
giant he was sick there back he arrived down

čúgúyanu· şu ''e şu / şu čéci díyû·k'amı gasî·ki čâuk'ui-şanu / şu ''e he sat also she waited king his wife háusá dá''ácinu· / şu ''e şu dìubéuca şu ''e / şu gàiti dúwé· ''úpa /

back he arrived she called him come on this way enter dácikuya / şu gàiti há·né / ?a si cíyùce / ha· dyéineta /

she said to him come on question back you brought yes he said si cíyùce / hawí·/şu ?e ?ai tá?àudi?-dyanu/şu ?e yúké·?eu back I brought here it was given there

?ísgawa ?e dé?èyu şu / şu díwa·sa / şu ?e şu ?e dácıkuya / both they went he was sick he said to him

dyi şánásgái ?e pî-ça / dácıkuya / şu ?e ta dyi tî-zane / şu ?e up your head do it he said to him thus up he did

?ai nơ dyùscacica ?eu / şu ?e ?ai tá?ámudyuzane ?eu du higâ·nti/down he burst he was killed this giant şu ?e şu gasî·ki câukui-ṣanu gu sandiyâ·ku şu yúwé· / şu ?e ?áisí king his wife and St. James this way there dyi ?ísgawa cúgúyanơdi·-dyanu / şu ?e ?áisí sa deku há·di gasî·ki up both they sat there back they went were king dyâ·ma / şu ?e sandiyâ·ku kámáka gasî·ki tíwakuiça / háidí he lived St. James his daughter king he married which one gasî·ki díýá·?áni-šé / ta yùpé· sča / king he promised thus story

## FREE TRANSLATION

St. James arrived at the ocean and was not able to cross. So he asked God how he might cross the ocean. Then an eagle was sent down from above.

The eagle approached and said, "What is it?" "Yes," he said, "I need you. Maybe you will be of use." "All right," said the eagle. "O.K., then, we will go south to the giant's house. The king lost his wife. We are going to look for her." "O.K.," said the eagle, "come sit on my back." Then St. James got on. Then they flew south and up they went. As they were flying up there they saw the giant's city down below. The giant also had an eagle and he knew what was happening.

The giant's eagle looked up and cried out. Then the giant heard and came out. "O.K., attack!", he commanded his eagle. So the eagle attacked. When he came near they began fighting. St. James had a knife and with it stabbed the giant's eagle. They killed the giant's eagle and down he fell! Then they went down to the city where the giant lived. The eagle perched on the window of the giant's house and St. James got off and sat down. Then St. James said to the eagle who had taken him there, "Wait for me here. Let me look around." "O.K.," said the eagle.

So St. James looked around this way and that. He peered through the window but he could not get in. It was shut with iron bars. Then he came to where the king's wife was. He called her name and she turned around. "What is it?" she said. "I'm looking for you.

Your husband told me to come and get you." "All right," she said, "but how will I get out? The giant has the only key somewhere. I don't have any. How will we get out, then? He will come back in a little while. Hide somewhere. When he comes back he will know right away what is going on." "O.K.," he said, and he went and hid somewhere. The giant was coming back and as he stepped the earth shook. He already knew, and he said, "Hmmm! Who is here?" Then the king's wife said, "Nobody is here and there is nobody talking with me." The king's wife then said to the giant "Let me wash your head. Maybe you are tired. Let me wash your head and then maybe you will rest well and go to sleep." "O.K., then," said the giant. Then the King's wife made suds. When his head was washed the giant went to sleep. Then the king's wife called to St. James, "Come here; he is asleep." Then she told him, "Go to the mountains. He keeps them there. There he breathes and there he has his two hearts. He breathes with one, and with one he has power." Thus it was told to St. James. The king's wife said, "But he has a mountain lion there watching who is very mean." Then St. James said, "All right, I'll go." So he left and talked with the eagle who had led him. Then the eagle said to him, "Come on, let's go." So he got back on and they flew away to the mountains. Then they landed down on the west side, but the mountain lion had already seen them.

Then St. James got off and walked on eastward alone. The mountain lion saw him and approached from the east. He was mad and his hair stood up as he approached. St. James had his knife ready and the two of them fought. The king's wife had told him where the two hearts were, so he killed the mountain lion and climbed up. He saw two eggs sitting there. Then he broke one of them, put one in his pocket and climbed back down.

Then he arrived back where the eagle was waiting. He got back on and from there they returned according to the instructions of the king's wife. The giant was already sick when he got back and dismounted. The king's wife, too, was waiting. "Come on in," she called to him, "did you bring it back?" "Yes," he said, "here it is." And he gave it to her. Then they both went to the sick one. He said to him, "Lift up your head." Then he lifted it up and burst. So the giant was killed. Then the king's wife and St. James got on the eagle and they went back to the king's house. And St. James married the king's daughter that he had promised to him. That is the story.

#### EXPLANATION OF NUMBERS IN TEXT

- 1. Preposition, there.
- 2. Preposition, near.
- 3. Verb, he arrived. Affix 123G + stem, -á?áci.
- 4. Referential, St. James. From Spanish Santiago.
- 5. Preposition, where, somewhere.
- 6. Referential, river.
- 7. Verb, it is full. Affix 123A + stem,  $-6.\dot{t}a + \text{affix } 403$ .
- 8. Modal, not.
- 9. Modal, able to.
- 10. Verb, he emerged or, in this context, he crosses over. Affix 123A + stem, -úma.
- 11. Connective, thus.
- 12. Verb, he was asking. Affix 123C + stem, -uidá-? A + affix 401B.
- 13. Preposition, that way.
- 14. Directional, up.
- 15. Verb, our father. Affix 101G + stem, -ánaisdyu + affix 501I.
- 16. Interrogative, how?
- 17. Modal, at least.
- 18. Directional, south.
- 19. Referential, water.
- 20. Verb, it is full. Same as 7 but with affix 121A instead of 123A.
- 21. Verb, will emerge or cross over. Same as 10 but with affix 201B instead of 123A.
- 22. Verbal auxiliary, third person subject with condition suffix.
- 23. Preposition, from there, from afar.
- 24. Directional, down.
- 25. Particle which in certain contexts adds emphasis to other words.
- 26. Referential, cagle.
- 27. Verb, he was sent. Affix 123H + affix 302B + stem, -águya + affix 502A.
- 28. Verb, he approached. Affix 123B + stem, -úwáči.
- 29. Verb, he said to him. Affix 123G + stem, -acikuya.
- 30. Interrogative, what?
- 31. Interrogative, which?
- 32. Modal, maybe.
- 33. Exclamation, yes.
- 34. Verb, he said. Affix 123A + stem, -áineta.
- 35. Verb, I need you. Affix 141B + stem, -ícipa.
- 36. Verb, will be of use. Affix 201B + stem, -údyá·wa?.
- 37. Verbal auxiliary, second person subject.
- 38. Exclamation, all right, that will do.
- 39. Exclamation, O.K.
- 40. In some contexts a connective; here part of an exclamatory phrase.
- 41. Verb, will go (dual subject). Affix 201G + stem, -6°èyu.
- 42. Preposition, there.
- 43. Verbal auxiliary, first person dual subject.
- 44. Referential, giant. From Spanish gigante.
- 45. Verb, he lives, his house. Affix 123A + stem, -â·mA.
- 46. Referential, king. From Spanish cacique. May be alternatively analyzed as a verb consisting of affix 121A + stem, -asî·kı.
- 47. Verb, his wife. Affix 121D + stem, -aukui.
- 48. Particle which modifies meaning of following verb.
- 49. Verb, he did it, or, in this context with the particle tu, he lost. Affix 121G + stem, -fwiça.

- 50. Verb, will look for (dual subject). Affix 201D + stem, -íỷ êipa + affix 501B.
- 51. Verb, he said. Affix 123D + stem, -áza.
- 52. Preposition, this way.
- 53. Verb, my back. Affix 101E + stem, -átrdyA.
- 54. Verb, sit (imperative). Affix 114D + stem, -úgúya.
- 55. Verb, he sat. Same as 54 but with affix 123C instead of 114D.
- 56. Verb, they two flew. Affix 123A + stem, -á?áiỷu.
- 57. Verb, they two went. Same as 41 but with affix 123G instead of 201G.
- 58. Verb, they were going. Affix 123G + stem, -é?é·ya?atA + affix 402B.
- 59. Verb, he saw him (or it). Affix 123A + stem, -ùkača.
- 60. Verb, his city. Affix 123D + stem, -á?á-sti-ça.
- 61. Particle, also.
- 62. Verb, his (referring to a living animal). Affix 123D + stem, -ádyá. še.
- 63. Verb, he knew. Affix 123F + stem, -áudyu.
- 64. Verb, he was looking. Affix 123G + stem, -ígá + affix 401B.
- 65. Verb, he cried out. Affix 123A + stem, -ú·sčèca.
- 66. Verb, he heard. Affix 123C + stem, -áká.
- 67. Pronoun, this one.
- 68. Verb, he was commanded. Affix 123H + affix 302A + stem, -áneya + affix 502G.
- 69. Verb, attack (imperative). Affix 114D + stem, -âuwası.
- 70. Verb, he attacked. Same as 69, but with affix 123F rather than 114D
- 71. Verb, he arrived. Affix 123G + stem, -a<sup>2</sup>áci + affix 602.
- 72. Verb, they fought. Affix 123C + stem, -áwáinnya.
- 73. Referential, knife.
- 74. Verb, he had. Affix 123A + stem, -áuču.

# APPENDIX 3. VOCABULARY

# UNINFLECTED WORDS

43. ?úkú·yámī earring

1. ?a interrogative particle

38.

39.

%íyâ∙ni *life* <sup>9</sup>ú·basdyánı legging

<sup>9</sup>úbéwí food

41. ?ú·dídyúwísti saddle

40. ?ú·bó·ná needle

42. ?úgupáwahi ax

1.	· a interrogative partiete	10.	aka yann carring
2.	<sup>9</sup> ai there	44.	<sup>?</sup> ú·káyáwí towel, handkerchief
3.	<sup>?</sup> áičásti mattress, mat	45.	<sup>9</sup> ú·má·ci help, assistance
4.	?áčíni house	46.	<sup>9</sup> ú·mú·cɪ gun
5.	<sup>?</sup> ádàuši cooking pot	47.	<sup>?</sup> ú·síwísd <sup>y</sup> án≀ rope
6.	<sup>?</sup> á·dyá·n≀ tether	48.	<sup>?</sup> ú·skáicı <i>bell</i>
7.	<sup>?</sup> áugubá <sup>?</sup> akácı <i>nail</i>	49.	<sup>?</sup> úṣâ·çA sun
8.	<sup>?</sup> ánámáti seat	50.	?ú·ťá·ňi basket
9.	<sup>?</sup> ánái zá hí lamp	51.	<sup>?</sup> úwàka baby, doll
10.	?áne∙ tasty	52.	<sup>?</sup> úwáisťáňi bowl
11.	?á·sá large bowl	53.	<sup>?</sup> ú·wísgíci <i>match</i>
12.	?áisí thcre	54.	<sup>?</sup> úyáumbúmei drum
13.	<sup>?</sup> áisčazáňi trousers	55.	<sup>9</sup> úzústi drill
14.	?áṣání grass	56.	<sup>?</sup> óró· hot (in reference to the
15.	<sup>?</sup> ásáni <i>wheat</i>		weather)
16.	?á?á·ťáwi key	57.	ba future hortative particle
17.	?á·wá·nı grinding stone, metate	58.	bá·bà grandparent
18.	e and	59.	bàtı <i>whitewash</i>
19.	eu narrative particle and em-	60.	bê·raka toad
	phasizer	61.	bíší·ná <i>purple</i>
20.	<sup>9</sup> égu then, therefore	62.	bî∙şu bee
21.	<sup>?</sup> emí <i>already</i>	63.	bíyá∙ tilted, lopsided
22.	<sup>?</sup> ésgəsku but	64.	búmú·ná torso, ribs
<b>2</b> 3.	Pibáni Cholla cactus	65.	bú·ràika butterfly
24.	%í∙čánání bark	66.	bú zu wist i lightning
25.	<sup>?</sup> id <sup>y</sup> awa <i>centipede</i>	67.	bə west; bə́namı́ westward
26.	<sup>?</sup> í·kani <i>vine</i>	68.	bázâ·ṁA <i>log</i>
27.	?í?ínâ·ni <i>liver</i>	69.	càcı breath
28.	<sup>?</sup> íṅ́áwí <i>flour</i>	70.	cècı wall
<b>2</b> 9.	<sup>?</sup> isa manure	71.	cé·yá first
30.	<sup>?</sup> ísdúwa <i>arrow</i>	72.	cína turkey
31.	<sup>?</sup> ísgawa both	73.	cúski fox
32.	<sup>9</sup> íska one	74.	ċâ∙pı <i>fly</i>
33.	?íṣâ·ni meat	75.	čé-báná bitter
34.	?iśá porcupine	76.	ċéwasča stew
35.	<sup>?</sup> íṣatı <i>lard</i>	77.	číci water, juice
36.	%te able to	78.	čí ga locust
37.	%íyâ∙ni <i>life</i>	79.	čímasčêiça <i>iron</i>
			1. 1101 1 1

80. čísdi?ini honey 81. číváuzáňi adobe brick

82. čá·dya side 83. čámá tomorrow

84. čėci also

100			ZIII(OEOGI
85.	čémi three; čémiya three times	138.	hau? near, suddenly
86.			háubá· everybody
87.	čánámi bat	140.	
88.	čáyâ·ni shaman	141.	há-bí feather
89.	, · ·		há?áči, há?áči· land, earth
90.	dabánuska horned toad		hácu how much, how many, few
91.			há?áčanani tooth
92.	dápaci corpse	145.	
93.	dáwaça moon, month	146.	
94.	dėsu place		há·di where, somewhere
95.	di? here		háidí which, what
96.	dí?ái there		hådyani soapweed
97.	dísí from here	150.	
98.	dí-skámá cornhusk		háikámí once
99.	díya dog		hâ-ka-ni fire, hot coals
100.	du this, this one		háké that way
	dúké that way		há ku ready
102.	dúwimiši stocking	155.	•
102.	dúwé this way		hâ·ma·ni leg, thigh
104.	dyá·dyu bobcat		hâ·mi tobacco
105.	dyá·mí eagle		há·múčuni toe
	dyâna four		há·múša·ni beard
100.			
	dyáňa jackrabbit		háma long ago
108.	dyáné deer		hâ·ma·ni, hâ·ma <sup>?</sup> ani hail
109.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		hám Asdí ini hand, finger
110.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		hâ·me· ice
	dyáya?ani piñon nut		hánâ-mi naked
112.	* *	165.	1
113.	d <sup>y</sup> i up		hánu people
114.	dyídya north		há · né hortative particle
115.	dyíní above		hàsčá yucca
	d <sup>y</sup> ú·bí badger		hásdi <sup>?</sup> ini foot
117.	dyû·mí· two		hàsgəni bone
118.	dyúmó brother		há?á sti ca town, city
119.	d <sup>y</sup> û·ya twice		há šuwimi shoe, moccasin
120.	d⁵é·sa elk		há-tawe pollen
121.			háwe- snow
122.	gáisbiṣa world		háwizana stalk
123.	gasgáuga <i>quail</i>		háwái there
124.	8		háwé. this way
125.	gâ·yu morning		hawi. here, take it
1 <b>2</b> 6.	gu and		há?áwí·čánani claw, fingernail
127.	gu? for, therefore		há·winá quickly, immediately
128.	gû.?u. beaver	181.	háỷaċı awl
129.	gùcı firewood	182.	há <b>ý</b> éi <i>there</i>
190	/1 / 7	100	1 / / 1 1

129. gúci firewood 130. gúháya bear 131. gúkúmiši eight

132. gúmásáwá cooking pot

133. gúwa how 134. gúyástí basket

135. ha east; há námí eastward 136. hai where (destination)

137. hau who, someone

185. he that one 186. hê me all right, enough

187. hénati cloud 188. héyad<sup>y</sup>i turtle 189. héyàši fog, mist

183. há záni hair

184. hâ-zəni onion

190. hé ýá with (instrumental)

191.	hínu I, we	243.	
192.	hina all right	244.	
193.	hí·sčí sunflower	245.	múši soapweed
194.	hìsgai $knife$	246.	
195.	hìstiya·ni arrowhcad, spearhead		mí·ná hortative particle
196.	híṣʊ you	248.	mû·kaiça mountain lion
197.	híwá now, today	249.	má∙dé∙ boy
198.	híyaka·če domestic animal	250.	má?áčí blood
199.	híyâ·ni road, path	251.	mádai ball
200.	híyá·wá doorway, road	252.	màidyana seven
201.	hízá?ai tree, cottonwood	253.	màgərı evil
202.	hí-zani seed	254.	máka dipper
203.	hú·bánı saliva	255.	ı'ná∙ní word
204.	hú·?ùga dove	256.	má·šáwi buzzard
205.	hùséní wool		me· like, similar to
206.	hùskani yucca fruit, banana	258.	m̂ê∙wa mud
207.	húṣâ-cı cotton		mé·zíči large
	húwaka sky		mí·ėr clay
	húwaná?ani eye	261.	mî.ça hummingbird
	húwî·ni milk	262.	mídá moth
	hóçzskáwa willow		mí·ga others
	kádya behind; kádyámá back-	264.	mína salt
	ward	265.	
213	káṣâitī summer, year	266.	místi alkali
	ká·tid <sup>y</sup> á clean, pure	267.	
	kínáti green corn	268.	na yet
216.			nàce new
		269.	náčí food, lunch
	ku south; kúwámí southward	270.	náwâiỳa <i>middle-aged</i>
	kú·ka winter	271.	
219.		272.	náizá thank you (women's
220.	kúwe.?E sweet	070	speech)
221.		273.	nu. only, itself
222.	káci ten	274.	nú-bəda alone
223.	• . •	275.	núwáiná separate
224.	kåka·d <sup>y</sup> I square, plaza		núya night
225.	kákana wolf		nú·yú· oneself
226.	kámaska spider		ná∙?áç <b>π</b> rubber
227.			néti prairie dog
<b>22</b> 8.		280.	hau <i>many</i>
<b>22</b> 9.	•	<b>2</b> 81.	náwi <sup>9</sup> ika <i>egg</i>
230.		282.	nð $down$
231.		<b>2</b> 83.	pánacı lung
232.	kúimí slightly, a small amount	284.	pâ·ni <i>bag</i>
233.	kúṣA last night	285.	pesécuru bedbug
234.	kú·tí, čú·tí mountain	286.	pé·ṣ̀A jackrabbit
235.	kú·yáu old woman	287.	pétá·ná cornmeal
236.	kúyàiti game animal	288.	pier buckskin
237.	mai almost	289.	pí·nu· fancy, fine
238.	mågó. girl	290.	pířářá flag
239.	mâ·nu· a long time	291.	písčánani skin, hide
<b>24</b> 0.	mářéu tortilla	292.	ráwá- good
241.	másâ·ni <i>leaf</i>	293.	rèdya rabbit
242.	màṣ̃A <i>light</i>	294.	rî-pa goose
	200 244 24 45		•

682 - 611 - 64 - 15

295.	rî-waganı fat	346.	šid <sup>y</sup> ita star
	ró-skíši small	347.	šína· louse
297.	sa back, return to previous	348.	šú·dá goose
	location	349.	
298.	sai all	350.	šû·mu· corpse
299.	sảiču day	351.	
300.		352.	
301.	sėka sure	353.	•
302.	si again, return to present	354.	•
	location	355.	•
303.	sí.?í ant	356.	
304.	sí·dyA squirrel	357.	
305.		358.	
	síyana mouse	359.	•
307.	súwá <i>yesterday</i>	360.	•
308.		361.	
309.	sána middle	362.	•
310.	sbiga woodpecker	363.	
	sbí·ná chicken	364.	
	sbi·na chicken sbi·na jug		3
			tíyé far
	sčái last	366.	
	sčá·ná meadowlark		tî.ça springtime
	sčápaka twilight	368.	The state of the s
316.	sčáři grasshopper		wàdyu?uni pottery
317.	sčáwá popcorn		wágənı dress, shirt
	sčázó· fast		wâ·ni smoke
319.	sčířá crow		wá·si bird snare
	sčísa six		wáșû·ci dust
321.		374.	
	sčúyú ná <i>mosquito</i>	375.	
	sčúzuwi stinkbug	376.	
324.	sdírí·ná seashell	377.	
325.	sdú·ná <i>mushroom</i>		wó.?é thank you (men's speech)
	sgâ·wašı rat	379.	v
327.	sgamaré· <i>lizard</i>	380.	
328.	skåçя frog	381.	wá čini tongue
329.	skàsku, kàsku bighorn sheep	382.	waistí bowl
330.	skú·ná <i>blackbird</i>	383.	ŵâ∙yuṣA duck
331.	skú·ỷu giant	384.	winuska heart
332.	skớrí·ná flour	385.	wi∙sga robin
333.	ská?á·dyu bullsnake	386.	w̃íšî∙ni <i>nose</i>
334.	skàšı fish	387.	wispi cigarette
335.		388.	
336.		389.	yábáši corn silk
337.	spá?áči mockingbird	390.	yàsbusi cottonwood cotton
	spérá·ná plate	391.	
339.	spíníní dwarf corn	392.	2
340.	spúrú·ná chickenpox	393.	yú?ái there
341.	•	394.	•
342.	stó·ci straight	395.	•
	šàska roadrunner	396.	yúké that way
	šâ-witi parrot	397.	•
345.	ší·bu <sup>9</sup> uku cotton boll	398.	
0 10.		000.	Japo son out gy togetta

399.	yúsí from there	412. vú⋅sbi⋅ni shoulder
	yúwé this way	413. yú·skúmá corncob
401.	ýá·bí staff of office	414. za no
402.	ýá·číni shelled corn	415. záičú field
	vá·ka ripe corn	416. zàdya plains, desert
404.	yâuni stone	417. zàsdima grinding box
	yasbuzani brains	418. záwini old
	yausadi sand	419. zázi not
	vá?áwâ·ni intestines	420. zê·ni talkative
	ýáwastí stick	421. zi what, something
	ýâ·yu crippled	422. zíkusdyáwi bridge
	vu· expression of doubt	423. ziná again
	ýû·ni song	424. zàici rabbit club

### VERBS

Verbs are listed alphabetically by the verb core. The stem or stems based on each core follow, together with the stem classification. See "Verb Classes" for an outline of stem classification and "Stem Variants" for an explanation of notations identifying stem variants.

- 425. -a to be. -a(?) Singular, Class 11-25 intransitive. -ê-?E-șuti Dual, Class 11-26 intransitive. -â.?A Plural, Class 11-25 intransitive.
- -a to have, to possess. -a Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive. -â.?á 426. Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -á?à-šɛ Plural, Class 2-23 intransitive.
- -? A to be closed. -\(\delta^2\hat{\hat{a}}\darka^2\hat{A}\) Singular, Class 10 intransitive. 427.
- ?ésu—A to sneeze. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 428.
- Yu to give a flat or long object. âu Yu Irregular transitive. 429.
- 430. -?u to dwell. -âu?u Singular, Class 8-14 intransitive. -á.?âu?u Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive.
- -bái to sleep. -í·bái Singular, Class 10-6 intransitive. -á?áibái Dual, 431. Class 2-24 intransitive. -é?é·bai?-šī Plural, Class 11-25 intransitive.
- -bá·bá grandparent, a man's mother's mother or father's father. -ábá·bá 432. Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 433. -bádyu to awake, get someone out of bed. -í-bádyu((?)) Class C4 transitive.
- -ba?tu to sleep. -í-ba?tu Singular, Class 10-6 intransitive. -á?áiba?tu 434. Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -é<sup>9</sup>é·ba<sup>9</sup>tu Plural, Class 11-25 intransitive.
- -báya to light a fire. -íbáya Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive. -íbáya-næ 435. Dual, Class 10-22 intransitive. -íbáya-ne Plural, Class 10-21 intransitive.
- 436. -be to tell.  $-\dot{\mathbf{u}}/\dot{\mathbf{a}}\mathbf{b}\mathbf{e}(\cdot,\mathbf{v})$  (- $\dot{\mathbf{v}}$  v-) Class A1 transitive.
- 437. -béuca to call. -ù/àbéuca Class A1 transitive.
- 438. -be-ta to ask. -ù/àbe-ta (-vv-) Class A8 transitive.
- 439.
- -bí to get wood. -úbí Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. bî·ri—anı to be smooth. Type B, singular, Class 1 intransitive. 440.
- -bíya sister-in-law. -ábíya Singular, Class 7–15 intransitive. 441.
- -bu·cı to be frightened. -ùbu·cı Singular, Class 13-28 intransitive. bû·pu—anı fresh, cool. Type B, singular, Class 1 intransitive. 442.
- 443.
- busu-A to have an odor. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 444.

- -bónaca to sew. -aubónaca Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 445.
- -bənai?ı to put in a bag. -áubənai?ı Singular, Class 9-11 intransitive. 446.
- 447. bó?áři—I winding, zigzag. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- cá.—A to breathe. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 448.
- 449. -cikuya to say to. -acikuya Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
- -cayawa to be angry. -úcayawa (future -úcayawa) Singular, Class 5-8 450. intransitive. -úċayawa-na Dual, Class 5-10 intransitive. -á<sup>2</sup>â·ċayawa-ne Plural, Class 5-9 intransitive.
- cáyú-I to be broken. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive. 451.
- -cayuca to break. -aºaucayuca Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 452.
- -ĉê-naca to chew. -á?áuċê-naca Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 453.
- -ci to arrive. -á?áci Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive. -á.?áci Dual, 454. Class 2-24 intransitive.
- 455. -cídyusta to think, to worry. -úcídyusta Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- -ci-ku to be guilty. -û-ci-ku Singular, Class 3-27 intransitive. 456.
- -cípa to need, to want. -úcípa Singular, Class 3-27 intransitive. Transi-457. tive forms conforming to Class B based on the stem -icipa also occur for first and second person objects.
- -cı́şu water well. -á?á·ciṣu Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 458.
- 459. -coçaca to cut. -a a ucoçaca Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- -ča to rain. -àča Singular, Class 4 intransitive. 460.
- -ča to fall. -úča Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. -áča-na Dual, 461. Class 5-10 intransitive.
- 462. -čaňi to stand. -éčaňi Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive.
- -čí·ni to dance. -àčí·ni Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. 463.
- -čini yellow. -ú-čini Singular, unclassified intransitive. kú-čini it is 464. uellow.
- čú.—A to belch. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 465.
- 466. -čυ to have in a baq. -ú·čυ Singular, Class 8-14 intransitive. -ú·?ùčυ Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -ú-wàču Plural, Class 2-23 intransitive.
- 467. -ča tooth. -á?áča Singular, Class 10-6 intransitive.
- -ča to be hot. -â·ča Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. 468.
- -čái?<sub>1</sub> to close the eyes. -ó°5ćái?<sub>1</sub> Singular, Class 5-8 intrasitive. -čáwa to steal. -ú·čáwa Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 469.
- 470.
- -čáyuma to be tired. -účáyuma Singular, Class 13-28 intransitive. 471.
- -ça animal's horn. -áça Singular, Class 10 intransitive. 472.
- -ca to build a house. -á.?aca Singular, Class 9-11 intransitive. 473.
- -ça to do. -î-ça Singular, Class 14-4 intransitive. -î-za--na Dual, Class 474. 14-20 intransitive. -î-za--ne Plural, Class 14-19 intransitive.
- -ça to happen. -á?âiça Singular, Class 9 intransitive. 475.
- -çя house. -áçя Singular, Class 4 intransitive. -á?â·çя Plural, Class 476. 2-23 intransitive.
- 477. -сака to smoke. -åсака Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- -dá. A to ask for something. -ùidá. A Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 478.
- -dá?áu grandparent, woman's father's father or mother's mother. -ádá?áu 479. Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 480. dá?áwa—a to boil. Type B, singular, Class 1 intransitive.
- -di to plant. -áudi(?) Singular, Class 9-11 intransitive. -áudi-mæ 481. Dual, Class 9-12 intransitive. -á·wá·di-me Plural, Class 5-9 intransitive.
- -di to give a bulky object. -ùdi(?) Class D3 transitive. 482.
- -dî-na to be covered. -'i'dî-na(?) Singular, Class 13-28 intransitive. 483.

- 484. -dî-ša to feed. -i/ádî-ša(?) Class C1 transitive.
- -dî-ye to get, to fetch. -údî-ye Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. 485.
- -dùd<sup>y</sup>a to hang something. -fdùd<sup>y</sup>a Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive. -d<sup>y</sup>a to catch. -f/ád<sup>y</sup>a(?) Class C3 transitive. 486.
- 487.
- -d<sup>y</sup>a to descend. -\(\perpda\)d<sup>y</sup>a (-\(\pa\)d<sup>y</sup>a) Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. 488.
- 489. -dyá· to possess an animal. -'á'dyá· or -'á'dyá·še Singular. Class 7-15 intransitive.
- -dyadyı to fight. -udyadyı Plural, Class 5-9 intransitive. 490.
- -dyašı to fast. -údyašı Singular, Class 8-14 intransitive. -ú-?ùdyašı 491. Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -ú·wàdyašı Plural, Class 2-23 intransitive.
- 492. -dyáwa to stab. -í/ádyáwa Class C1 transitive.
- 493. -dyâ·wa to be helpful. -údyâ·wa(?) Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 494. -dyu to cost. -idyu Singular, Class 14 intrancitive.
- 495. -dyu to arrive. -é.dyu Plural, Class 11-25 intransitive.
- 496. -dyu to know, to be aware of. -áudyu Singular, Class 9-11 intransitive.
- 497. -dyámi to remember. -ú-/á-dyámi Class B6 transitive.
- 498. -dyúmiça to learn. -àudyumiça Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- -dyúmicuwi to forget. -ú·/á·dyúmicuwi Class B4 transitive. 499.
- 500. -dyúma man's brother. -ádyúma Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 501. -dyuši to be afraid. -údyuši Singular, Class 13-28 intransitive.
- 502. dyà—ánı to be lazy. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 503. -gá to look. -ígá (-ìka) Singular, Class 10-6 intransitive.
- -gúya to sit. -úgúya Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. -úgúya-na 504. Dual, Class 5-10 intransitive.
- 505. -gúya to place, to send, to sell. -í/ágúya Class C1 transitive.
- -géçati to blossom. -ágéçati Singular, Class 1 intransitive. 506.
- 507. háu—A to yawn. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 508. -hima to believe. -úhima Singular, Class 3-27 intransitive.
- 509. -ká· to hear. -áká· Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- káyú-I to be broken. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive. 510.
- -kái to be full, satisified. -úkái (-ùkai) Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive. 511.
- 512. -kai to lie down. -ìkai (fut. -ìgai) Singular, Class 13-28 intransitive.
- -kača to see. -ù/àkača (-vv-) Class A2 transitive. 513.
- 514. -kàzi to heal. -ú/ákàzi((?)) Class A4 transitive.
- 515. -ku to bite. -àku Class B1 transitive.
- -ku to go. -ėku Plural, Class 11-25 intransitive. 516.
- 517. -ku to be located. -åku (-ìku) Singular, Class 1-16 intransitive.
- -ku·mi to bring. -àiku·mi(?) Class D3 transitive. 518.
- 519. -kupawa to chop. -ikupawa Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
  - -íkupawa-na Dual, Class 10-22 intransitive. -íkupawa-ne Plural, Class 10-21 intransitive.
- 520. -kuya to do. -ėkuya (fut. -ėguya) Singular, Class 11-25 intransitive.
- 521. ká--anı to be red. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- -ka mouth. -î-ka Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive. 522.
- -kàica to hit. -ú·/á·kàica Class A1 transitive. 523.
- -káya to wipe. -ú-káya Class A7 transitive. 524.
- 525. -kî·ni friend. -áukî·ni Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- -kui wife. -âukui Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive. 526.
- 527. -kûica man's sister. -ákûica Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- -kúmíná string. -úkúmíná Singular, Class 4 intransitive. 528.
- 529. -kúrú-ná kidney. -áukúrú-ná Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 530. kúra-I smoke, billowing dust. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.

- 531. -ma to go. Unclassified intransitive, occurring only in the hortative mode. ?í·ma go.
- 532. -ma· thigh. -â·ma· Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- 533. -ma·cı to be true. -áima·cı Singular, unclassified intransitive. káima·cı it is true.
- 534. -maka daughter. -amaka Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 535. -má·záni to help. -ú·má·záni(?) Class D3 transitive.
- 536. -mú·ca to thunder. -áumú·ca Singular, Class 9 intransitive.
- 537. -múču toe. -á·múču Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- 538. -mudyuca to kill. -ú/ámudyuca Class A1 transitive.
- 539. múra—I dented. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 540. -múša beard. -á·múša Singular, Class 10-6 intransitive.
- 541. -mámá grandfather, grandchild. -áumámá Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 542. -mó·ti son. -ámó·ti Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- -ma house, to dwell. -â·ma Singular, Class 8-14 intransitive. -á?â·ma 543. Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive.
- 544. -macı waist. -úmacı Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- -ma·dyA to pick fruit. -um/má·dyA Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 545.
- 546. -ma·pa palm of hand. -áma·pa Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 547. -masdi hand, finger. -ámasdi(?) Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- -ma to leave, emerge. -úma Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. -û ma 548. Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -ê·ma Plural, Class 11-25 intransitive.
- 549. -na eye. -â·na Singular, unclassified intransitive. kâ·na his eye.
- -na· to be cloudy. -ina· Singular, Class 10 intransitive. 550.
- 551. -načai stomach. -ú·načai Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- -nádyúwi to light a fire. -ánádyúwi(?) Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive. 552. -ánádyúwi-ma Dual, Class 10-22 intransitive. -ánádyúwi-me Plural, Class 10-21 intransitive.
- 553. -námáti seat, nest. -ánámáti Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 554. -námaca to stop, rebuke. -ú-/á-námaca Class A1 transitive.
- -násgái head. -ánásgái Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 555.
- 556. -nàta to buy. -inàta Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
- -nata to cook. -áinata Singular, Class 9-11 intransitive. 557.
- 558. -nawanı to be mean. -â-nawanı Singular, Class 12-27 intransitive.
- 559. -náwe man's mother's brother, sister's son. -á-náwe Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 560. -nâ-ya mother, aunt. -ánâ-ya Singular, Class 7–15 intransitive.
- 561. -ni to know, be acquainted with. -ú/áni((?)) Class B5 transitive.
- 562. -ni to go, to walk. -â·ni Singular, Class 6-3 intransitive.
- 563. -nô·ca to pull. -ú·nô·ca Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 564. -naisdyu father, father's brother. -anaisdyu Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive. -ánaisdyu-še Plural, Class 2-23 intransitive.
- 565. -naza to be healthy. -unnaza(?) Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. -ún/naza?a-na Dual, Class 5-10 intransitive.
- 566. -nesa to look, to peer. -in/nesa Singular, Class 4-5 intransitive.
- -neta to say. -áineta Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. 567.
- 568. -hí body. -hí Singular, Class 14-4 intransitive.
- 569.
- -nuti lower leg. -aunuti Class 1-1 intransitive. -paniustu to be thirsty. -ipaniustu Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive. 570. -áipániustu Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -áiyápániustu Plural, Class 2-23 intransitive.
- -páni to be dry. -í-páni Singular, Class 13-28 intransitive.

- 572. -pasdyu to be tied. -àpasdyu Singular, Class 7-13 intransitive.
- 573. -paši to be dark. -ápaši Singular, Class 6 intransitive.
- 574. -pe to eat. -upe Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. -a.?abe Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -a.?ape Plural, Class 2-23 intransitive.
- 575. péta-A to be cracked. Type B, singular, Class 1 intransitive.
- 576. -pi forehead. -ùpi Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 577. písča—I flat, spread out. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 578. -pú·ca to blow. -ú·pú·ca Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 579. -pa to enter. -ùpa Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive.
- 580. -pakaca to touch. -ú/ápakaca Class A1 transitive.
- 581. -sa difficult. -áusa Singular, Class 6 intransitive.
- 582. -sé to draw water. -àusé Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 583. -sípa eyelash. -isípa Singular, Class 14-4 intransitive.
- 584. -sukuca to kick. -ú/ásukuca Class A1 transitive.
- 585. -sume?esta to teach. -í/ásume?esta(.) Class D1 transitive.
- 586. -sbí·ca to whistle. -ùsbí·ca Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 587. -sbóça to string beads. -úsbóça Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 588. -sčèca to squeal, make an animal noise. -ú-sčèca Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive.
- 589. scu-A to swallow. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 590. sčúsu—A to cough. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 591. -sdi foot. -ásdi(?) Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- 592. sdú.—1 bowl-shaped. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 593. -sdyA to suck. -í-sdyA Singular, Class 10-6 intransitive.
- 594. -sd'iri to be brown. -ùisd'iri Singular, Class 6 intransitive. 595. -sgú-çuci to drool, slobber. -f-sgú-çuci Singular, Class 13-28 intransi-
- 596. -sgumaša to hide. -uisgumaša Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 597. -ska to drink. -èska Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. -àska Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -àska-ta Plural, Class 2-23 intransitive.
- 598. skási—i to be hard. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 599. skúrú—I spherical. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 600. -skó-?açai to turn around. -åiskó-?açai Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 601. skáři—i round. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 602. -spika to paint. -f.spika Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
- 603. -spa·ca to push. -íspa·ca Class C1 transitive.

tive.

- 604. -spá?ákaca to knock at the door. -ú-spá?ákaca Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 605. -staya *to be cold*. -áistaya (future -áisdaya) Singular, Class 1 intransitive.
- 606. -staya to be breezy. -èstaya (future -èsdaya) Singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 607. -sti to give a liquid. -i/ásti(?) Class D3 transitive.
- 608. -sti-ça city, town. -á?á-sti-ça Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- 609. -stu to die. -ùstu Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- 610. -ša to step. -áša Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 611. -ša to close. -á?â·ša Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
- 612. -še name. -á-še Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 613. -šé to be white. -ášé Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 614. -ši knee. -åši Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 615. -ší·ci to be hospitable. -á·ší·ci Singular, Class 8-14 intransitive.
- 616. -šu to be wet. -åšu Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive.
- 617. šúku—i square. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.

- 618. šúpa—a to spit. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 619. saça to name, to call ones name. isaça (-vv-) Class C1 transitive.
- 620. śár—A torn. Type B, singular, Class 1 intransitive. śár—I torn.

  Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 621. śúwi-I crooked. Type B, singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 622. -ta to kill. -àuta Singular, Class 9-11 intransitive. -àuda-pæ Dual, Class 9-12 intransitive. -á·ŵàta-wa Plural, Class 5-9 intransitive.
- 623. -tâ·niça to work. -útâ·niça Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. -útâ·niça-nœ Dual, Class 5-10 intransitive. -úwatâ·niça-nœ Plural, Class 5-9 intransitive.
- 624. -tid<sup>y</sup>A back. -<sup>(</sup>á)<sup>t</sup>id<sup>y</sup>A Singular, unclassified intransitive. kátid<sup>y</sup>A his back.
- 625. -tigu to remove many objects. -útigu Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 626. -tika·ša to climb. -útika·ša Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 627. -tikuya to cry. -àtikuya (future. -àtiguya) Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive.
- 628. -tiša to talk to -àtiša Class A2 transitive.
- 629. -tu·ni to know. -ùtu·ni Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- 630. -tá to put in, to write down. -ítá Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
- 631. -tá to be full. -é-tá Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive.
- 632. -tá to test, try. -ú/á-tá Class A1 transitive.
- 633. -ta to step on. -î·ta(·) Class C2 transitive.
- 634. -ta to open. -á?â.ta Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
- 635. -ťadyi to stand up. -ć·ťadyi Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive.
- 636. -ti to give a granular substance. -i/áti(?) Class D3 transitive.
- 637. -tu-dyu fence. -â-tu-dyu Singular, Class 10 intransitive.
- 638. -wácašaya to stir. -úwácašaya Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 639. wáka—a to spill. Type B, singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
- 640. -wakuiça to marry. -úwakuiça Singular, Class 13-28 intransitive.
- 641. -wa-sa to be sick. -úwa-sa(?) Singular, Class 3-27 intransitive.
- 642. -wası to attack, pick a fight. -âuwa-sı Singular, Class 9-11 intransitive.
- 643. -wa·sdyu to watch, guard. -úwa·sdyu Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive.
- 644. -wawı face. -úwawı Singular, unclassified intransitive. kúwawı his face.
- 645. -wi neck. -áwi Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 646. -wici chest. -awici Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 647. -wíčá-ça to listen to. -ú/áwičá-ça Class A1 transitive.
- 648. -wisbeta to loosen, untie. -úwisbeta Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 649. -wiska blue, green. -úwiska Singular, Class 6-3 intransitive.
- 650. -wî-stiye to be happy. -iwî-stiye(?) Singular, Class 3-27 intransitive.
- 651. -wíšikuya to scold. -úwíšikuya Class A2 transitive.
- 652. -wî-za neck. -áwî-za Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 653. wàka—A to move, shake. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 654. -wá to kill (plural object) -úw/wá Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 655. -wácı to approach. -úwácı Singular, Class 3-27 intransitive.
- 656. -wacı to have a turn. -û-wacı Singular, Class 3-27 intransitive.
- 657. -wá·či tongue. -áwá·či Singular, Class 4-3 intransitive.
- 658. -wadya to gather something. -iwadya(?) Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive.
- 659. -waka to dress. -uw/waka Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 660. -wane to go hunting. -uw/wane (future -uwane.) Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 661. -wasdá to be sour. -áwasdá Singular, unclassified intransitive. káwasdá it is sour.

- -wati man's male in-law. -awati Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive. 662.
- -wi child. -â·wi Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive. 663.
- -wî·ca claw, fingernail. -aºawi·ca Singular, Class 10-6 intransitive. 664.
- winu-I fast. Type B, singular, Class 10-6 intransitive. 665.
- -wi?ša to fall. -û·wi?ša Plural, Class 5-9 intransitive. 666.
- -wisi nose. -áwisi Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 667.
- -wî·teya to worship. -úw/wî·teya (future -úwî·deya) Singular Class 5-2 668. intransitive. -úw/wî·deya-pa Dual, Class 5-10 -úw/wî-deva-wa Plural, Class 5-9 intransitive.
- -vá to skin an animal. -úyá Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. -úyâ--na 669. Dual, Class 1-18 intransitive. -úyâ--ne Plural, Class 1-17 intransitive.
- -yá to be born. -íyá Singular, Class 14-4 intransitive. 670.
- -yaka to burn something. -áyaka Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive. 671.
- -yamastu to be hungry. -iyamastu Singular, Class 10-7 intransitive. 672.
- 673. -yanikuya to tell, command. -í/áyanikuya Class C1 transitive.
- yata—1 to be weak. Type B, singular, Class 10-6 intransitive. 674.
- 675. -yá·ti sharp. -íyá·ti Singular, Class 13 intransitive.
- 676. -yu hard. -áyu Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- -yu to go. -6°èyu Dual, Class 11-26 intransitive. 677.
- -yû·kamı to wait for. -í/áyû·kamı Class D6 transitive. 678.
- -yùtaya heavy. -áyùtaya (future -áyùtaya) Singular, Class 1-1 679.
- -ya. A to promise, to loan. -iya. A Singular, Class 4-5 intransitive. 680.
- -yaska to sweep. -áý/yaska Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 681.
- -yêina to find. -í/áyêina Class C7 transitive. 682.
- -Ÿêipa to look for. -í/áŸêipa Class C2 transitive. 683.
- -yeišíya to eat. -ú-yeišíya Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 684.
- -yucıd i ca to rest. -uyucıd i ca Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 685.
- -ỳû·mi arm. -áỳû·mi Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 686.
- 687. -yupi ear. -áyupi Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- -yuska tail. -áyuska Singular, Class 1 intransitive. 688.
- -vú-spi shoulder. -ávú-spi Singular, Class 1-1 intransitive. 689.
- 690. -yùta to sing. -úy/yùta Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 691. -za to say. -(á)za(?) Singular, Class 7-13 intransitive. -àza(?) Dual, Class 2-24 intransitive. -àzi?i-yA Plural, Class 2-23 intransitive.
- -za?anikuya to preach. -úza?anikuya (future -úza?aniguya) Singular, 692. Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 693. -záipæ shadow. -ázáipæ Singular, Class 1 intransitive.
- -zá-?Azi to swim. -åizá-?Azi(?) Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive. 694.
- -zé-su to dream. -áizé-su Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. 695.
- 696. -zi to lie down. -àizi(?) Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- 697. zù-u (zû·n-) to go. Type B, singular, Class 1-1 intransitive.
- 698. -zúwa to pay. -í·zúwa(·) Class C1 transitive. -åizúwa(·) Singular, Class 5-8 intransitive.
- -zá·čúwa to awake. -izá·čúwa Singular, Class 4-5 intransitive. 699.
- -za·ča to fall. -û·za·ča Singular, Class 1-3 intransitive. 700.
- 701. -zó husband. -á·zó Singular, Class 7-15 intransitive.
- -zòca to run. -izòca Singular, Class 4-5 intransitive. 702.

#### AFFIXES AND CLITICS

- 703. ?- Second person hortative. 114H
- 704. -a- Reflexive-reciprocal. 301
- 705. -á<sup>2</sup>a- Passive voice. 302A
- 706. -à- Passive voice. 302B
- 707. Plural subject. 502K
- 708. Yu Verbal auxiliary dual subject.
- 709. c- Third person indicative and negative. 121J 122J
- 710. c- Second person dubitative and future hortative. 113C 116C
- 711. ci- Second person dubitative and future hortative. 113B 116B
- 712. c- Third person indicative and negative. 121H 122H
- 713. ċ- Fourth person subject with third person object, indicative and negative.
  131B 132B
- 714. ci- Third person indicative and negative. 121I 122I
- 715. či- First person indicative. 101B
- 716. č- Third person dubitative. 123C
- 717. čá?- Third person dubitative. 123F
- 718. -čadyava Continuative action. 401G
- 719. č- Third person dubitative. 123D
- 720. ¿- Second person hortative. 114D
- 721. ču-Second person subject with first person object, indicative, negative, dubitative, and future hortative. 151B 152B 153B 156B
- 722. c- Second person dubitative and future hortative. 113A 116A
- 723. çá?- Second person dubitative and future hortative. 113D 116D
- 724. ¢a- First person subject with second person object, dubitative, and future hortative. 143B 146B
- 725. d- Third person dubitative. 123G
- 726. d- Second person hortative. 114F
- 727. -de Plural conditional. 601B
- 728. -di Locative-instrumental clitic.
- 729. di- Third person dubitative. 123B
- 730. di- Fourth person subject with third person object, dubitative. 133A
- 731. di- Second person hortative. 114G
- 732. di- Third person subject with second person object, hortative. 174B
- 733. -dika Locative-instrumental clitic.
- 734. -dimi Benefactive.
- 735. dy- Third person dubitative. 123A
- 736. dya- Third person dubitative. 123E
- 737. -dyanu Narrative past tense clitic.
- 738. -dyé·mí Pluralizing clitic.
- 739. -dyi Dual subject. 501C
- 740. dvid- Second person dubitative and future hortative. 113F 116F
- 741. dyídi- Second person dubitative and future hortative. 113G 116G
- 742. d'fidi- Third person subject with second person object, dubitative and future hortative. 173B 176B
- 743. dyu- Second person subject with first person object, indicative, negative, dubitative, and future hortative. 151A 152A 153A 156A
- 744. dyóz- Second person dubitative and future hortative. 113E 116E
- 745. d\*5z- Third person subject with second person object, dubitative and future hortative. 173A 176A
- 746. g- Third person indicative and negative. 121A 122A
- 747. ga- Third person indicative and negative. 121E 122E

- 748. gu- Second person subject with first person object, hortative and negative hortative. 154A 155A
- 749. gód- Second person indicative and negative. 111F 112F
- 750. gódi- Second person indicative and negative. 111G 112G
- gédi- Third person subject with second person object, indicative and negative. 171B 172B
- 752. gáz- Second person indicative and negative. 111E 112E
- 753. góz- Third person subject with second person object, indicative and negative. 171A 172A
- 754. k- Third person indicative and negative. 121C 122C
- 755. k- First person hortative and negative hortative. 104C 105E
- 756. ka- First person hortative and negative hortative. 104A 105C
- 757. ká?- Third person indicative and negative. 121F 122F
- 758. ká?- First person hortative and negative hortative. 104D 105F
- 759. -ku Continuative action. 401D
- 760. -kuya Continuative action. 401A
- 761. k- Third person indicative and negative. 121D 122D
- 762. ka- First person hortative and negative hortative. 104B 105D
- 763. ku- Second person subject with first person object, hortative and negative hortative. 154B 155B
- 764. -ma Remote state. 403
- 765. -mE Plural subject. 502E
- 766. -mi Benefactive.
- 767. -mí Direction toward.
- 768. -məti Dual subject. 501E
- 769. -ma Verbal auxiliary suffix.
- 770. -masa Plural subject. 502F
- 771. -masuti Dual subject. 501F
- 772. mé.- Augmentative.
- 773. -mE Plural subject. 502D
- 774. -me Suffixed to place names to indicate inhabitants of that place.
- 775. -mi Benefactive.
- 776. -ma Dual subject. 501D
- 777. n- First person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 104G 105G 106C
- 778. n- Future tense. 201A
- 779. -námí Direction toward.
- 780. -nani Nominalizer.
- 781. -ne Conditional, 601A
- 782. -ne Plural subject. 502B
- 783. -ne Unfulfilled action. 402B
- 784. ni- First person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 104E 105A 106A
- 785, ni- Future tense, 201B
- 786. -ni Benefactive.
- 787. -ni Nominalizer.
- 788. -ni Direction from.
- 789. ní?- First person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 104I 105I 106E
- 790. ní?- Future tense. 201E
- 791. -nikuva Continuative action. 401B
- 792. -nu- Conditional, 602

- 793. néd- First person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative.  $104 \rm K 105 \rm K 106 \rm G$
- 794. néd- Future tense. 201G
- 795. nédi- First person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 104L 105L 106H
- 796. nédi Third person subject with first person object, hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 164B 165B 166B
- 797. -neti Dual subject. 501B
- 798. néz- First person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 104J 105J 106F
- 799. néz- Third person subject with first person object, hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 164A 165A 166A
- 800. náz- Future tense. 201F
- 802. n- Future tense. 201C
- 803. -ne Plural subject. 502A
- 804. -ne Unfulfilled action. 402A
- 805. -ne Verbal auxiliary conditional.
- 806.  $\dot{\text{ni}}$  First person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 104F 105B 106B
- 807. ni- Future tense. 201D
- 808. -ni Nominalizer.
- 809. -na Dual subject. 501A
- 810. p- Third person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 124C 125C 126C
- 811. p- Second person hortative. 114A
- 812. pa- Third person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative.  $124E \quad 125E \quad 126E$
- 813. pá?- Third person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative.
- 814. pi- Third person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative.  $124A \quad 125A \quad 126A$
- 815. pi- Second person hortative. 114B
- 816. pi?- Third person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative.

  124G 125G 126G
- 817. -pa Dual subject. 501H
- 818.  $\dot{p}$  Third person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 124D 125D 126D
- 819. pi- Third person hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative.

  124B 125B 126B
- 820. pi- Fourth person subject with third person object, hortative, negative hortative, and future hortative. 134 135 136
- 821. ré- Diminutive.
- 822. s- First person indicative. 101C
- 823. -sa Verbal auxiliary plural subject.
- 824. -se Plural subject. 502M
- 825. si- First person indicative. 101A
- 826. -si Locative-instrumental clitic.
- 827. sí?- First person indicative. 101F
- 828. -sa Continuative action. 401F
- 829. séd- First person indicative. 101H
- 830. sáz- First person indicative. 101G

- 831. sč- Indefinite subject. 181C
- 832. sč- First person negative. 102J
- 833. sč- Second person negative hortative. 115J
- 834. sč- Indefinite subject. 181D
- 835. sc- First person negative. 102H
- 836. sč- Second person negative hortative. 115H
- 837. st- Third person subject with first person object, negative. 162B
- 838. sc. Third person subject with second person object, negative hortative.
  175B
- 839. sči- First person negative. 102I
- 840. sči- Second person negative hortative. 115I
- 841. sdy- First person negative. 102G
- 842. sdy- Second person negative hortative. 115G
- 843. sdy- Third person subject with first person object, negative. 162A
- 844. sdy- Third person subject with second person object, negative hortative.

  175A
- 845. sdyi- First person negative. 102B
- 846. sdyi- Second person negative hortative. 115B
- 847. sg- First person negative. 102A
- 848. sg- First person indicative. 101I
- 849. sg- Second person negative hortative. 115A
- 850. sg- Indefinite subject. 181A
- 851. sg- Third person subject with first person object, indicative. 161A
- 852. sga- First person negative. 102E
- 853. sga- Second person negative hortative. 115E
- 854. sk- First person negative. 102C
- 855. sk- Second person negative hortative. 115C
- 856. ská?- First person negative. 102F
- 857. ská?- Second person negative hortative. 115F
- 858. sk- Indefinite subject. 181B
- 859. sk- First person negative. 102D
- 860. sk- Second person negative hortative. 115D
- 861. sku- First person indicative. 101J
- 862. sku- Third person subject with first person object, indicative. 161B
- 863. st- First person hortative and negative hortative. 1040 1050
- 864. stí?- First person hortative and negative hortative. 104P 105F
- 865. sti- First person hortative and negative hortative. 104Q 105Q
- 866. s- First person indicative. 101D
- 867. si- First person indicative. 101E
- 868. š- Second person indicative and negative. 111C 112C
- 869. š- First person hortative and negative hortative. 104M 105N
- 870. -šé Nominalizing clitic.
- 871. -še Plural subject. 502I
- 872. -ši Locative-instrumental clitic.
- 873. -šī Plural subject. 502J
- 874. ši- Second person indicative and negative. 111B 112B
- 875. Š- First person hortative and negative hortative. 104N 105N
- 876. s- Second person indicative and negative. 111A 112A
- 877. şa- First person subject with second person object, indicative, negative, hortative, and negative hortative. 141A 142A 144A 145A
- 878. -sanu Narrative past tense clitic.
- 879. -suti Dual subject. 501G
- 880. s- Second person indicative and negative. 111D 112I

- 882. t- First person dubitative. 103C
- 883. t- Third person dubitative. 123J
- 884. -ta Continuative action. 401E
- 885. -ta Plural subject. 502C
- 886. tá?- First person dubitative. 103D
- 887. -tá-ni Nominalizer.
- 888. -te Plural negative. 603
- 889. ti- First person dubitative. 103A
- 890. tí?- First person dubitative. 103H
- 891. -tikuya Continuative action. 401C
- 892. téd- First person dubitative. 103F
- 893. tédi- First person dubitative. 103G
- 894. tódi- Third person subject with first person object, dubitative. 163B
- 895. táz- First person dubitative. 105E
- 896. táz- Third person subject with first person object, dubitative. 163A
- 897. t- Third person dubitative. 123H
- 898. t- Fourth person subject with third person object, dubitative. 133B
- 899. t- Second person hortative. 114C
- 900. ti- First person dubitative. 103B
- 901. ti- Third person dubitative. 123I
- 902. -wa Numeral suffix.
- 903. -wa Plural subject. 5020
- 904. -we Plural subject. 502H
- 905. -we Unfulfilled action. 402C
- 906. -wi Benefactive.
- 907. -wi Nominalizer.
- 908. -ya Numeral suffix.
- 909. -ya Plural subject. 502L

#### LOANWORDS

- 910. ?amá·pu pillow. Spanish almohada.
- 911. Parabigú apricot. Sp. albaricoque.
- 912. ?ará·ru plow. Sp. arado.
- 913. Parû·sa rice. Sp. arroz.
- 914. ?ayuná. lent, fast. Sp. ayunar.
- 915. ?isbá·ri sword. Sp. espada.
- 916. Pisdû-pa stove. Sp. estufa.
- 917. Bagê·ta leather. Sp. vaqueta.
- 918. Bandé. basin, tin cup. Sp. bandeja.
- 919. ва́·ra bullet. Sp. bala.
- 920. Bâ·sa drinking glass. Sp. vaso.
- 921. Bendá·na window. Sp. ventana.
- 922. Bidabé. beets. Sp. betabel.
- 923. Bú·Gi buggy.
- 924. Búiyası oxen. Sp. buey.
- 925. ba. bread. Sp. pan.
- 926. bá·ni cloth. Sp. paño.

- 927. bá·sku feast, holy day. Sp. pascua.
- 928. bá-su straw. Sp. paja.
- 929. bèla pear. Sp. pera.
- 930. bicû-tı pig. Nahuatl pitzotl.
- 931. bisâ·ri blanket, rug. Sp. pisar.
- 932. bisgá·ri church officer. Sp. fiscal.
- 933. blâ·sa city. Sp. plaza.
- 934. dáb $\hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{p}\mathbf{u}$  governor. Zuni  $ta \cdot pu \cdot pu$ .
- 935. dá·sa cup. Sp. taza.
- 936. dasašú·na taxes. Sp. tasación.
- 937. dúdáči priest. Nahuatl totatzin.
- 938. dumî·ku Sunday. Sp. domingo.
- 939. dunabí. automobile. Sp. automóvil.
- 940. dyé.nda store. Sp. tienda.
- 941. Gayê-ta biscuit. Sp. galleta.
- 942. gagawâ·tı peanut. Sp. cacahuate.
- 943. gahé-ra drummer. Sp. cajero (?).
- 944. gahú na box. Sp. cajón.
- 945. gamâ·tu bed. Sp. cama (?).
- 946. ganâ-sti basket, nest. Sp. canasta.
- 947. gané·ru sheep. Sp. carnero.
- 948. gapé. coffee. Sp. café.
- 949. gasî·kı high priest, king. Sp. cacique.
- 950. gá·silu jail. Sp. cárcel.
- 951. gá·ṣu box. Sp. caja.
- 952. gawâ-yu horse. Sp. caballo.
- 953. gawiyâ·ra herd of horses. Sp. caballada.
- 954. gayawarî sa barn. Sp. caballeriza.
- 955. gubê-nta church. Sp. convento.
- 956. gú·li cabbage. Sp. col.
- 957. gumunirá jail. Sp. comandancia.
- 958. gunžú· mattress. Sp. colchon.
- 959. gurá· corral. Sp. corral.
- 960. guyá·ri yoke, horse collar. Sp. collera.
- 961. habú soap. Sp. jabón.
- 962. higâ-nti giant. Sp. gigante.
- 963. hua John. Sp. Juan.
- 964. húibisi Thursday. Sp. jueves.
- 965. hú·runa outdoor oven. Sp. horno.
- 966. kasdí·ra Mexican, Spanish-American. Sp. Castilla.
- 967. kisá· stew. Sp. guisado.
- 968. lé-ba, ré-ba coat. Sp. leva.
- 969. lelû-sa watch, clock. Sp. reloj.
- 970. má-disi Tuesday. Sp. martes.
- 971. madí-ya hammer. Sp. martillo.
- 972. mé·guriši Wednesday. Sp. miércoles.
- 973. merigá·na Anglo-American. Sp. americano.
- 974. merû·ni melon. Sp. melón.
- 975. mé·sa table. Sp. mesa.
- 976. mê-stru teacher. Sp. maestro.
- 977. mísakái church. Sp. misa plus native -kái.
- 978. mú·la mule. Sp. mulo.
- 979. murâ·tu Negro. Sp. mulato.

980. mú·sa cat. Sp. moza.

981. пава·hu pocket knife. Sp. navaja.

982. narán orange. Sp. naranja.

983. nurâ·sı peach. Sp. durazno.

984. nužuwé·nu Christmas. Sp. Nochebuena.

985. regesú. cream. Sp. requesón.

986. resá· prayer. Sp. rezar.

987. reyâ·tu rawhide rope. Sp. reata.

988. rígusi rich. Sp. rico.

989. rû·ku crazy. Sp. loco.

990. rú·niši Monday. Sp. lunes.

991. rusá·yu beads. Sp. rosario.

992. sagisdá-na sacristan. Sp. sacristán.

993. sandí-ya watermelon. Sp. sandía.

994. sandiyâ·ku St. James. Sp. Santiago.

995. sá·waru Saturday. Sp. sábado.

996. semî tu bread. Sp. semita.

997. serê-su cherry. Sp. cereza.

998. siBiyú. bird. Sp. silbar.

999. sirawé plum. Sp. ciruela.

1,000. siyê·ta chair. Sp. silleta. 1,001. sundá·ru soldier. Sp. soldado.

1,002. wá·gaši cow. Sp. vaca.

1,003. wanišú harness. Sp. guarniciones.

1,004. wará something saved. Sp. guardar.

1,005. yé-nası Friday. Sp. viernes.

1,006. ží·ri chili. Sp. chile.

1,007. žiriyú whip. Sp. chirrión.

### INDEX TO VOCABULARY

able 36 above 115 abruptly 138 adobe 81 afraid 501 again 302, 423 alkali 266 all 298 all right 186, 192 almost 237 alone 274 already 21, 359 also 84 and 18, 126 Anglo-American 973 angry 450 animal 198, 236

ant 303

abalone 380

antelope 221 to approach 655 apricot 911 arm 686 around 362 to arrive 454, 495 arrow 30 arrowhead 195 ashes 265 to ask 438, 478 assistance 45 to attack 642 aunt 560 automobile 939 autumn 341 to awake 433, 699 away 397 awl 181 ax 42

baby 51 back 212, 297, 302, 624 bad 253 badger 116 bag 284 ball 251 banana 206 bark 24 barn 954 basin 918 basket 50, 134, 946 bat 87 to be 425, 517 beads 991 beans 121 bear 130 beard 159, 540 beaver 128 bee 62 bed 945 bedbug 285 beets 922 behind 212 to belch 465 to believe 508 bell 48 big 259 bighorn sheep 329 bird 998 biscuit 941 bison 244 to bite 515 bitter 75 blackbird 330 blanket 931 blood 250 to blossom 506

to bloss of to bloss of to blow 578 blue 649 bluebird 351 bluejay 360 bobcat 104 body 92, 350, 568 to boil 480 boll 345 bone 170 to be born 670 both 31 bow 377 bowl 11, 52, 382 bowl-shaped 592

box 417, 944, 951

boy 249

brains 405 bread 925, 996 to break 452 breath 69 to breathe 448 breezy 606 brick 81 bridge 422 to bring 518 broken 451, 510 brother 118, 500 brown 594 buckskin 288 buffalo 244 bug 285, 323 buggy 923 to build 473 bullet 919 bullsnake 333 to burn 671 but 22 butterfly 65 to buy 556 buzzard 256

cabbage 956 cactus 23 to call 437, 619 can 36 939 car cat 980 to catch 487 cedar 227 centipede 25 chair 8, 1000 cherry 997 chest 646 to chew 453 chicken 311 chicken pox 340 child 663 chili 1006 to chop 519 Christmas 984 church 955, 977 church officer 932 cigarette 387 city 171, 608, 933 claw 179, 664 clay 260 clean 214 to climb 626 clock 969

to close 469, 611 closed 427 cloth 926 cloud 187 cloudy 550 club 424 coals 152 coat 968 cob 413 coffee 948 cold 605 to command 673 to cook 557 cool 443 corn 215, 317, 339, 402, 403 corncob 413 corner 349 cornhusk 98 cornmeal 287 corn silk 389 corpse 92, 350 corral 959 correct 342 to cost 494 cotton 207, 345, 390 cottonwood 201, 390 cougar 248 to cough 590 covered 483 cow 1002 coyote 363 cracked 575 crazy 989 cream 985 crippled 409 crooked 621 cross 357 crow 319 crucifix 357 to cry 627 cup 918, 935 to cut 459

to dance 463 dark 573 daughter 534 day 299 deer 108 dented 539 to descend 488 desert 416 to die 609 difficult 581

dipper 254 to do 474, 520 dog 99 doll 51 domestic animal 198 doorway 200 dove 204 down 282, 379 to draw water 582 to dream 695 dress 370 to dress 659 drill 55 to drink 597 to drool 595 drum 54 drummer 943 dry 571 duck 383 dust 373, 530 to dwell 430, 543

eagle 105 ear 687 early 109 earring 43 earth 122, 142 east 135 eastward 135 to eat 574, 684 egg 281 eight 131 elk 120 to emerge 548 enough 186 to enter 579 everybody 139 evil 253 eve 209, 549 evelash 583

face 644 fall 341 to fall 461, 666, 700 fancy 289 far 365 fast 318, 665, 914 to fast 491 fat 35, 295 father 564 feast 927 feather 141 to feed 484

female 231 fence 637 to fetch 485 few 143 field 415 to fight 490 to find 682 fine 289 finger 162, 547 fingernail 179, 664 fir 150 fire 152 fireplace 368 firewood 129 first 71 fish 334 five 364 flag 290 flat 577 flesh 33, 305 flour 28, 332 flower 506 fly 74 fog 189 food 39, 269 foot 169, 591 for 127 forehead 576 to forget 499 four 106 fox 73 fresh 443 Friday 1005 friend 525 frightened 442 frog 328

from 97, 399

full 511, 631

game 236

to gather 658
to get 439, 485
giant 331, 962
girl 238
to give 429, 482, 607, 636
glass 920
to go 516, 531, 562, 677, 697
good 10, 292
goose 294, 348
gourd 110
governor 934
grandchild 541
grandfather 541

grandparent 58, 432, 479 grass 14 grasshopper 316 green 649 grinding box 417 grinding stone 17 to guard 643 guilty 456 gun 46

hail 161 hair 183 hammer 971 hand 162, 547 handkerchief 44 to hang 486 to happen 475 happy 650 hard 581, 598, 676 harness 1003 to have 426, 466, 489 hawk 89 head 555 to heal 514 healthy 565 to hear 509 heart 384 heat 228 heavy 679 help 45 to help 535 helpful 493 hen 311 here 95, 178 hide 291 to hide 596 to hit 523 holy day 927 honey 80, 321 horn 472 horned toad 90 horse 952 horse collar 960 horse herd 953 hospitable 615 hot 56, 468 house 4, 476, 543 how 133, 143 hummingbird 261 hungry 672

to hunt 660

husband 701

husk 98

I 191 and affix list ice 163 immediately 180 in-law 662 intestines 407 iron 79 itself 273

jackrabbit 107, 286 jail 950, 957 John 963 jug 312 juice 77

key 16 to kick 584 kidney 529 to kill 538, 622, 654 king 949 knee 614 knife 194, 981 to knock 604 to know 496, 561, 629

lamp 9 land 142 lard 35 large 259 last 313 last night 233 lazy 502 leaf 241 to learn 498 leather 288, 917 to leave 548 leg 156, 532, 569 legend 398 legging 38 lent 914 to lie down 512, 696 life 37 light 242 to light 435, 552 lightning 66, 219 like 257 to listen to 647 little 296 liver 27 lizard 327 to loan 680 locust 78 log 68

long ago 160

long time 239 to look 503, 513, 566 to look for 683 to loosen 648 lopsided 63 louse 347 lunch 269 lung 283

man 145 manure 29 many 280 to marry 640 mat 3 match 53 mattress 3, 958 maybe 223 meadowlark 314 mean 558 meat 33, 305 medicine 374 medicine man melon 974 mesquite 391 metal 300 metate 17 Mexican 966 middle 309 middle-aged 270 milk 210 mist 189 moccasin 172 mockingbird 337 moon 93 Monday 990 money 300 month 93 morning 125 mosquito 322 moss 230 moth 262 mother 560 mountain 234 mountain lion mouse 306 mouth 522 to move 653 mud 258 mushroom 325

nail 7 naked 164 name 612

to name 619 navel 146 near 138 neck 645, 652 to need 457 needle 40 Negro 979 nephew 559 nest 553, 946 new 268 night 276 nine 243 no 414 north 114 nose 386, 667 not 419 now 197

oak 140 odor 444 O.K. 192 old 418 once 151 one 32 oneself 277 onion 184 only 273 to open 634 orange 982 others 263 oven 965 oxen 924

to paint 602

palm 546

pants 13 paralyzed 409 parrot 344 to pay 698 peach 983 peanut 942 pear 929 peas 335 to peer 566 people, person 166 to pick 545 pig 930 pillow 910 pine 112, 165 piñon 111, 112 place 94

to place 505

plains 416

plant 216 to plant 481 plate 338 plaza 224 plow 912 plum 999 pollen 173 popcorn 317 porcupine 34 to possess 426, 466, 489 pot 5, 132 pottery 369 prairie dog 279 prayer 986 to preach 692 priest 937, 949 to promise 680 to pull 563 pumpkin 91 pure 214 purple 61 to push 603 to put 446, 630

quail 123 quickly 180

rabbit 107, 286, 293 rabbit club 424 to rain 460 rainbow 229 rat 326 rattle 110 raw 356 ready 154 to rebuke 554 red 521 to remember 497 to remove 625 to rest 685 return 297, 302 ribs 64 rice 913 rich 988 right hand 358 river 86 road 199, 200 roadrunner 343 robin 385 rock 404 375 root rope 47, 987 round 599, 601

rubber 278 rug 931 to run 702

sacristan 992 saddle 41 St. James 994 saliva 203 salt 264 sand 388, 406 satisfied 511 Saturday 995 saved 1004 to say 449, 567, 691 scattered 353 to scold 651 seat 8, 553 to see 513 seed 124, 202 to sell 505 to send 505 separate 275 seven 252 to sew 445 shadow 693 to shake 653 shaman 88 sharp 675 sheep 329, 947 shell 324, 380 shirt 370 shoe 172 shoulder 412, 689 to shut 611 sick 641 side 82 similar 257 to sing 690 sister 527 sister-in-law 441 to sit 504 six 320

skin 291 to skin 669 sky 208 to sleep 431, 434 slightly 232 to slobber 595 slow 354 small 232, 296 smoke 371, 530 to smoke 477

smooth 440

snake 361 snare 372 to sneeze 428 snow 174 soap 961 soapweed 149, 245 soldier 1001 somebody 137 something 421 somewhere 147 son 542 song 411 sour 661 south 217 southward 217 spearhead 195 spherical 599

Spanish-American 966 spider 226 to spill 639 to spit 618 spread out 577 springtime 367 square 224, 617 squash 91 to squeal 588 squirrel 304 to stab 492 staff 401 stalk 175 to stand 462, 635 star 346 to steal 470 to step 610, 633 stew 76, 967 stick 408 stinkbug 323 to stir 638

stocking 102 stomach 551 stone 404 to stop 554 store 940 storm 395 story 398 stove 916 straight 342 straw 928 string 528 to string beads 587 to suck 593 suddenly 138

summer 213

sun 49 Sunday 938 sunflower 193 sure 301 to swallow 589 to sweep 681 sweet 220 to swim 694 sword 915

table 975 tail 688 take it 178 to talk to 628 talkative 420 tasty 10 taxes 936 to teach 585 teacher 976 to tell 436, 673 ten 222 to test 632 tether 6 thank you 272, 378 that 185, 376 that way 101, 153, 396 then 20 there 2, 12, 96, 176, 182, 392, 393 therefore 20, 127 thigh 156, 532 to think 455 thirsty 570

this 100 this way 103, 177, 400 three 85 thunder 536 Thursday 964 thus 366 tied 572 tilted 63 tired 471 toad 60 tobacco 157 today 197 toe 158, 537 tomorrow 83 tongue 381, 657 too 84 tooth 144, 467 torn 620 torso 64 tortilla 240

to touch 580

towel 44
town 171, 608
tree 201
trousers 13
true 533
to try 632
Tuesday 970
turkey 72
turn 656
to turn around 600
turquoise 352
turtle 188
twice 119
twilight 315
two 117

uncle 559, 564 under 271 to untie 648 up 113

very 246 vine 26 vulture 256

wagon 336 waist 544 to wait for 678 to walk 562 wall 70 to want 457 watch 969 to watch 643 water 77 watermelon 993 we 191 and affix list weak 674 Wednesday 972 well 292, 458 west 67 westward 67 wet 616 what 148, 421 wheat 15 when 155 where 136, 147 which 148 whip 1007 to whistle 586 white 613 whitewash 59 who 137

wife 526

wildcat 104
willow 211
winding 447
window 921
windstorm 395
winter 218
to wipe 524
with 190
wolf 225
woman 231, 235
wood 129
woodpecker 310
wool 205
word 255

to work 623 world 122 worm 394 to worry 455 to worship 668 to write 630 wrongdoing 308

to yawn 507
year 213
yellow 464
yesterday 307
yet 267
yoke 960
yonder 392
you 196 and affix list
yucca 168
yucca fruit 206

zigzag 447

## LITERATURE CITED

GREENBERG, JOSEPH H.

1957. Essays in linguistics. Wenner-Gren Foundation for Anthropological Research. Viking Fund Publ. Anthrop. No. 24.

MILLER, WICK R.

1959 a. Some notes on Acoma kinship terminology. Southwestern Journ. Anthrop., vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 179–184.

1959 b. Spanish loanwords in Acoma: I. Intern. Journ. Amer. Linguistics, vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 147-153.

1960. Spanish loanwords in Acoma: II. Intern. Journ. Amer. Linguistics, vol. 26, No. 1, pp. 41-49.